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Building Supply Antitrust Suit Survives Dismissal
Phase
By Bryan Koenig

Law360 (February 9, 2018, 8:38 PM EST) -- Building-supply company Armstrong World Industries
Inc. will have to face an antitrust suit after a Delaware federal judge refused Friday to dismiss most
of the suit's claims that Armstrong established exclusive agreements with ceiling tile distributors
that locked out competitors.
U.S. District Judge Mark A. Kearney only dismissed Roxul USA Inc.’s antitrust claims insofar as they
tried to invoke foreign trade in Canada, and also tossed claims of tortious interference with business
relationships, which were found lacking under Delaware law. The rest of the antitrust allegations
survive, Judge Kearney said, because Roxul has adequately claimed attempted and actual
monopolization as well as restraint of trade.
“Roxul plausibly pleads monopoly power,” Judge Kearney said. “Roxul alleges Armstrong holds a
market share ‘in excess of 55%.’ Although an allegation of 55% alone may not be sufficient to allege
monopoly power, Roxul alleges a high barrier of entry into the market and Armstrong’s history of
controlling prices despite an overall decrease in sales volume in the market.”
The judge went on to note that just three companies are vying for the remaining share of the
market for suspended acoustic ceiling tiles, including Roxul. Armstrong, according to the ruling, has
increased its prices since 2011 even though overall sales volume in the market has gone down, and
the it “now charges 5% over competitive market prices.”
Judge Kearney cited Roxul as contending that only a handful of distributors can service companies
of its size, and consolidation among distributors expanded the reach of Armstrong’s exclusivity
agreements, which Roxul contends bar competitors from entering the market and staying viable.
Those exclusivity agreements, according to the ruling, bar distributors — on whom manufacturers
rely — from selling the ceiling tiles either regionally or nationally, depending on the deal.
“Roxul also alleges Armstrong retaliates against distributors who violate the exclusivity provision by
charging the distributors higher prices for its products, enforcing liquidated damages clauses, and
choosing to stop supplying Armstrong ceiling tiles to the distributor,” Judge Kearney said.
“Armstrong’s exclusivity with distributors coupled with fear of retaliation for selling Roxul products
forced distributors to stop carrying Roxul products. Roxul sufficiently alleges Armstrong’s exclusivity
agreements and its retaliatory conduct foreclosed competition in the ceiling tile market.”
Nor was the judge persuaded by Armstrong’s contentions that Roxul could reach consumers by
different means, namely “direct buy contractors” and major home improvement retailers. Judge
Kearney cites Roxul’s argument that "very few" direct-buy contracts have the financial resources or
expertise that distributors offer, and big-box retailers purportedly don’t have the selection or
supplemental services needed to supply most commercial projects, which represent the lion’s share
of the ceiling tile industry.
At this stage, Roxul’s allegations are good enough, Judge Kearney said, leaving Armstrong to make
its “factual defense” about alternative means of distribution in summary judgment or at trial.

The judge came to the same conclusion about arguments by Armstrong that its exclusivity
agreements carry “pro-competitive effects” because they purportedly “encourage distributors to
more aggressively market Armstrong products.”
“Weighing pro-competitive and anti-competitive effects is best reserved for summary judgment or
trial after the benefit of discovery,” he said.
Judge Kearney tossed the foreign trade aspect of the suit based on the unmet need to show direct
impacts of foreign trade on U.S. markets.
“Roxul fails to allege how foreclosure from the Canadian market because of Armstrong’s exclusivity
contracts directly, substantially, and foreseeably affects United States commerce,” he said.
“Foreclosure from the Canadian market certainly impacts Canadian commerce and consumers by
limiting their choice and reducing competition in Canada, but Roxul fails to allege how reduced
competition in Canada directly affects domestic commerce.”
Roxul’s tortious interference allegations fail, according to the ruling, because it didn’t actually allege
a “contractual relationship” with a distributor and it doesn’t claim that Armstrong interfered with
such an agreement.
The company also failed to state a claim for interference with prospective business relationships,
Judge Kearney said.
“It is unclear from Roxul’s allegations if distributors sought to sell Roxul ceiling tile products and
Armstrong prevented these sales. Roxul cites its allegation upon information and belief ‘Building
Products Distributors would prefer to carry multiple Ceiling Tile brands,’” he said. “But Roxul does not
allege facts supporting an inference of a single distributor prepared to enter into a business
relationship with Roxul. These types of macro allegations suffice for our Sherman and Clayton Act
analysis, but not under the elements of tortious interference under Delaware law.”
Press inquiries to the parties were not immediately successful Friday.
Armstrong World is represented by Daniel G. Swanson, Cynthia E. Richman and Caeli A. Higney of
Gibson Dunn & Crutcher LLP, and Kevin J. Mangan of Womble Bond Dickinson LLP.
Roxul is represented by Christopher S. Finnerty, Jeffrey S. Patterson, Michael R. Murphy, Morgan T.
Nickerson and Jack S. Brodsky of K&L Gates LLP, and Joseph J. Farnan Jr., Brian E. Farnan and
Michael J. Farnan of Farnan LLP.
The case is Roxul USA Inc. v. Armstrong World Industries Inc., case number 1:17-cv-01258, in the
U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware.
--Editing by Adam LoBelia.
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1:17-cv-01258-MAK Roxul USA, Inc. v. Armstrong World Industries Inc.
Mark A. Kearney, presiding
Date filed: 09/01/2017
Date of last filing: 06/25/2018

History
Doc.
No.

Dates
Filed:
Entered:

Description
09/01/2017 Summons Issued
09/05/2017

Docket Text: Summons Issued with Magistrate Consent Notice attached as to Armstrong World Industries Inc. on
9/5/2017. Requesting party or attorney should pick up issued summons at the Help Desk, Room 4209, or call 302573-6170 and ask the Clerk to mail the summons to them. (lmm)
1

Filed:
Entered:

09/01/2017 Complaint
09/05/2017

Docket Text: COMPLAINT filed with Jury Demand against Armstrong World Industries Inc. - Magistrate
Consent Notice to Pltf. ( Filing fee $ 400, receipt number 0311-2216301.) - filed by Roxul USA, Inc..
(Attachments: # (1) Civil Cover Sheet)(lmm)
2

Filed:
Entered:

09/01/2017 Magistrate Consent Forms
09/05/2017

Docket Text: Notice, Consent and Referral forms re: U.S. Magistrate Judge jurisdiction. (lmm)
3

Filed & Entered:

09/05/2017 Summons Returned Executed

Docket Text: SUMMONS Returned Executed by Roxul USA, Inc.. Armstrong World Industries Inc. served on
9/5/2017, answer due 9/26/2017. (Farnan, Michael)
Filed & Entered:

09/06/2017 Case Assigned/Reassigned

Docket Text: Case Assigned to Vacant Judgeship (2017). Please include initials of VAC after the case number on
all documents filed. (rjb)
Filed & Entered:

09/06/2017 Case Referred to Magistrate Judge

Docket Text: CASE REFERRED to Magistrate Judge Christopher J. Burke. (This matter has been assigned to the
Vacant Judgeship and referred to a Magistrate Judge for handling through case-dispositive motions. The Magistrate
Judge has full authority permitted by law to manage this matter, including entering schedules through trial, deciding
non-dispositive matters and making recommendations as to the resolution of dispositive matters. Litigants and
counsel are reminded that they have the option of consenting to the Magistrate Judge to handle the case in full,
including trial, or consenting to having a particular motion resolved by the Magistrate Judge.) (rjb)
Filed & Entered:

09/06/2017 Remark re Newer Attorneys

Docket Text: REMARK: The parties should be aware that the Court encourages the participation of newer
attorneys in courtroom proceedings and at oral argument. Please see the Court's Standing Order Regarding
Courtroom Opportunities for Newer Attorneys, a link to which is provided here for the parties'
convenience:http://www.ded.uscourts.gov/sites/default/files/forms/StandingOrder2017.pdf (dlb)
Filed & Entered:

09/06/2017 Remark

Docket Text: REMARK: If the parties jointly consent to have a Magistrate Judge conduct all proceedings in this

case, including trial, then when Judge Burke enters a case schedule he will enter the respective pre-trial conference
and trial dates onto his calendar and will honor them. Otherwise, in accordance with the District Court's procedures
for "Assignment of Cases to Visiting Judges" (issued on May 26, 2017 and available on the District Court's
website), then upon the filing of a case-dispositive motion (e.g., a motion to dismiss, a motion for judgment on the
pleadings, a motion for summary judgment, or initiation of the claim construction process in a patent case), VAC
cases will be considered ready for reassignment to a visiting District Judge. Whether the pre-trial conference and
trial dates will stand after reassignment will depend on the availability of those dates on the visiting District Judge's
calendar. (dlb)
4

Filed & Entered:
Terminated:

09/20/2017 Motion for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice
09/25/2017

Docket Text: MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Christopher S. Finnerty, Jeffrey S. Patterson,
Michael R. Murphy, Morgan T. Nickerson, and Jack S. Brodsky - filed by Roxul USA, Inc.. Motions referred to
Christopher J. Burke.(Farnan, Michael)
Filed & Entered:

09/22/2017 SO ORDERED

Docket Text: SO ORDERED D.I. [5] STIPULATION TO EXTEND TIME to Answer Complaint and Related
Briefing Deadlines to November 10, 2017 filed by Armstrong World Industries Inc. Ordered by Judge Christopher
J. Burke on 9/22/2017. (dlb)
5

Filed & Entered:
Terminated:

09/22/2017 Stipulation to EXTEND Time
09/22/2017

Docket Text: STIPULATION TO EXTEND TIME to Answer Complaint and Related Briefing Deadlines to
November 10, 2017 - filed by Armstrong World Industries Inc.. (Mangan, Kevin)
Filed & Entered:

09/25/2017 SO ORDERED

Docket Text: SO ORDERED D.I. [4] MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Christopher S.
Finnerty, Jeffrey S. Patterson, Michael R. Murphy, Morgan T. Nickerson, and Jack S. Brodsky filed by Roxul
USA, Inc.. Ordered by Judge Christopher J. Burke on 9/25/2017. (dlb)
6

Filed & Entered:
Terminated:

09/25/2017 Motion for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice
09/28/2017

Docket Text: MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Daniel G. Swanson - filed by Armstrong
World Industries Inc.. (Attachments: # (1) Certification)Motions referred to Christopher J. Burke.(Mangan, Kevin)
7

Filed & Entered:
Terminated:

09/25/2017 Motion for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice
09/28/2017

Docket Text: MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Cynthia E. Richman - filed by Armstrong
World Industries Inc.. (Attachments: # (1) Certification)Motions referred to Christopher J. Burke.(Mangan, Kevin)
8

Filed & Entered:
Terminated:

09/25/2017 Motion for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice
09/28/2017

Docket Text: MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Caeli A. Higney - filed by Armstrong World
Industries Inc.. (Attachments: # (1) Certification)Motions referred to Christopher J. Burke.(Mangan, Kevin)
Filed & Entered:

09/28/2017 SO ORDERED

Docket Text: SO ORDERED, re [6] MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Daniel G. Swanson
filed by Armstrong World Industries Inc., [7] MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Cynthia E.
Richman filed by Armstrong World Industries Inc., [8] MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Caeli
A. Higney filed by Armstrong World Industries Inc.. Ordered by Judge Christopher J. Burke on 9/28/2017. (dlb)
Filed & Entered:

10/03/2017 Add Attorneys Pro Hac Vice

Docket Text: Pro Hac Vice Attorney Daniel G. Swanson for Armstrong World Industries Inc. added for electronic
noticing. Pursuant to Local Rule 83.5 (d)., Delaware counsel shall be the registered users of CM/ECF and shall be
required to file all papers. (crb)
Filed & Entered:

10/04/2017 Add Attorneys Pro Hac Vice

Docket Text: Pro Hac Vice Attorney Caeli A. Higney for Armstrong World Industries Inc. added for electronic
noticing. Pursuant to Local Rule 83.5 (d)., Delaware counsel shall be the registered users of CM/ECF and shall be
required to file all papers. (crb)
Filed & Entered:

10/04/2017 Add Attorneys Pro Hac Vice

Docket Text: Pro Hac Vice Attorney Christopher S. Finnerty,Morgan T. Nickerson,Jeffrey S. Patterson,Michael
R. Murphy,Jack S. Brodsky for Roxul USA, Inc. added for electronic noticing. Pursuant to Local Rule 83.5 (d).,
Delaware counsel shall be the registered users of CM/ECF and shall be required to file all papers. (crb)
Filed & Entered:

10/11/2017 Add Attorneys Pro Hac Vice

Docket Text: Pro Hac Vice Attorney Cynthia Richman for Armstrong World Industries Inc. added for electronic
noticing. Pursuant to Local Rule 83.5 (d)., Delaware counsel shall be the registered users of CM/ECF and shall be
required to file all papers. (ceg)
9

Filed & Entered:
Terminated:

11/10/2017 Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim
02/09/2018

Docket Text: MOTION to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) - filed by Armstrong
World Industries Inc.. (Attachments: # (1) Proposed Form of Order, # (2) Certificate of Service)Motions referred
to Christopher J. Burke.(Mangan, Kevin)
10 Filed & Entered:

11/10/2017 Opening Brief in Support

Docket Text: OPENING BRIEF in Support re [9] MOTION to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim Pursuant to
Rule 12(b)(6) filed by Armstrong World Industries Inc..Answering Brief/Response due date per Local Rules is
11/27/2017. (Attachments: # (1) Certificate of Service)(Mangan, Kevin)
Filed & Entered:

11/15/2017 Case Assigned/Reassigned

Docket Text: Case Reassigned to Judge Mark A. Kearney of the Eastern District of Pennsylvania (in lieu of Vacant
Judgeship). Please include the initials of the Judge (MAK) after the case number on all documents filed. (rjb)
11 Filed & Entered:

12/22/2017 Answering Brief in Opposition

Docket Text: ANSWERING BRIEF in Opposition re [9] MOTION to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim
Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) filed by Roxul USA, Inc..Reply Brief due date per Local Rules is 1/2/2018. (Farnan,
Michael)
12 Filed & Entered:

01/12/2018 Reply Brief

Docket Text: REPLY BRIEF re [9] MOTION to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6)
filed by Armstrong World Industries Inc.. (Attachments: # (1) Certificate of Service)(Mangan, Kevin)
13 Filed & Entered:

01/12/2018 Request for Oral Argument

Docket Text: REQUEST for Oral Argument by Armstrong World Industries Inc. re [9] MOTION to Dismiss for
Failure to State a Claim Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). (Attachments: # (1) Certificate of Service)(Mangan, Kevin)
14 Filed & Entered:

02/09/2018 Memorandum and Order

Docket Text: MEMORANDUM. Signed by Judge Mark A. Kearney on 2/9/2018. (nmfn)
15 Filed & Entered:

02/09/2018 Order on Motion to Dismiss/Failure to State Claim

Docket Text: ORDER granting in part and denying in part [9] Motion to Dismiss. Defendant's Motion is
GRANTED as to Plaintiff's attempts to define the relevant market as including Canada and for its tortious

interference claims under Delaware law without prejudice; and, Defendant's Motion is DENIED in all other
respects. Signed by Judge Mark A. Kearney on 2/9/2018. (nmfn)
16 Filed & Entered:

02/09/2018 Order

Docket Text: ORDER, Setting Hearings( Initial Pretrial Conference set for 2/23/2018 11:30 AM before Judge
Mark A. Kearney. Plaintiff's counsel shall coordinate the telephone conference and call Chambers at 267-2997680 when all lead trial counsel are on the line.) After consultation with counsel for all parties, Plaintiff's counsel
shall complete and file with the Clerk the required Report of the Rule 26 (f) Meeting, which includes the stipulation
of selecting an ADR process, incorporating, at a minimum, all the information required in this Court's form Rule
26(f) Report (found on the Court website) on or before Wednesday, February 21, 2018. Signed by Judge Mark A.
Kearney on 2/9/2018. (nmfn)
17 Filed & Entered:

02/16/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of Plaintiff's Rule 26(a)(1) Initial Disclosures filed by Roxul USA, Inc..
(Farnan, Michael)
18 Filed & Entered:

02/16/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of Initial Disclosures of Defendant Armstrong World Industries, Inc. filed by
Armstrong World Industries Inc..(Mangan, Kevin)
19 Filed & Entered:

02/20/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of (i) Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories to Defendant Armstrong World
Industries, Inc. and (ii) Plaintiff's First Set of Requests for Production to Defendant Armstrong World Industries,
Inc. filed by Roxul USA, Inc..(Farnan, Michael)
20 Filed & Entered:

02/21/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of Defendant Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s First Set of Requests for
Production to Roxul USA, Inc. filed by Armstrong World Industries Inc..(Mangan, Kevin)
21 Filed & Entered:

02/21/2018 Order

Docket Text: ORDER re [16] Order; ORDER, Rescheduling Hearings(The Initial Pretrial Conference is
rescheduled for 2/23/2018 03:30 PM before Judge Mark A. Kearney.) All other aspects of this Court's February
9, 2018 Order (D.I. [16]) remain in effect. Signed by Judge Mark A. Kearney on 2/21/2018. (nmfn)
22 Filed & Entered:

02/21/2018 Report of Rule 26(f) Planning Meeting

Docket Text: REPORT of Rule 26(f) Planning Meeting. (Attachments: # (1) Exhibit A)(Farnan, Michael)
23 Filed & Entered:

02/23/2018 Answer to Complaint

Docket Text: ANSWER to [1] Complaint with Jury Demand by Armstrong World Industries Inc..(Mangan, Kevin)
24 Filed & Entered:

02/23/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of Defendant Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s First Set of Interrogatories
to Roxul USA, Inc. filed by Armstrong World Industries Inc..(Mangan, Kevin)
Filed & Entered:

02/26/2018 Status Conference

Docket Text: Minute Entry for proceedings held before Judge Mark A. Kearney - Telephone Status Conference
held on 2/23/2018. (Court Reporter U. Hevener.) (gvw)
25 Filed & Entered:

02/26/2018 Scheduling Order

Docket Text: SCHEDULING ORDER: Case referred to the Magistrate Judge Heffley for settlement. Discovery
due by 11/9/2018. Summary judgment and Daubert Motions due by 1/18/2019. Motions in Limine due by
3/8/2019. Responses to Motions in Limine due by 3/18/2019. A Final Pretrial Telephone Conference is set for

3/26/2019 at 08:30 AM before Judge Mark A. Kearney. A Jury Trial is set for 4/5/2019 at 09:00 AM before
Judge Mark A. Kearney. Signed by Judge Mark A. Kearney on 2/26/18. (gvw)
26 Filed & Entered:

02/26/2018 Order Setting Scheduling Conference

Docket Text: CONFERENCE ORDER: a Settlement Conference is set for 8/13/2018 at 09:30 AM before Judge
Marilyn Heffley, United States Magistrate Judge, U.S. Courthouse, 601 Market Street, Room 4001, Philadelphia,
PA, 19106. Signed by Judge Marilyn Heffley on 2/26/18. (gvw)
27 Filed & Entered:
Terminated:

03/15/2018 Motion for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice
03/15/2018

Docket Text: MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Emily E. Gianetta - filed by Roxul USA, Inc..
(Attachments: # (1) Exhibit A, # (2) Text of Proposed Order)(Farnan, Michael)
28 Filed & Entered:

03/15/2018 SO ORDERED

Docket Text: SO ORDERED, [27] MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Emily E. Gianetta filed
by Roxul USA, Inc. Signed by Judge Mark A. Kearney on 3/15/2018. (ceg)
29 Filed & Entered:

03/19/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of Defendant Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s Second Set of
Interrogatories to Roxul USA, Inc. filed by Armstrong World Industries Inc..(Mangan, Kevin)
Filed & Entered:

03/22/2018 Add Attorneys Pro Hac Vice

Docket Text: Pro Hac Vice Attorney Emily E. Gianetta for Roxul USA, Inc. added for electronic noticing. Pursuant
to Local Rule 83.5 (d)., Delaware counsel shall be the registered users of CM/ECF and shall be required to file all
papers. (crb)
30 Filed & Entered:

03/29/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of Defendant Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s Objections and
Responses to Roxul USA, Inc.'s First Set of Interrogatories and Defendant Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s
Objections and Responses to Roxul USA, Inc.'s First Set of Requests for Production filed by Armstrong World
Industries Inc..(Mangan, Kevin)
31 Filed & Entered:

03/30/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of Roxul USA, Inc.'s Responses to Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s First
Set of Interrogatories and (ii) Roxul USA, Inc.'s Responses to Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s First Set of
Requests for Production filed by Roxul USA, Inc..(Farnan, Brian)
32 Filed & Entered:

04/04/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of Defendant Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s Second Set of Requests
for Production to Roxul USA, Inc. filed by Armstrong World Industries Inc..(Mangan, Kevin)
33 Filed & Entered:

04/05/2018 Order Setting Scheduling Conference

Docket Text: AMENDED CONFERENCE ORDER: The settlement conference has been rescheduled to August
8, 2018 at 9:30 a.m. before The Honorable Marilyn Heffley, United States Magistrate Judge, U.S. Courthouse,
601 Market Street, Room 4001, Philadelphia, PA, 19106. Signed by Judge Marilyn Heffley on 4/5/2018. (ceg)
Filed & Entered:

04/06/2018 Set Deadlines/Hearings

Docket Text: Set Deadlines/Hearings: A Settlement Conference is set for 8/8/2018 at 09:30 AM before Judge
Marilyn Heffley. (ceg)
34 Filed & Entered:

04/11/2018 Notice (Other)

Docket Text: NOTICE of Subpoenas by Roxul USA, Inc. (Attachments: # (1) Exhibit A, # (2) Exhibit B)(Farnan,
Michael)

35 Filed & Entered:

04/17/2018 Notice (Other)

Docket Text: NOTICE of Subpoenas by Roxul USA, Inc. (Attachments: # (1) Exhibit A, # (2) Exhibit B, # (3)
Exhibit C, # (4) Exhibit D, # (5) Exhibit E)(Farnan, Michael)
36 Filed & Entered:

04/18/2018 Notice to Take Deposition

Docket Text: NOTICE to Take Deposition of Harold Barker on 5/8/2018 filed by Roxul USA, Inc..(Farnan,
Michael)
37 Filed & Entered:

04/18/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of Roxul USA, Inc.'s Responses to Armstrong World Industries, Inc.'s
Second Set of Interrogatories filed by Roxul USA, Inc..(Farnan, Michael)
38 Filed & Entered:
Terminated:

04/20/2018 Motion for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice
04/20/2018

Docket Text: MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Shannon E. Mader - filed by Armstrong World
Industries Inc.. (Attachments: # (1) Certification)(Mangan, Kevin)
39 Filed & Entered:

04/20/2018 Order

Docket Text: ORDER DENYING WITHOUT PREJUDICE with allowance to file a new motion in compliance
with this Court's Policies and Procedures [38] MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Shannon E.
Mader filed by Armstrong World Industries Inc. Signed by Judge Mark A. Kearney on 4/20/18. (sar)
40 Filed & Entered:
Terminated:

04/20/2018 Motion for Leave to Appear Pro Hac Vice
04/23/2018

Docket Text: MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Shannon E. Mader - filed by Armstrong World
Industries Inc.. (Attachments: # (1) Exhibit A - Certification of Counsel, # (2) Text of Proposed Order)(Mangan,
Kevin)
41 Filed & Entered:

04/23/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of Roxul USA, Inc.'s Supplemental Responses to Armstrong World
Industries, Inc.'s First Set of Interrogatories filed by Roxul USA, Inc..(Farnan, Michael)
42 Filed & Entered:

04/23/2018 Order on Motion to Appear Pro Hac Vice

Docket Text: ORDER granting [40] MOTION for Pro Hac Vice Appearance of Attorney Shannon E. Mader.
Signed by Judge Mark A. Kearney on 4/23/2018. (nmfn)
43 Filed & Entered:

04/25/2018 Notice to Take Deposition

Docket Text: NOTICE to Take Deposition of Harold Barker on 5/8/2018 (Amended) filed by Roxul USA, Inc..
(Farnan, Michael)
Filed & Entered:

05/01/2018 Add Attorneys Pro Hac Vice

Docket Text: Pro Hac Vice Attorney Shannon E. Mader for Armstrong World Industries Inc. added for electronic
noticing. Pursuant to Local Rule 83.5 (d)., Delaware counsel shall be the registered users of CM/ECF and shall be
required to file all papers. (ceg)
44 Filed & Entered:

05/08/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of Roxul USA, Inc.'s Supplemental Responses to Armstrong World
Industries, Inc.'s Second Set of Interrogatories (Interrogatory Number 5) filed by Roxul USA, Inc..(Farnan,
Michael)
45 Filed & Entered:
Terminated:

05/09/2018 Motion to Compel
05/14/2018

Docket Text: MOTION to Compel Production of Documents from Plaintiff Roxul USA, Inc. - filed by

Armstrong World Industries Inc.. (Attachments: # (1) Exhibit 1, # (2) Exhibit 2, # (3) Exhibit 3, # (4) Exhibit 4, #
(5) Exhibit 5, # (6) Exhibit 6, # (7) Exhibit 7, # (8) Exhibit 8, # (9) Exhibit 9, # (10) Exhibit 10, # (11) Exhibit 11, #
(12) Exhibit 12, # (13) Exhibit 13, # (14) Exhibit 14, # (15) Exhibit 15, # (16) Exhibit 16, # (17) Text of Proposed
Order, # (18) Certificate of Service)(Mangan, Kevin)
46 Filed & Entered:

05/11/2018 Answering Brief in Opposition

Docket Text: ANSWERING BRIEF in Opposition re [45] MOTION to Compel Production of Documents
from Plaintiff Roxul USA, Inc. filed by Roxul USA, Inc..Reply Brief due date per Local Rules is 5/18/2018.
(Farnan, Michael)
47 Filed & Entered:

05/14/2018 Order on Motion to Compel

Docket Text: ORDER granting [45] MOTION to Compel Production of Documents from Plaintiff Roxul USA,
Inc. Plaintiff shall produce the responsive documents no later than May 29, 2018. Signed by Judge Mark A.
Kearney on 5/14/2018. (See Order for further details). (crb)
48 Filed & Entered:

05/14/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of (i) Roxul USA, Inc.'s Supplemental Responses to Armstrong World
Industries, Inc.'s First Set of Requests for Production and (ii) Roxul USA, Inc.'s Responses to Armstrong World
Industries, Inc.'s Second Set of Requests for Production filed by Roxul USA, Inc..(Farnan, Michael)
49 Filed & Entered:

05/25/2018 Notice (Other)

Docket Text: NOTICE of Subpoenas by Armstrong World Industries Inc. (Attachments: # (1) Exhibit A, # (2)
Exhibit B, # (3) Exhibit C)(Mangan, Kevin)
50 Filed & Entered:

06/07/2018 Stipulation

Docket Text: STIPULATION Confidentiality Agreement and Stipulation for Protective Order by Armstrong World
Industries Inc.. (Attachments: # (1) Exhibit A)(Mangan, Kevin)
51 Filed & Entered:

06/14/2018 Notice (Other)

Docket Text: NOTICE of Subpoenas by Armstrong World Industries Inc. (Attachments: # (1) Exhibit A, # (2)
Exhibit B)(Mangan, Kevin)
52 Filed & Entered:

06/19/2018 Notice to Take Deposition

Docket Text: NOTICE to Take Deposition of Frank Pasquerello on 7/2/2018 filed by Roxul USA, Inc..(Farnan,
Michael)
53 Filed & Entered:

06/19/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of Plaintiff's Second Set of Interrogatories to Defendant Armstrong World
Industries, Inc. filed by Roxul USA, Inc..(Farnan, Michael)
54 Filed & Entered:

06/20/2018 Notice of Service

Docket Text: NOTICE OF SERVICE of Plaintiff's Second Set of Requests for Production to Defendant
Armstrong World Industries, Inc. filed by Roxul USA, Inc..(Farnan, Michael)
55 Filed & Entered:

06/22/2018 Notice (Other)

Docket Text: NOTICE of Subpoenas by Roxul USA, Inc. (Attachments: # (1) Exhibit A, # (2) Exhibit B, # (3)
Exhibit C, # (4) Exhibit D, # (5) Exhibit E, # (6) Exhibit F, # (7) Exhibit G, # (8) Exhibit H)(Farnan, Michael)
56 Filed & Entered:

06/25/2018 Notice to Take Deposition

Docket Text: NOTICE to Take Deposition of Thomas Kahler on July 24, 2018 filed by Armstrong World
Industries Inc..(Mangan, Kevin)
57 Filed & Entered:

06/25/2018 Notice to Take Deposition

Docket Text: NOTICE to Take Deposition of Herman Voortman on July 23, 2018 filed by Armstrong World
Industries Inc..(Mangan, Kevin)
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

ROXUL USA, INC.,
Plaintiff,
v.
ARMSTRONG WORLD
INDUSTRIES, INC.,
Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

C.A. No. ___________________

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

COMPLAINT
This is an action to restrain anticompetitive conduct by Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
(“Defendant”) and to remedy the effect of its unlawful conduct. Plaintiff ROXUL USA, Inc.
d/b/a ROCKFON (“ROCKFON”), by its attorneys, brings this action for relief against
Defendant’s continued and ongoing violations of the Sherman Act, the Clayton Act, and
Delaware common law.
PARTIES
1.

Plaintiff ROXUL USA, Inc. d/b/a ROCKFON is a Delaware corporation having

its principal place of business in Byhalia, Marshall County, MS. ROCKFON is an insulation and
ceiling systems manufacturer, and its Ceiling Tiles are marketed and sold in the United States of
America and Canada under the ROCKFON brand. ROCKFON is a subsidiary of ROCKWOOL
International A/S (“ROCKWOOL”), a Danish corporation.
2.

Defendant Armstrong World Industries, Inc. (“Armstrong”) is a Delaware

Corporation with its principal place of business in Lancaster, PA. Armstrong World Industries,

1
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Inc. is a ceiling systems manufacturer, and its Ceiling Tiles are marketed and sold in the United
States of America and Canada under the Armstrong brand.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
3.

This action is brought under Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act; 15 U.S.C. §§ 1

and 2; Sections 3, 4, and 16 of the Clayton Act; and 15 U.S.C. §§ 14, 15, 26. This Court has
jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337(a), and 15 U.S.C. §§ 15 and
26.
4.

Defendant is subject to personal jurisdiction in the State of Delaware for

numerous reasons, including, but not limited to the following:

Defendant is a citizen of

Delaware; Defendant has caused injury to ROCKFON within Delaware; Defendant practices the
unlawful conduct complained of herein, in part, within Delaware; the unlawful conduct
complained of herein causes tortious injury, in part, within Delaware; Defendant regularly does
or solicits and conducts business within Delaware; Defendant regularly and systematically
directs electronic activity into Delaware with the manifest intent of engaging in business within
Delaware, including the sale and/or offer for sale of products to Internet users within Delaware
through the armstrongceilings.com domain name.
5.

Venue is proper in this District under Section 12 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §

22, and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c), Defendant being found in and transacting business in this
District.
THE MARKET FOR CEILING TILES
6.

The relevant market for this action is the sale of suspended acoustical ceiling tiles

(“Ceiling Tiles”) sold in the United States of America and Canada (the “Geographic Market”)
(collectively, the “Market”).
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7.

Acoustic ceiling systems include Ceiling Tiles and suspension systems (“Grid

Systems”) (collectively referred to as an “Acoustic Ceiling System”).
8.

Ceiling Tiles include rigid ceiling products designed to fit into suspension ceiling

grids or direct mount applications, offering coverage of a building’s plenum.
9.

Ceiling Tiles are typically a lay-in style surface designed to fit into a two foot by

two foot or two foot by four foot grid pattern.
10.

Ceiling Tiles are available in a variety of fibrous substrates, including, but not

limited to, fiberglass, mineral fiber, stone wool, and slag wool.
11.

Grid Systems are typically made of steel or aluminum and are designed to hold

Ceiling Tiles below the duct work and electrical wiring and the structural ceiling of a building.
12.

Grid Systems of one manufacturer are capable of housing Ceiling Tiles from

another manufacturer.
13.

Ceiling Tiles are often replaced as part of remodeling projects and/or when all or

part of a building is updated.
14.

Grid Systems are often left intact even when Ceiling Tiles are replaced in order to

upgrade the aesthetics or performance of a building.
15.

Ceiling Tile makes up the largest share of Acoustic Ceiling Systems demand,

more than double the monetary value of Grid Systems.
16.

Ceiling Tiles are an important component of both residential and non-residential

developments.
17.

The non-residential construction market, including both new construction and

remodeling projects, constitutes in excess of 90% of Acoustic Ceiling Systems demand.
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18.

Upon information and belief, the Geographic Market is the single largest Ceiling

Tile market in the world, and Ceiling Tile demand is expected to exceed approximately $1
billion in 2018.
19.

Both parties produce a range of Ceiling Tiles which are comparable in quality and

function.
20.

Both parties recognize Ceiling Tiles as a separate and distinct market apart from

specialty and/or metallic ceiling systems.
21.

The parties have specialized sales and marketing strategies for sales of Ceiling

22.

The United States and Canada is the relevant geographic market for sales of

Tiles.

suspended acoustical ceiling tiles.
23.

There are worldwide regulatory standards differences, which prohibit the

purchase of Ceiling Tiles from outside of the Geographic Market.
24.

There are shipping costs as well as additional costs and complexities in supply

chain management, which make it impracticable to purchase Ceiling Tiles from outside of the
Geographic Market.
25.

There are worldwide product differences, which prohibit the purchase of Ceiling

Tiles from outside of the Geographic Market
INTERCHANGEABILITY AND CROSS-ELASTICITY OF DEMAND ARE ABSENT
26.

Ceiling Tiles grant their users the ability to easily access electrical and HVAC

located behind the Ceiling Ties, and further provide quality sound absorption, fire protection,
light reflectance, and humidity resistance at a cost-efficient price that allows users to quickly and
easily install ceilings for large-scale non-residential projects as well as residential projects.
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27.

Ceiling Tiles are a unique product without a functional equivalent or

interchangeable substitute.
THE ROLE OF BUILDING PRODUCTS DISTRIBUTORS
28.

Ceilings Tiles are primarily sold through Specialty Building Products Distributors

(“Building Products Distributors”).
29.

Building Products Distributors serve as the critical channel between

manufacturers and a highly fragmented customer base made up of tens of thousands of
contractors.
30.

Upon information and belief, Acoustic Ceiling Systems manufacturers, such as

the parties, sell approximately 85% of Acoustic Ceiling Systems through Building Products
Distributors due to the logistical complexity of distribution services, the expertise needed to
execute distribution effectively, and the special equipment needed for efficient distribution.
31.

Building Products Distributors supply more than just Ceiling Tiles, as they offer a

wide range of products to meet contractors’ needs, such as, but not limited to, wallboard and
accessories, metal framing, Grid Systems, stucco/exterior insulation and finishing systems, tools,
safety accessories, and insulation.
32.

Building Products Distributors provide particular value-added services, such as,

but not limited to, full-line product selection, nearby branches to contractors, logistics planning,
product selection and application expertise, specialized and same-day delivery and service
capabilities, storage, stocking services, credit, specialized payment terms, and technical product
expertise and dedicated salespeople for Ceiling Tiles.
33.

Few large direct-buy installing contractors have the resources to accomplish some

of the same value-added services as Building Products Distributors (such select contractors
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hereinafter referred to as “Direct-Buy Installing Contractors”). However, the vast majority of
direct-buy installing contractors do not have these capabilities and must rely on Building
Products Distributors for distribution services.
34.

Big-box home improvement retailers are unable to service non-residential and

most residential projects due to particularly limited product selection and servicing capabilities.
35.

There are no viable alternative channels to reach the Acoustic Ceiling Systems

market.
36.

Alternative channels to market outside of Building Products Distributors, such as

direct sales to job sites or sales through big-box home improvement supplies retailing companies
are insufficient to meet the needs of most contracting projects, due to their inability to meet the
logistical, servicing, and expertise needs of such projects.
37.

Building Products Distributors have continued to consolidate, as the largest

Building Products Distributors have and continue to purchase several smaller distributors. Many
previously independent, smaller, regional, and/or local competitors have been targeted and are
now subject to the exclusivity agreements of their parent companies, further increasing the
importance of Building Products Distributors.
DEFENDANT HAS MONOPOLY POWER
38.

Defendant holds monopoly power in the Market.

39.

Upon information and belief, Defendant’s Ceiling Tiles account for in excess of

55% of Ceiling Tile sales in the Market.
40.

Defendant is regarded by financial analysts as “dominating” the Ceiling Tile

industry.
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41.

There are only four major competitors in the Market, and Defendant’s market

share exceeds the combined market share of its three competitors.
42.

Defendant’s monopoly power is evident due to its ability to raise prices despite

downward trends in sales volume.
43.

Since 2011, Defendant’s Acoustic Ceiling Systems business has implemented a

number of price increases despite volume declines.
44.

Defendant is using its market power and unlawful restraints of trade to charge

supra-competitive prices.
45.

Defendant’s EBITDA (“earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and

amortization”) margins grew from 20.0% in 2009 to 35.6% in 2016.
46.

Due to Defendant’s monopoly power and unlawfully established network of

exclusive distributors, it possesses pricing power in the Market and, as demonstrated below, the
power to exclude competition.
47.

Defendant’s monopoly power is particularly strong as consumers are not able to

substitute comparable products from outside the Market because Ceiling Tiles are unique product
without a reasonable substitute, and shipping costs as well as world-wide regulatory and product
differences prohibit consumers from purchasing Ceiling Tiles from outside the Geographic
Market.
48.

Defendant maintains monopoly power because Defendant’s use of exclusive

dealing agreements amongst a limited number of Building Products Distributors prohibits new
competitors from freely entering the Market.
49.

The targeted consolidation of Building Products Distributors and Defendant’s

unlawful use of exclusivity agreements creates a significant barrier for new entrants to penetrate
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the Ceiling Tile market and for existing competitors to gain market share. Several Ceiling Tile
manufacturers who compete in the European Union and other parts of the world do not compete
in the Geographic Market because they are unable to access a viable distribution network.
50.

Due to Defendant’s unlawful scheme of exclusive dealing agreements with

Building Products Distributors, competitors have no efficient distribution channel available to
penetrate and/or successfully compete in the Market.
DEFENDANT’S RESTRICTIVE DEALING AGREEMENTS
51.

ROCKWOOL began selling Ceiling Tiles in the United States through its

ROCKFON subsidiary in 2013.
52.

After ROCKWOOL’s acquisition of Chicago Metallic Corporation (“CMC”), a

Grid Systems manufacturer, in the same year, ROCKFON was able to offer complete Acoustic
Ceiling Systems in the United States, incorporating ROCKFON stone wool Ceiling Tiles and
CMC Grid Systems.
53.

After ROCKWOOL’s purchase of CMC, ROCKFON became a direct competitor

of and a significant threat to Defendant in the Market, due to its ability to offer a full line of high
quality complete Acoustic Ceiling Systems.
54.

Upon information and belief, in direct response to ROCKWOOL’s purchase of

CMC and entry into the Ceiling Tile market in the United States, Defendant adopted and/or
amended pre-existing regional exclusivity agreements to make them national exclusivity
agreements that prohibit Building Products Distributors from selling competing Ceiling Tiles
anywhere in the Geographic Market.
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55.

Upon information and belief, since ROCKFON’s entry into the Ceiling Tile

market in the United States, Defendant’s exclusivity agreements and practical application have
specifically targeted ROCKFON.
56.

Upon information and belief, Defendant’s exclusivity agreements and practical

application prohibit Building Products Distributors from selling competitors’ Ceiling Tiles.
57.

Upon information and belief, Building Products Distributors who have exclusivity

agreements with the Defendant are prohibited from stocking and selling competitors’ Ceiling
Tiles.
58.

Upon information and belief, Defendant has policed and continues to actively

police its Building Products Distributors to ensure compliance with its exclusivity agreements
and has taken or threatened to take adverse actions against Building Products Distributors who
violate the exclusivity agreements, by, among other things, raising prices for Defendant’s Ceiling
Systems products, terminating exclusivity agreements, and enforcing liquidated damages clauses.
59.

Upon information and belief, Building Products Distributors are unable to

terminate the exclusivity agreements with Defendant because Defendant has threatened to and
has taken retaliatory steps against Building Products Distributors that have attempted to and/or
have actually terminated those agreements, including, but not limited to, by refusing to sell
Defendant’s products to them and enforcing liquidated damages clauses against them.
60.

Upon information and belief, a breach of Defendant’s exclusivity agreement by a

Building Products Distributor would result in a loss of supply of Defendant’s Acoustic Ceiling
System products.
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61.

Upon information and belief, Defendant’s application of its exclusive agreements

extends beyond the written terms of the contract and specifically targets Building Products
Distributors who sell or attempt to sell ROCKFON Ceiling Tiles.
62.

Upon information and belief, Defendant has threatened to stop supplying

Defendant’s products to its exclusive Building Products Distributors in retaliation for selling
ROCKFON Ceiling Tiles if the distributor sells ROCKFON Ceiling Tiles in regions even where
no exclusivity exists with the Defendant.
63.

Upon information and belief, Defendant has also leveraged its market power with

non-exclusive Building Products Distributors to target ROCKFON by artificially raising prices
as a penalty for selling ROCKFON Ceiling Tiles.
64.

Upon information and belief, Defendant has also unreasonably restrained non-

exclusive Building Products Distributors by prohibiting them from purchasing Ceiling Tiles
directly from competitors which raises the price for end-users.
65.

Upon information and belief, because of the consolidation of Building Products

Distributors in conjunction with Defendant’s exclusivity agreements, existing ROCKFON
distributors were forced to stop selling ROCKFON Ceiling Tile.
66.

Upon information and belief, Defendant has induced a substantial number of

Building Products Distributors to enter into exclusivity agreements, foreclosing ROCKFON
from at least 65% of the Market.
67.

Upon information and belief, Building Products Distributors would prefer to carry

multiple Ceiling Tile brands.
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68.

Upon information and belief, Defendant has also induced Direct-Buy Installing

Contractors to enter into exclusivity arrangements and/or agreements that prohibit their purchase
and sale of competitors’ Ceiling Tiles.
69.

Direct sales to direct-buy installing contractors and home improvement supplies

retailing companies are not a reasonable or adequate substitute for the Building Products
Distributors, because only Building Products Distributors meet the logistical, servicing, and
expertise needs of large-scale projects which account for the vast majority of sales in the Market.
70.

Defendant’s exclusivity agreements barring the sale of ROCKFON Ceiling Tile

negatively impacts ROCKFON’s Grid Systems sales as well.
71.

Defendant’s exclusivity agreements and other anti-competitive tactics and

unreasonable restraints create no market efficiency and serve no legitimate business purpose
other than to stifle competition, raise the cost of competitors, raise cost to consumers, discourage
new market entrants, and artificially increase Defendant’s market share.
72.

Defendant’s exclusivity agreements were designed to and have thwarted

ROCKFON’s and other competitors’ attempts to build a viable distribution network, foreclosed
their ability to compete in the Market, and prevented ROCKFON and other competitors from
increasing market share.
73.

Competing Ceiling Tile manufacturers, including ROCKFON, have no reasonable

or effective means of competing with Defendant’s monopoly on Ceiling Tile sales to the Market.
74.

Through its use of exclusivity with a substantial number of Building Products

Distributors, Defendant has been able to significantly raise prices and now charges more than 5%
in excess of competitive market prices.
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75.

Absent access to Building Products Distributors, competing manufacturers are not

able to obtain or create effective, alternative channels of distribution and accordingly cannot
effectively compete in the Market.
ANTICOMPETITIVE EFFECTS
76.

ROCKWOOL was founded in 1937 in Denmark and entered the United States

market in 2013.
77.

Defendant, a United States company founded in 1891, has competed in the

Market since the 1960s.
78.

Both Defendant and ROCKWOOL compete in the European Ceiling Tile market

along with a number of other manufacturers, including, but not limited to, AMF, Treetex, CEP,
OWA, and Ecophon.
79.

Defendant and ROCKWOOL compete successfully in Europe and have grown

comparable market shares.
80.

As a result of Defendant’s implementation of exclusivity agreements targeting

ROCKFON in the Market, ROCKFON’s market share growth has been stunted in the Market.
81.

The exclusivity agreements have unfairly prevented ROCKFON from obtaining a

comparable market share between the parties in the Market that exists in Europe.
82.

Defendant’s exclusivity agreements have effectively stifled competition in the

Market.
83.

Defendant’s exclusivity agreements have discouraged and prevented the possible

entry of competitors in the Market. The Market has significantly less competitors than in other
geographic regions.
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84.

Upon information and belief, ROCKFON’s foreclosure from the Market is

exacerbated due to the use of other exclusivity agreements in the Market.
85.

Defendant’s foreclosure to adequate distribution has successfully restricted

competition in the Market and, absent court order, is likely to continue to foreclose competition
and maintain/enhance Defendant’s monopoly power.
86.

Defendant has imposed and enforces its exclusivity agreements for the purpose

and with the effect of reducing or eliminating competition in the Market and maintaining its
monopoly or attempting to monopolize the Market.
87.

The harm to competition is severe. Building Products Distributors who enter into

an exclusivity agreement are locked into selling Defendant’s Ceiling Tiles and lose the ability to
promote and sell competing brands in the Market.
88.

Architects specify the brand and performance of Ceiling Tile or Grid Systems

(“spec”) in at least 90% of interior construction projects. When a contractor attempts to fulfill a
ROCKFON spec with a Building Products Distributor that has an exclusivity agreement with the
Defendant, (1) the Building Products Distributor will seek to change the ROCKFON spec and
sell Defendant’s Ceiling Tile instead, or (2) the contractor must seek a less desirable distributor,
resulting in additional cost as well as logistical and customer service issues that negatively affect
ROCKFON’s brand.
89.

Upon information and belief, as a result of the absence of competition, the price

of Ceiling Tiles in the Market has become and remains artificially inflated.
90.

Defendant’s exclusivity agreements have resulted in higher prices, loss of choice,

less market information, and lower quality of Ceiling Tiles in the Market. But for Defendant’s
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exclusivity agreements, other manufacturers of Ceiling Tiles, including ROCKFON, would be
able to obtain higher market shares.
91.

But for the exclusivity agreements, additional Ceiling Tile manufacturers would

have attempted to enter the Market.
92.

But for the exclusivity agreements, prices for Ceiling Tiles in the Market would

be lower.
93.

But for the exclusivity agreements, contractors would have a greater choice of

Ceiling Tiles and more market information about competing Ceiling Tiles.
94.

But for the exclusivity agreements, contractors would have received lower-priced,

higher-quality, and more desirable Ceiling Tiles.
95.

Defendant’s exclusivity agreements will continue to prevent competing Ceiling

Tile manufacturers from access to Building Products Distributors, thus continuing to restrain
price, quality, competition, and reduce consumer information and choice for Ceiling Tiles in the
Market.
96.

Defendant’s conduct is not justified by efficiencies or legitimate business

considerations.
97.

The harm being suffered by ROCKFON is immediate, because with each day that

passes, ROCKFON is losing opportunities to compete on the merits in the Market.
98.

The harm to ROCKFON is irreparable because there is no way to fully measure

ROCKFON’s loss.
COUNT I
MONOPOLIZATION
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99.

ROCKFON repeats, realleges, and incorporates by reference the allegations set

forth in paragraphs 1-98 as if fully set forth herein.
100.

The relevant market for this action is the sale of Ceiling Tiles in the United States

and Canada.
101.

Upon information and belief, Defendant’s Ceiling Tiles account for in excess of

55% of Ceiling Tile sales in the Market.
102.

Defendant’s aforementioned deliberate conduct of excluding competition in the

Market through the use of exclusivity agreements constitutes willful maintenance of its
monopoly power in the market of sales of Ceiling Tiles throughout the Market and constitutes
unlawful monopolization in interstate commerce in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15
U.S.C. § 2.
103.

The harm to competition or anticompetitive effect of Defendant’s conduct

includes keeping output below and prices above what they would be in the presence of
unrestrained market competition in the Market. This results from Defendant’s conduct which
limits consumer choice, raises competitors’ costs, and creates artificial barriers to entry from a
necessary means of distribution.
104.

As a direct and proximate cause of the foregoing, ROCKFON has been injured in

its business and property, is threatened with immediate and irreparable additional loss and
damage, and will continue to be so threatened unless Defendant is enjoined from soliciting,
entering into, and enforcing exclusivity agreements with Building Products Distributors of
Ceiling Tiles, or from engaging in other practices, including, but not limited to, any other similar
exclusionary agreements, designed to foreclose and exclude ROCKFON and other competitors
from the market, and from engaging in other illegal conduct alleged herein.
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COUNT II
ATTEMPTED MONOPOLIZATION
105.

ROCKFON repeats, realleges, and incorporates by reference the allegations set

forth in paragraphs 1-104 as if fully set forth herein.
106.

The relevant market for this action is the sale of Ceiling Tiles in the United States

and Canada.
107.

Upon information and belief, Defendant’s Ceiling Tiles account for in excess of

55% of the Ceiling Tile sales in the Market.
108.

Defendant has the specific intent to monopolize the market of the sale of Ceiling

Tiles throughout the Market.

Defendant’s aforementioned deliberate conduct of excluding

competition in the Market through the use of exclusivity agreements has been undertaken to
achieve, maintain, and extend such monopoly, and to the extent that the Defendant has not
already obtained monopoly power, there is a dangerous possibility that it will succeed in
obtaining it.
109.

Through the use of exclusivity agreements, Defendant is attempting to

monopolize the market of Ceiling Tiles throughout the Market in interstate commerce in
violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2.
110.

The harm to competition or anticompetitive effect of Defendant’s conduct

includes keeping output below and prices above what they would be in the presence of
unrestrained competition in the Market. This results from Defendant’s conduct which limits
consumer choice, raises competitors’ costs, and creates artificial barriers to entry from a
necessary means of distribution.
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111.

As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing, ROCKFON has been injured in

its business and property, is threatened with immediate and irreparable additional loss and
damage, and will continue to be so threatened unless Defendant is enjoined from soliciting,
entering into, and enforcing exclusivity agreements with Building Products Distributors of
Ceiling Tiles, or from engaging in other practices, including, but not limited to any other similar
exclusionary agreements, designed to foreclose and exclude ROCKFON and other competitors
from the market, and from engaging in other illegal conduct alleged herein.
COUNT III
CONCERTED ACTION IN RESTRAINT OF TRADE
112.

ROCKFON repeats, realleges, and incorporates by reference the allegations set

forth in paragraphs 1-111 as if fully set forth herein.
113.

The relevant market for this action is the sale of Ceiling Tiles in the United States

and Canada.
114.

Upon information and belief, Defendant’s Ceiling Tiles account for in excess of

55% of Ceiling Tile sales in the Market.
115.

Defendant has entered into exclusivity agreements with Building Products

Distributors of Ceiling Tile, maintained and enforced those agreements, otherwise acted in
concert with those distributors, and sold Ceiling Tiles on the condition that those distributors
refrain from marketing, advertising, promoting, or selling competitive products or purchase
products directly from competitors, thereby causing a substantial lessening of competition in the
Market in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, and Section 3 of the Clayton
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 14.
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116.

Defendant has market power in the Market and Defendant has exercised that

market power through exclusivity agreements.
117.

The harm to competition or anticompetitive effect of Defendant’s conduct

includes keeping output below and prices above what they would be in the presence of
unrestrained competition in the Market. This results from Defendant’s conduct which limits
consumer choice, raises competitors’ costs, and creates artificial barriers to entry from a
necessary means of distribution.
118.

As a direct and proximate result of the foregoing, ROCKFON has been injured in

its business and property, is threatened with immediate and irreparable additional loss and
damage, and will continue to be so threatened unless Defendant is enjoined from soliciting,
entering into, and enforcing exclusivity agreements with Building Products Distributors of
Ceiling Tiles, or from engaging in other practices, including, but not limited to, any other similar
exclusionary agreements, designed to foreclose and exclude ROCKFON and other competitors
from the market, and from engaging in other illegal conduct alleged herein.
119.

The sale of Ceiling Tiles across state lines constitutes interstate commerce and,

further, exclusivity agreements substantially affect interstate commerce.
COUNT IV
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH BUSINESS RELATIONS
(DELAWARE COMMON LAW)
120.

ROCKFON repeats, realleges, and incorporates by reference the allegations set

forth in paragraphs 1-119 as if fully set forth herein.
121.

Defendant had existing business relationships with certain distributors of Ceiling

Tiles and potential business relationships with others interested in working with ROCKFON.
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122.

Defendant had knowledge of ROCKFON’s existing business relationships and

potential business relationships with others interested in working with ROCKFON.
123.

Defendant knowingly, intentionally, wrongfully, and maliciously interfered with

ROCKFON’s advantageous business relationships.
124.

Defendant’s actions have harmed ROCKFON’s business relationships with

current distributors and potential distributors. ROCKFON’s loss of these advantageous business
relationships resulted directly from Defendant’s improper and unlawful actions.
125.

ROCKFON has suffered substantial damages, in an amount to be determined at

trial, as a result of Defendant’s improper and unlawful actions.
REQUEST FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, ROCKFON prays for judgment:
A. Enjoining Defendant from soliciting, entering into, or enforcing exclusionary
agreements which prohibit Building Products Distributors from marketing,
advertising, promoting, or selling competing products or otherwise impairing their
ability to carry and sell ROCKFON and other competing products;
B. Enjoining Defendant from soliciting, entering into, or enforcing exclusionary
agreements which prohibit Building Products Distributors from buying products
directly from competitors, including ROCKFON.
C. Enjoining Defendant from taking any action or threatening to take any action
against Building Products Distributors or others who carry and sell ROCKFON or
other competing products;
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D. Enjoining Defendant from engaging in any other exclusionary practices which
directly or indirectly foreclose ROCKFON and other competing competitors from
distributing Ceiling Tiles;
E. Awarding ROCKFON damages in an amount to be determined, and trebled as
provided for in Section 4 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 15;
F. Awarding ROCKFON the cost of this suit, including reasonable attorneys’ fees,
as provided for in Sections 4 and 16 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 15 and 26,
and pre and post-judgment interest; and
G. Granting such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.
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Respectfully submitted,
Dated: September 1, 2017
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I.

NATURE AND STAGE OF PROCEEDINGS

On September 1, 2017, Plaintiff Roxul USA, Inc. d/b/a Rockfon (“Rockfon” or
“Plaintiff”) filed a Complaint (D.I. 1) against Armstrong World Industries, Inc. (“Armstrong”),
alleging that exclusive dealing agreements between Armstrong and some of its distributors
violate Sherman Act Sections 1 and 2 and Clayton Act Section 3, and amount to tortious
interference with Rockfon’s existing and prospective business relationships. The Court granted
the parties’ joint stipulation for an orderly briefing schedule for this motion to dismiss (D.I. 5).
II.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Armstrong and Rockfon are competing manufacturers of ceiling tiles. While Armstrong
has been selling ceiling tile in the U.S. for decades, Rockfon, a European manufacturer, entered
the U.S. market only in 2013.1 Now, four years later, having already emerged (by its own
account) as a “major competitor,” Rockfon has filed this antitrust lawsuit claiming that it could
be even more successful if it were supported by Armstrong’s distribution network. Rockfon
alleges that Armstrong has unlawful exclusive arrangements with “desirable” distributors, but it
overlooks black letter law confirming that “[t]here are . . . well-recognized economic benefits to
exclusive dealing arrangements,” especially arrangements of the sort at issue here that are with
“distributors rather than end-users.” Omega Envtl., Inc. v. Gilbarco, Inc., 127 F.3d 1157, 116263 (9th Cir. 1997) (upholding exclusive distribution arrangements by defendant with 55% market
share). Having allegedly secured the more “desirable” distributors (D.I. 1 ¶ 88), Armstrong
“does not have to share ‘the fruits of its superior acumen and industry’” with Rockfon. Omega,
127 F.3d at 1163 (quoting Gen. Bus. Sys. v. N. Am. Philips Corp., 699 F.2d 965, 979 (9th Cir.
1

Solely for purposes of this motion to dismiss, Armstrong assumes the truth of the factual
matter—but not the conclusions—alleged in Rockfon’s complaint.

1
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1983)). The “short answer” to a plaintiff who, like Rockfon, demands access to a rival’s
distributors “who have proven finances, abilities and customer relationships” is “that the antitrust
laws were not designed to equip [competitors] with [defendant’s] legitimate competitive
advantage. Competitors are free to sell directly, to develop alternative distributors, or to compete
for the services of existing distributors. Antitrust laws require no more.” Id.
Rockfon’s complaint should be dismissed pursuant to FRCP 12(b)(6) because:
1.

A critical element of any exclusive dealing claim is “substantial foreclosure of the

market for the relevant product.” Eisai, Inc. v. Sanofi Aventis U.S., LLC, 821 F.3d 394, 403 (3d
Cir. 2016). There is no foreclosure where “competitors can reach the ultimate consumers of the
product by employing existing or potential alternative channels of distribution.” Omega, 127
F.3d at 1163. Here, Armstrong has no monopoly over the market. Alternative distribution
channels—including distributors not allegedly exclusive to Armstrong and direct-buying
contractors and retailers—support hundreds of millions of dollars in sales amounting to nearly (if
not more than) half the market. Further, no competitor is foreclosed from the ultimate decisionmakers for virtually all interior construction projects—the architects specifying the ceiling tiles
to be used. Rockfon’s allegations of substantial foreclosure are simply implausible.
2.

Nor does Rockfon plead a plausible factual basis for any anticompetitive effects

from the alleged exclusive dealing. See ZF Meritor, LLC v. Eaton Corp., 696 F.3d 254, 271 (3d
Cir. 2012). The market has seen more, not less competition, over time and Rockfon’s claims
about nominal supra-competitive pricing are conclusory and unsubstantiated.
3.

In the end, the only identifiable harm that Rockfon can point to is its failure to

gain market share. Antitrust injury, however, requires “harm to competition, not just harm to the
plaintiff competitor.” Race Tires Am. v. Hoosier Racing Tire Corp., 614 F.3d 57, 83 (3d Cir.

2
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2010). Rockfon does not allege that it is excluded from competing for the ultimate consumer—
only that it is the “victim” of competition for exclusive distributorships, and thus “does not state
an antitrust injury.” NicSand, Inc. v. 3M Co., 507 F.3d 442, 456 (6th Cir. 2007).
4.

Finally, Rockfon also does not plead the basic elements of a claim for tortious

interference with a contract or a prospective business relationship, failing to identify a single
contract or prospective contract with which Armstrong has allegedly interfered.
III.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Armstrong is a pioneering producer of ceiling tiles, with a trusted brand name dating
back more than a century and many decades of expertise in selling ceiling systems. See D.I. 1 ¶¶
2, 77. Armstrong manufactures approximately 55% of U.S. ceiling tiles (id. ¶ 39), which
Plaintiff labels as a “monopoly” despite the fact that nearly half of the market is served by
Rockfon and other competitors. Id. ¶ 73. Rockfon is a subsidiary of Rockwool, a Danish
insulation and ceiling tile manufacturer. Id. ¶ 1. Rockwool and Armstrong are ceiling tile
competitors in Europe and have “comparable market shares” there. Id. ¶¶ 78-79. Rockwool
“entered the United States market in 2013” (id. ¶ 76), when it “began selling ceiling tiles in the
United States through its Rockfon subsidiary,” (id. ¶ 51). That same year, Rockwool acquired
ceiling grid-system manufacturer Chicago Metallic Corporation, enabling Rockfon to “bec[o]me
a direct competitor of and a significant threat to [Armstrong] in the Market.” Id. ¶¶ 52-53.
The sales process for ceiling tiles most often begins—and ends—with architects. Id.
¶ 88. “Architects specify the brand and performance” of the ceiling tile or grid systems to be
used in at least 90% of all interior construction jobs. Id. The “tens of thousands” of contractors
comprising the “customer base” (id. ¶ 29) then attempt to fill that “spec,” either by purchasing
the ceiling tile from a distributor (id. ¶ 88) or directly from the manufacturer (id. ¶ 33). Ceiling

3
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system manufacturers sell approximately 85% of their ceiling systems through such distributors.
Id. ¶ 30. The remaining sales are made to direct-buying contractors and retailers. Id. ¶¶ 33-34.
Armstrong has exclusive agreements with a “limited number” of distributors (id. ¶ 48, see also
¶¶ 54, 63), which give the distributor an exclusive right to carry Armstrong ceiling tile within a
specified geographic region (id. ¶ 62), and in turn provide that the distributor will not carry other
brands of ceiling tile (id. ¶ 57). If a distributor cannot fill a given architect’s “spec” because it
does not carry the specified brand or type of ceiling tile, the distributor can lobby the architect to
“change the [] spec” to one it does carry, or the contractor will simply find a different distributor
who carries the specified product. Id. ¶ 88.
Despite the claimed challenges of importing ceiling tile from Europe (id. ¶ 24), in just a
little over three years Rockfon has become one of four “major competitors” in the U.S. market
for ceiling tiles. Id. ¶¶ 41, 51. Rockfon is not satisfied with such rapid growth, however, and
wants “to obtain higher market shares.” Id. ¶ 90. In fact, it demands parity with Armstrong and
invokes the U.S. antitrust laws to bring about “a comparable market share between the parties”
as “exists in Europe.” Id. ¶ 81. Rockfon contends that Armstrong’s agreements with its
distributors “increase Defendant’s market share.” Id. ¶ 71. In particular, Rockfon seeks to
prevent Armstrong from utilizing exclusive distributorships, arguing that such arrangements
remit Rockfon to “less desirable distributor[s].” Id. ¶ 88.
IV.
A.

ARGUMENT

Legal Standard
The Court must dismiss a cause of action that fails to state a claim upon which relief can

be granted. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Plaintiff is required to plead “enough facts to state a claim
to relief that is plausible on its face.” Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)
(emphasis added). Rockfon’s complaint is brimming with labels, conclusions, and antitrust

4
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“buzzwords,” but sorely lacking in factual allegations supporting a plausible claim for relief.
“[A] plaintiff’s obligation to provide the ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[ment] to relief’ requires more
than labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action will
not do. Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level
on the assumption that all of the complaint’s allegations are true.” Id. at 555. Rockfon’s
complaint also relies to an unusual degree on “information and belief” allegations, with 23 such
allegations covering key elements of its claims. D.I. 1 ¶¶ 18, 30, 39, 54-68, 84, 89, 101, 107,
114. “A plaintiff may plead based on information and belief,” but only “‘where it can be shown
that the requisite factual information is peculiarly within the defendant’s knowledge or control”
and plaintiffs “accompany their legal theory with factual allegations that make their theoretically
viable claim plausible.’” Pontiaki Special Mar. Enter. v. Taleveras Grp., 2016 WL 4497058, at
*3 (D. Del. Aug. 26, 2016).
B.

Rockfon Has Not Pled A Plausible Claim That Armstrong Has Violated The
Antitrust Laws
To state a claim for violation of the antitrust laws, Rockfon must plead (1) that

Armstrong engaged in anticompetitive conduct—whether as a monopolist or in an attempt to
monopolize the market, or in the form of concerted action that unreasonably restrains trade—and
(2) that this conduct caused injury to competition, not simply a competitor. See, e.g., Eisai, 821
F.3d at 402; Race Tires, 614 F.3d at 74-76. Rockfon’s complaint fails on both scores.
1.

Rockfon Does Not Plead Anticompetitive Conduct

Rockfon alleges that Armstrong’s “use of exclusivity agreements” with distributors
constitutes “willful maintenance of its monopoly power” (D.I. 1 ¶ 102) and attempted

5

Case 1:17-cv-01258-MAK Document 10 Filed 11/10/17 Page 12 of 27 PageID #: 58

monopolization (id. ¶ 109) in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act,2 as well as a restraint of
trade in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act and Section 3 of the Clayton Act (id. ¶ 115).3
Exclusive dealing agreements, however, are not by themselves unlawful. As the Third Circuit
recognizes, such “agreements are often entered into for entirely procompetitive reasons, and
generally pose little threat to competition.” ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d at 270; see also Race Tires,
614 F.3d at 76 (“exclusive dealing agreements have been frequently upheld”).
In recognition of these potential procompetitive benefits, the legality of exclusive dealing
is judged under the rule of reason, whether challenged under the Sherman Act or the Clayton
Act. Eisai, 821 F.3d at 403; ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d at 271. A plaintiff cannot even reach first
base under the rule of reason “unless the court believes it probable that performance of the
contract will foreclose competition in a substantial share of the line of commerce affected.”
Tampa Elec. Co. v. Nashville Coal Co., 365 U.S. 320, 327 (1961) (emphasis added).4 Although
there is “no fixed percentage at which foreclosure becomes ‘substantial,’” ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d
at 327, “foreclosure of 40% to 50% is usually required to establish an exclusive dealing

2

Under Section 2, monopolization requires “(1) the possession of monopoly power in the
relevant market” and (2) anticompetitive conduct, that is “the willful acquisition or maintenance
of that power.” Race Tires, 614 F.3d at 75. Attempted monopolization requires “(1) that the
defendant has engaged in predatory or anticompetitive conduct with (2) a specific intent to
monopolize and (3) a dangerous probability of achieving monopoly power.” Id.
3

To prove a Section 1 claim, “plaintiff must show concerted action, antitrust injury, evidence
that the conspiracy produced ‘adverse, anti-competitive effects within the relevant product and
geographic markets . . . .’” Race Tires, 614 F.3d at 74. Section 3 of the Clayton Act prohibits
exclusive dealing when the effect of the arrangement “may be to substantially lessen competition
or tend to create a monopoly in any line of commerce.” 15 U.S.C. § 14.
4

Tampa Electric set forth the test for analyzing exclusive dealing and recognized that if such
conduct does not violate Section 3 of the Clayton Act, it will not generally be proscribed by the
Sherman Act. 365 U.S. at 335; see also Barr Labs. v. Abbott Labs., 978 F.2d 98, 110 (3d Cir.
1992); United States v. Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34, 69 (D.C. Cir. 2001).

6
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violation,” id. at 286 (citing LePage’s Inc. v. 3M, 324 F.3d 141, 159 (3d Cir. 2003)).5 Assuming
such foreclosure is established, under the rule of reason the court must also conduct an “analysis
of likely or actual anticompetitive effects [of the agreements] considered in light of any
procompetitive effects,” ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d at 271, including legitimate business justifications
for alleged exclusive agreements, Barr Labs. v. Abbott Labs., 978 F.2d 98, 111 (3d Cir. 1992).
As discussed below, Rockfon fails to plead substantial foreclosure or anticompetitive
effects that outweigh obvious business justifications.
a.

Rockfon Has Not Alleged Substantial Foreclosure
(i)

Armstrong Is Not A Monopolist

As an initial matter, Rockfon fails to plead facts showing that Armstrong is a monopolist.
This alone distinguishes this matter from every modern case where the Third Circuit has found
an exclusive dealing violation.6 While Rockfon alleges that Armstrong has a market share of at
least 55% (D.I. 1 ¶¶ 39, 101, 107, 114), the Third Circuit has repeatedly held that “[a]bsent other
pertinent factors, a share significantly larger than 55% has been required to establish prima facie
market power.” United States v. Dentsply Int’l, Inc., 399 F.3d 181, 187 (3d Cir. 2005).
(emphasis added); see also Fineman v. Armstrong World Indus., 980 F.2d 171, 201-02 (3d Cir.
1992) (“As a matter of law, absent other relevant factors, a 55 percent market share will not
5

“[A] monopolist’s use of exclusive contracts, in certain circumstances, may give rise to a § 2
violation even though the contracts foreclose less than the roughly 40% or 50% share usually
required,” Microsoft, 253 F.3d at 70, but Rockfon does not successfully plead monopoly here.
6

“[E]xclusive dealing arrangements are of special concern when imposed by a monopolist,” ZF
Meritor, 696 F.3d at 271 since “a monopolist is not free to take certain actions that a company in
a competitive (or even oligopolistic) market may take, because there is no market constraint on a
monopolist’s behavior.” LePage’s, 324 F.3d at 151-52. Accord United States v. Dentsply Int’l,
Inc., 399 F.3d 181, 187 (3d Cir. 2005) (“Behavior that otherwise might comply with antitrust law
may be impermissibly exclusionary when practiced by a monopolist”). The Third Circuit has
rejected exclusive dealing claims where monopoly power was absent. See, e.g., Barr Labs., 978
F.2d at 110-115; Deborah Heart & Lung Ctr. v. Virtua Health, Inc., 833 F.3d 399 (3d Cir. 2016).

7
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prove the existence of monopoly power.”). And “the Supreme Court has never found a party
with less than 75% market share to have monopoly power.” Kolon Indus. v. E.I. DuPont de
Nemours & Co., 748 F.3d 160, 174 (4th Cir. 2014). Rockfon asserts that “Defendant’s market
share exceeds the combined market share of its three competitors” (D.I. 1 ¶ 41), but that is true
by definition whenever a defendant has a (legally insufficient) share of 50.1% (or more). See,
e.g., Barr Labs., 978 F.2d at 112-13 (no monopoly power where defendant had approximately
50% market share and where “this market share was more than twice that of its nearest
competitor . . . and over three times that of [the third]”). Not only does Armstrong face multiple
competitors who make almost half of all sales in the relevant market, but Rockfon’s own
experience shows that entry is relatively easy. Rockfon entered the U.S. in 2013 (D.I. 1 ¶ 51),
almost immediately became “a direct competitor of and a significant threat to Defendant” (id.
¶ 53), and by 2017 was one of four “major competitors” (id. ¶ 41).
Rockfon claims that since 2011 “a number of price increases despite volume declines”
evidences Armstrong’s monopoly power (id. ¶¶ 42-43), but it does not plead how the alleged
price increases compared to costs (as volumes decreased), or how Armstrong’s economic
margins compare to others in the relevant market. See Geneva Pharm. Tech. Corp. v. Barr Labs.
Inc., 386 F.3d 485, 500 (2d Cir. 2004) (no evidence of monopoly power where “absent from
plaintiff’s proffer is any analysis of [defendant]’s costs”). Rockfon alleges that Armstrong’s
accounting (EBITDA) margins grew approximately 15% from 2009 (at the height of the
economic downturn) to 2016 (D.I. 1 ¶ 45), but “rates of return are more a reflection of various
accounting conventions than true economic profit,” and reveal “very little about [defendant’s]
market power.” Bailey v. Allgas, Inc., 284 F.3d 1237, 1252 (11th Cir. 2002). Unsurprisingly,
the use of such measures to ascertain market power “has yet to be accepted by any circuit.” Id.
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at 1253. See generally Blue Cross & Blue Shield United of Wis. v. Marshfield Clinic, 65 F.3d
1406, 1412 (7th Cir. 1995).
Further, despite alleging “a number of price increases” since 2011 (D.I. 1 ¶ 43), Rockfon
contends only that Armstrong “now charges more than 5% in excess of competitive market
prices.” Id. ¶ 74. This conclusory assertion is bereft of any factual support, but even assuming
that Armstrong can charge 5% higher prices than one or more of its competitors, that may simply
be an indication of quality and of Armstrong’s century-old, globally recognized brand name (id.
¶ 77) rather than monopoly power. See Harrison Aire, Inc. v. Aerostar Int’l, Inc., 423 F.3d 374,
381 (3d Cir. 2005) (an allegation of “supracompetitive prices” “alone does not support a
reasonable inference of monopoly power . . . a firm’s comparatively high price may simply
reflect a superior product”); Blue Cross & Blue Shield, 65 F.3d at 1412 (same).
Moreover, the ability to achieve modestly higher prices and profit margins is consistent
with the kind of everyday market power held by non-monopolists. “[M]arket power exists
whenever prices can be raised above the levels that would be charged in a competitive market.”
Jefferson Parish Hosp. Dist. No. 2 v. Hyde, 466 U.S. 2, 27 n.46 (1984). The mere fact of
elevated prices, however, does not imply the existence of the exceptional kind of power that is
possessed by a monopolist. See Eastman Kodak Co. v. Image Technical Servs., Inc., 504 U.S.
451, 481 (1992) (“Monopoly power under § 2 requires, of course, something greater than market
power under § 1.”). That is, a “showing of [defendant’s] ‘market power’ is not itself sufficient to
prove that [defendant] possesses ‘monopoly power.’” Kolon, 748 F.3d at 174.
In these circumstances, Rockfon’s conclusory allegation of monopoly power must fail.
See, e.g., Barr Labs., 978 F.2d at 112-15 (no threat of monopoly power despite 50% market
share and price increases, in light of existing competitors and relatively low barriers to entry).

9
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This alone requires dismissal of Rockfon’s actual monopolization claim. It also sets the stage for
dismissal of Rockfon’s remaining antitrust claims, given that—in the absence of monopoly—
these claims are subject to an even higher standard of pleading and proof of the element of
substantial foreclosure. See McWane, Inc. v. FTC, 783 F.3d 814, 837 (11th Cir. 2015); United
States v. Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34, 70 (D.C. Cir. 2001); see also Eisai, 821 F.3d at 404. As
discussed below, Rockfon cannot satisfy that standard.
(ii)

Rockfon Vastly Overstates The Size And Likely Effect Of Any
Alleged Foreclosure

Rockfon’s complaint does not get out of the starting gate because it pleads no factual
basis for a claim of “substantial foreclosure of the market for the relevant product”—the linchpin
of any exclusive dealing claim. Eisai, 821 F.3d at 403. Rockfon asserts, without factual support,
that Armstrong’s agreements have “foreclos[ed] Rockfon from at least 65% of the Market” (D.I.
1 ¶ 66), but this vastly overstates the possible degree of foreclosure (if any here) and rests on an
incorrect conception of foreclosure in an alleged exclusive dealing case.
If Armstrong (and its rivals) sold only through distributors and if all of Armstrong’s
distributors were permanently exclusive and if there were no other way to reach Armstrong’s
customers (facts that are not alleged in the Complaint), this would foreclose at the most the
roughly 55% market share attributed to Armstrong. See Omega, 127 F.3d at 1162 (“The
foreclosure effect, if any, depends on the market share involved”). Rockfon’s contention that
65% of the market has been “foreclos[ed]” as a result of Armstrong’s exclusivity agreements
with distributors—10% more than the theoretical 55% maximum—is absurd since this deems
Armstrong to have foreclosed sales actually made by producers other than Armstrong.
On Rockfon’s own calculation, Armstrong’s rivals (including Rockfon) currently reach
45% of the billion-dollar ceiling tile market (D.I. 1 ¶ 18). This is obviously not a case where all
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or almost all of the distributors in the market are allegedly subject to exclusive dealing by the
defendant. Compare ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d at 281 (monopolist’s “exclusive dealing
arrangements with every customer in the market” held unlawful) with Int’l Constr. Prods. v.
Caterpillar Inc., 2016 WL 264909, at *5-6 (D. Del. Jan. 21, 2016) (dismissing exclusive dealing
claim where complaint did “not lay out any facts that show a dominant firm barred competitors
from entire modes of distribution, or from nearly all cost-effective means of distribution”).
Moreover, Rockfon has alleged almost no specifics to support even 55% market
foreclosure. It has not pled how many distributor customers it has, how many it has lost as a
result of the alleged exclusive arrangements, how many distributors have exclusivity agreements
with Armstrong, or how many distributors even exist.7 On the other hand, Rockfon’s complaint
discloses the existence of alternative channels of distribution in the market even beyond the
channels supporting 45% of sales in the market by Armstrong’s competitors. Where
“[c]ompetitors are free to sell directly, to develop alternative distributors, or to compete for the
services of the existing distributors,” the “[a]ntitrust laws require no more.” Omega, 127 F.3d at
1163.
Specifically, Rockfon admits (i) that not all of Armstrong’s distributors are (or have
been) exclusive (D.I. 1 ¶¶ 63-64); (ii) that manufacturers can and do sell directly to retailers and
contractors, and not through distributors (id. ¶¶ 33, 36); (iii) that Rockfon can compete with
Armstrong for exclusive distributorships (id. ¶¶ 53-54); and (iv) that architects are the ultimate

7

By contrast, in GN Netcom, Inc. v. Plantronics, Inc., 967 F. Supp. 2d 1082 (D. Del. 2013), an
exclusive dealing case brought on behalf of a European plaintiff by the same counsel
representing Rockfon here, the complaint pled the number of total distributors in the market, the
percentage (80%) that were exclusive, and the defendant’s monopoly market share (over 75%).
Id. at 1085. A jury ultimately rejected plaintiff’s exclusive dealing claims. GN Netcom, Inc. v.
Plantronics, Inc., Case No. 12-cv-01318, D.I. 534 (D. Del. Oct. 18, 2017).
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decision-makers who specify the brand of ceiling tile in the vast majority of interior construction
projects (id. ¶ 88). These admissions doom Rockfon’s exclusive dealing claims.
1.

Rockfon admits that the challenged arrangements exist “amongst a limited

number” of distributors (id. ¶ 48), and that there are Armstrong distributors not subject to
exclusivity (see id. ¶¶ 63, 64), some of which have been selling Rockfon ceiling tiles (id. ¶ 61).
2.

Rockfon admits that direct sales to retailers and contractors are “alternative

channel[s] of distribution in this market.” Omega, 127 F.3d at 1163. According to the
complaint, at least 15% of sales of ceiling systems are not made through distributors (D.I. 1
¶ 30), instead occurring through “direct sales to job sites or sales through big-box home
improvement supplies retailing companies” (id. ¶ 36). Specifically, Rockfon admits that there
are “tens of thousands” of contractors in its “customer base” (id. ¶ 29), including large
contractors that purchase directly from manufacturers and “have the resources to accomplish
some of the same value-added services” as distributors (id. ¶ 33). Rockfon does not allege facts
showing that these alternative channels are foreclosed as a result of Armstrong’s conduct.8 See
PNY Techs., Inc. v. SanDisk Corp., 2014 WL 2987322, at *9 (N.D. Cal. July 2, 2014) (no
foreclosure where 19% of sales were made through non-retail channels not subject to exclusivity
arrangements). Rockfon dismisses these alternative channels as inferior substitutes for
Armstrong’s network of distributors (D.I. 1 ¶ 69), but “the antitrust laws were not designed to
equip the plaintiffs’ hypothetical competitor with [Armstrong’s] legitimate competitive
advantage.” Omega, 127 F.3d at 1163; see also Int’l Constr., 2016 WL 264909, at *5.

8

Rockfon makes a wholly conclusory allegation “[u]pon information and belief”—without any
substantiating facts—that Armstrong has “induced” an unnamed and unspecified number of
direct-buying contractors “to enter into exclusivity arrangements.” (D.I. 1 ¶ 68).
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3.

Rockfon does not allege that it has been foreclosed from competing for exclusive

contracts with distributors (see Omega, 127 F.3d at 1164), only that it has been unsuccessful in
so doing. D.I. 1 ¶ 88. The complaint acknowledges Rockfon’s access to distributors, alleging
that its acquisition of a ceiling grid systems manufacturer allowed it to become a “significant
threat” to Armstrong through its access to a pre-existing ceiling system distribution network. Id.
¶¶ 52-53. Further, Rockfon acknowledges that Armstrong’s exclusivity agreements are not
perpetual and are in fact terminable. Id. ¶¶ 54, 58. See PNY Techs., 2014 WL 2987322, at *4
(“short duration and easy terminability” of agreements “negate substantially their potential to
foreclose competition”). And Rockfon does not plead entry barriers preventing new distributors
from entering the market, such as other building products distributors that could add ceiling tiles
to their lines, or the large direct-buying contractors offering services similar to distributors. See
Omega, 127 F.3d at 1163; Ryko Mfg. Co. v. Eden Servs., 823 F.2d 1215, 1234 (8th Cir. 1987).
4.

Finally, Rockfon admits that competition in the ceiling tile market is rooted in the

specification process, whereby “[a]rchitects specify the brand and performance of Ceiling Tile or
Grid Systems (‘spec’) in at least 90% of interior construction projects.” D.I. 1 ¶ 88. Thus,
“[u]nlike cases where the alleged exclusionary conduct leaves the consumer with no input
whatever,” here the “decision to specify” remains “in the hands of the consumer”—that is, the
architect, who could choose Rockfon. Santana Prods., Inc. v. Bobrick Washroom Equip., Inc.,
401 F.3d 123, 133 (3d Cir. 2005). Rockfon does not allege that Armstrong’s exclusive
agreements with distributors prevent Rockfon from lobbying for or selling its products at the
specification phase. There is, therefore, no foreclosure because Rockfon remains able to
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compete for the ultimate consumer in at least 90% of interior construction projects (D.I. 1 ¶ 88).
See Santana, 401 F.3d at 133.9
****
In summary, Rockfon’s 65% foreclosure figure is legally invalid. Even on the most
aggressive (and implausible) assumptions, far less than Armstrong’s alleged market share of
55% could be foreclosed. According to Rockfon, 15% of the market is reachable without any
need for distributors (D.I. 1 ¶ 30), so even if Armstrong had a perpetual and non-terminable
exclusive dealing agreement with every one of its distributors (contrary to the complaint’s
allegations), that would yield alleged foreclosure of 46.8% (85% of Armstrong’s alleged 55%
market share). See Omega, 127 F.3d at 1162. But that figure “‘considerably overstates the size
of the foreclosure and its likely anticompetitive effect for several reasons.’” Id. It does not
account for the fact that not all of Armstrong’s distributors are alleged to be exclusive, or that
rivals can compete for distributors with expiring or terminable contracts—factors undoubtedly
taking the foreclosure figure below 40%. Nor does it reflect the fact that architects specify the
brand of tile used for at least 90% of interior construction projects—meaning even assuming
55% “foreclosure,” Rockfon is truly shut out from just 10% of the market and only 5.5% of
Armstrong’s sales (10% of 55%). This falls decisively short of the “foreclosure of 40% to 50%
. . . usually required to establish an exclusive dealing violation.” ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d at 286.

9

See also Stearns Airport Equip. v. FMC Corp., 170 F.3d 518, 522-23 (5th Cir. 1999) (no
exclusionary conduct where competitor was free to advocate for adoption of its own product
spec); Richard Hoffman Corp. v. Integrated Bldg. Sys., 610 F. Supp. 19, 23 (N.D. Ill. 1985) (no
anticompetitive conduct where competitor was “free to ‘tout the virtues’” of competing building
systems to those specified by architect).
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(iii)

Foreclosure Of Canadian Sales Is Beyond U.S. Jurisdiction

Rockfon alleges that the relevant geographic market includes sales of ceiling tile in
Canada. D.I. 1 ¶¶ 6, 22. Rockfon has not, however, alleged the existence of competitors who
import ceiling tiles into the U.S. from facilities in Canada.10 Instead, Rockfon appears to seek
extraterritorial application of U.S. antitrust law to allegedly foreclosed foreign (Canadian) sales.
This is not permitted under the Foreign Trade Antitrust Improvements Act (FTAIA), 15 U.S.C.
§ 6a, which “lays down a general rule placing all (nonimport) activity involving foreign
commerce outside the Sherman Act’s reach.” F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. v. Empagran S.A., 542
U.S. 155, 162 (2004).11
Rockfon has not sought to plead any exception to the FTAIA’s general rule against
jurisdiction. To the contrary, Rockfon invokes only domestic “interstate commerce” as the basis
for jurisdiction here. See D.I. 1 ¶¶ 102, 109, 119. Accordingly, any claim based on alleged
foreclosure of Canadian sales must be dismissed. See Nat’l Bank of Canada v. Interbank Card
Ass’n, 666 F.2d 6, 8-9 (2d Cir. 1981); In re Intel Corp. Microprocessor Antitrust Litig., 452 F.
Supp. 2d 555, 562-63 (D. Del. 2006); Biocad, JSC v. F. Hoffman-La-Roche, Ltd., et al., 2017
WL 4402564, at *8–10 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 2017).

10

The only imports alleged in the complaint are Rockwool’s import and sale (through Rockfon)
of ceiling tile from Europe into the U.S. and Canada. D.I. 1 ¶ 51. No exports from the U.S. are
alleged at all, and the court may take judicial notice that Rockfon did not even produce ceiling
tile in the U.S. until it opened its new “game-changer” plant and commenced production in July
2017. See Rockfon Press Release, Rockfon North America Facility Begins Production (July 19,
2017), http://www.rockfon.com/news+list/news?new=3632.

11

Clayton Act Section 3 cannot reach foreign sales either as it is applicable only to sales of
commodities for “use, consumption, or resale within the United States.” 15 U.S.C. § 14; see
Boyd v. AWB Ltd., 544 F. Supp. 2d 236, 247 (S.D.N.Y. 2008).
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b.

Rockfon Fails To Allege Anticompetitive Effects

Rockfon’s complaint must also be dismissed for failure to plead that Armstrong’s
conduct caused or was likely to cause anticompetitive effects in the relevant market. Eisai, 821
F.3d at 407. The complaint is sprinkled with conclusory allegations of harm, but almost no facts
supporting Rockfon’s theories. See Int’l Constr., 2016 WL 264909, at *6.
Armstrong’s distribution arrangements certainly did not prevent Rockfon from entering
into the U.S. ceiling tile market in the first place. And no other competitor has been foreclosed.
Accordingly, now the market has four rather than three “major competitors.” D.I. 1 ¶ 41. And
while Rockfon claims the existence of “supra-competitive prices” (id. ¶ 44), it does not allege
any facts from which one could plausibly conclude that Armstrong’s allegedly higher prices are
in fact “supra-competitive” and not just indicative of superior quality (see supra at 9), or that
Armstrong’s exclusive arrangements caused this alleged harm. See PNY Techs., 2014 WL
2987322, at *10 n.17. In fact, Rockfon alleges that Armstrong’s prices began rising in 2011
(D.I. 1 ¶ 43)—two years before Rockfon’s entry and the complained-of adoption or expansion of
exclusivity agreements by Armstrong (id. ¶ 54).
The potential for the alleged exclusive agreements to have anticompetitive effects is also
unsupported by any allegations of “contracts of sufficient duration to prevent meaningful
competition by rivals.” ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d at 271.12 Rockfon does not allege the duration of
Armstrong’s distribution agreements or even suggest that it has been foreclosed from competing
for distributors who are not under exclusive contracts, or whose contracts are up for renewal.

12

See also Omega, 127 F.3d at 1163; Roland Mach. Co. v. Dresser Indus., Inc., 749 F.2d 380,
394 (7th Cir. 1984); Ticketmaster Corp. v. Tickets.Com, Inc., 2003 WL 21397701, at *5 (C.D.
Cal. Mar. 7, 2003).
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Rockfon alleges that Armstrong has sought to prevent distributors from terminating their
agreements by “refusing to sell” to distributors that “have actually terminated [exclusivity]
agreements” and “enforcing liquidated damages clauses against them.” D.I. 1 ¶ 59. But this is
not a case of a monopolist with 75-90% market share who threatens to withhold products
essential for a distributor to do business. Compare ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d at 285; Dentsply, 399
F.3d at 190. Nor are alleged liquidated damages a plausible basis for a claim of anticompetitive
conduct. See Barry Wright Corp. v. ITT Grinnell Corp., 724 F.2d 227, 238 (1st Cir. 1983).
c.

Allegations Confirm Valid Business Justifications For Exclusivity

There are “well-recognized benefits to exclusive dealing arrangements, including the
enhancement of interbrand competition.” Omega, 127 F.3d at 1162. Rockfon alleges that
distributors intensively promote the brands for which they have exclusives. D.I. 1 ¶ 88. Thus,
the complaint confirms a valid business justification for exclusive dealing: it could “lead[]
dealers to promote each manufacturer’s brand more vigorously than would be the case under
nonexclusive dealing,” such that “the quality-adjusted price to the consumer (where quality
includes the information and other services that dealers render to their customers) may be lower
with exclusive dealing than without.” Roland Mach., 749 F.3d at 395. Further, such
arrangements can prevent free-riding on the substantial investments that manufacturers (like
Armstrong) make with distributors to promote their own products. See Ryko Mfg., 823 F.2d at
1234 n.17; Roland Mach., 749 F.3d at 395. And they can “assure supply, price stability, outlets,
investment, best efforts or the like.” E. Food Servs. v. Pontifical Catholic Univ. Servs. Ass’n,
357 F.3d 1, 8 (1st Cir. 2004). Given the well-recognized procompetitive justifications for
exclusive distributorships, and Armstrong’s demonstrated track record of product development,
global brand recognition, and historical longevity as a premier building products company,
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Rockfon has not pled sufficient anticompetitive effects that could outweigh procompetitive
benefits and its complaint must be dismissed. See Int’l Constr., 2016 WL 264909, at *6-7.
2.

Rockfon Has Not Alleged Causal Antitrust Injury

In addition, Rockfon has failed to sufficiently plead antitrust injury. “To establish
antitrust injury, a plaintiff must show harm to competition, not just harm to the plaintiff
competitor.” Race Tires, 614 F.3d at 83; see also Int’l Constr., 2016 WL 264909, at *7.
Rockfon entered the market and became a “major” competitor (D.I. 1 ¶ 41), but now claims that
it is injured because it has not been able to quickly gain the same market share it occupies in
Europe (id. ¶ 81). Of course, this ignores the fact that Armstrong is a century-old brand (id. ¶
77) and would be expected to have a higher market share than a new foreign entrant. But in any
event, under the antitrust laws, Rockfon is not entitled to any particular market share. See Eisai,
821 F.3d at 403; Pool Water Prods. v. Olin Corp., 258 F.3d 1024, 1036 (9th Cir. 2001)
(“Shifting [plaintiffs’] sales to [defendant] . . . does not result in antitrust injury.”).
Further, the alleged causal connection between Armstrong’s conduct and Rockfon’s
claimed insufficient market share is weak to the point of implausibility. Rockfon admits that it
entered the U.S. market at a time when the market volume was declining. D.I. 1 ¶ 43. Rockfon
acknowledges that it has lost distributors “because of the consolidation of ” distributors (id.
¶ 65), which has nothing to do with Armstrong. Rockfon also admits that Armstrong had some
exclusive arrangements in place before Rockfon entered (id. ¶ 54); accordingly, such agreements
could not have caused its alleged injury. Moreover, to the extent Rockfon claims that Armstrong
terminated distributors and raised market prices (id. ¶¶ 59, 44), such conduct should have only
helped Rockfon to compete for the business of such distributors and end-users.
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“It is well established that competition among businesses to serve as an exclusive
supplier should actually be encouraged”; thus, the relevant question is whether Rockfon had the
opportunity to compete. Race Tires, 614 F.3d at 83. The complaint clearly pleads the existence
of competition at both the specification and distribution levels, and acknowledges that Rockfon
has enjoyed sufficient success to become a “major” competitor for such business. D.I. 1 ¶ 88.
Accordingly, Rockfon has not “suffered the kind of injury that gives rise to an antitrust claim.”
Race Tires, 614 F.3d at 84; see also NicSand, 507 F.3d at 456.
C.

Rockfon Has Not Pled A Plausible Tortious Interference Claim
Rockfon claims that it “had existing business relationships with certain distributors of

Ceiling Tiles and potential business relationships with others” with which Armstrong tortiously
interfered. D.I. 1 ¶¶ 121-123. Rockfon does not, however, plead the existence of a single
specific contract with which Armstrong allegedly interfered. The existence of such a contract is
a threshold requirement for stating a claim for tortious interference with contract. WaveDivision
Holdings, LLC v. Highland Capital Mgmt., L.P., 49 A.3d 1168, 1174 (Del. 2012); see also Hall
v. Maritek Corp., 2009 WL 1160372, at *3 (Del. Super. Ct. Apr. 29, 2009). At most, Rockfon
pleads that some, unidentified “existing ROCKFON distributors were forced to stop selling
ROCKFON ceiling tiles” (D.I. 1 ¶ 65), but this does not allege the existence of a contract or
termination (or breach) thereof, and thus does not suffice to state a claim for tortious interference
with contract. See Overdrive, Inc. v. Baker & Taylor, Inc., 2011 WL 2448209, at *9 (Del. Ch.
June 17, 2011) (dismissing claim because plaintiff “fail[ed] to identify a single contract that has
been breached due to defendant’s alleged conduct”); Wyshock v. Malezkadeh, 1992 WL 148002,
at *3 (Del. Super. Ct. June 10, 1992) (dismissal where “the complaint fails to identify the parties
to the contract or the contract which was breached because of defendant’s alleged statements”).
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Likewise, Rockfon’s claim that Armstrong has interfered with “potential business
relationships” fails to identify any “specific party who was prepared to enter[] into a business
relationship” with Rockfon but “was dissuaded from doing so” by Armstrong’s exclusive
agreements. Organovo Holdings, Inc. v. Dimitrov, 162 A.3d 102, 122 (Del. Ch. June 5, 2017).
Rockfon’s vague allegations of “potential business relationships” with “others interested in
working” with it are insufficient to state a claim. See id. (plaintiff “must identify a specific party
who was prepared to enter[] into a business relationship but was dissuaded from doing so by the
defendant and cannot rely on generalized allegations of harm”); Wyshock, 1992 WL 148002, at
*3 (dismissing because “the complaint fails to identify the parties and the subject matter of the
business opportunity as to which there was a reasonable probability of fruition which ended
because of defendant’s alleged [conduct]”). Further, even if Rockfon had adequately pled the
existence of such prospective business opportunities, Armstrong is privileged to “compete
aggressively for market share.” Lipson v. Anesthesia Servs., P.A., 790 A.2d 1261, 1287 (Del.
Super. Ct. 2001). Rockfon fails to allege that Armstrong has done anything other than
compete—and win—such opportunities.
V.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, Armstrong requests that Rockfon’s complaint be dismissed
with prejudice without leave to amend.
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NATURE AND STAGE OF PROCEEDINGS
On September 1, 2017, Roxul USA, Inc. d/b/a Rockfon (“Rockfon”) filed its Complaint
alleging that Armstrong World Industries, Inc. (“Armstrong”) violated Sections 1 and 2 of the
Sherman Act, Section 3 of the Clayton Act, and tortiously interfered with Rockfon’s business
relations. On November 11, 2017, Armstrong moved to dismiss Rockfon’s Complaint (D.I. 9)
and filed its Opening Brief in support thereof (D.I. 10). Rockfon hereby submits this Answering
Brief in opposition to Armstrong’s Motion to Dismiss.
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
Armstrong’s motion to dismiss suffers from a misreading of Rockfon’s Complaint and
misapplication of Third Circuit precedent (oftentimes avoiding Third Circuit case law
altogether).

Armstrong’s motion asks this Court to engage in speculation, mathematical

calculations, and in-depth fact analyses of what discovery may show; all acts that are
inappropriate for the adjudication of a motion to dismiss. Instead, when applying the proper
standard, it is clear that Rockfon’s Complaint pleads that Armstrong’s exclusivity agreements
discourage new entrants in the market, restrict consumer choice, stifle innovation, limit output,
increase prices, hamper competition on the merits, and allow Armstrong to maintain and enhance
its monopoly power. As explained in more detail below, nothing more is required at this stage
and Armstrong’s motion should be denied.
First, Armstrong’s argument that its exclusive dealing agreements cannot be
anticompetitive because Armstrong only has 55% market share is without merit. As an initial
matter, case law is settled that 55% market share is sufficient to establish monopoly power in
certain circumstances. And, in addition to market share, Rockfon pleads numerous facts that
show Armstrong’s power over price and monopoly power, such as the number and strength of

1
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competing firms, barriers to entry in the market, pricing trends, and consumer demand factors.
These factual allegations, coupled with Armstrong’s market share, easily set forth a plausible
factual basis for monopoly power. Second, Armstrong’s attempt to discredit Rockfon’s
foreclosure share through the availability of alternative means of distribution is equally flawed.
Rockfon’s Complaint explains in great detail the futility of potential alternative means of
distribution that exist. Nothing more is required at this stage of the litigation. Third, simply
because Armstrong can list possible justifications for its exclusivity agreements does not
necessitate that they are pro-competitive. Moreover, pro-competitive justifications are a fact
intensive analysis not appropriate at the motion to dismiss stage of litigation. Lastly, Rockfon’s
tortious interference claim is supported by a myriad of factual allegations in the Complaint
involving Armstrong’s interference with Rockfon’s distribution network. Ultimately, explained
in great detail infra, Rockfon’s Complaint articulates sufficient facts to state claims for relief and
Armstrong’s motion to dismiss should be denied.
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
Rockfon brings this action against Armstrong for violations of Sections 1 and 2 of the
Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1 and 2, Section 3 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 14, and for
tortiously interfering with Rockfon’s business relations. All claims are based upon Armstrong’s
use of exclusive dealing agreements to leverage its monopoly power in order to illegally restrain
competition in the relevant ceiling tile marketplace.
Relevant Market
Rockfon and Armstrong are competing manufacturers in the market for suspended
acoustical ceiling tiles (“Ceiling Tiles”) sold in the United States and Canada (the “Geographic
Market”) (collectively, the “Relevant Market”).

2
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Ceilings Tiles, along with

Case 1:17-cv-01258-MAK Document 11 Filed 12/22/17 Page 9 of 27 PageID #: 83

suspension systems (“Grid Systems”), make up acoustic ceiling systems (“Acoustic Ceiling
Systems”) that are used in residential and non-residential developments as an efficient, costeffective means to conceal a building’s structural ceiling. Id. ¶¶ 7, 11, 16, 26-27.
Distribution of Ceiling Tiles
The primary and critical channel for sales of Ceiling Tiles in the Geographic Market is
through a network of Specialty Building Products Distributors (“Building Products
Distributors”). Id. ¶ 29. Building Products Distributors provide unique value-added services
that contractors rely upon, including logistics planning, technical product expertise, same-day
delivery, stocking services, credit, and specialized payment terms. Id. ¶ 32. Building Products
Distributors also offer a full-line product offering, in addition to Ceiling Tiles, to meet all of a
contractor’s needs. Id. ¶ 31. As such, Building Products Distributors are the only viable channel
to reach the Ceiling Tile market. Id. ¶¶ 31-32, 35-36. Direct sales to job sites or sales through
big-box home improvement supplies retailing companies, for example, are insufficient to meet
the demands of commercial projects. Id. ¶ 36. Accordingly, manufacturers, such as Rockfon
and Armstrong, sell approximately 85% of Acoustic Ceiling Systems through Building Products
Distributors. Id. ¶ 30.
Armstrong’s Exclusive Dealing Agreements
In direct response to Rockfon’s entry in the United States market, Armstrong adopted
and/or amended targeted exclusivity agreements with critical Building Products Distributors. Id.
¶¶ 54-55. When a Building Products Distributor has an exclusivity agreement with Armstrong in
a certain region, it is prohibited from stocking and selling competing Ceiling Tiles in that region.
Id. ¶¶ 57-59. Armstrong has taken adverse action against Building Products Distributors who
sell Rockfon Ceiling Tile in regions even where no exclusivity exists with Armstrong by refusing

3
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to sell or raising the prices of Armstrong’s products in exclusive territories. Id. ¶¶ 58-62.
Armstrong, with at least 55% market share, has leveraged its monopoly power to coerce Building
Products Distributors from selling Rockfon Ceiling Tiles. Id. ¶¶ 39, 63, 67. Therefore, even
when architects specify Rockfon, or a competing brand, and contractors seek to fulfill these
“specs” from Building Products Distributors, they cannot do so. Id. ¶ 88.
Anticompetitive Effects
Armstrong’s exclusivity agreements have significantly limited new competition in the
Geographic Market, resulting in fewer competitors than in other geographic markets around the
globe.

Id. ¶ 78, 82-83, 85.

By limiting competition, Armstrong’s exclusivity agreements

succeed in maintaining Armstrong’s monopoly power, limiting market information and
consumer choice, and ultimately raising prices of Ceiling Tiles. Id. ¶¶ 89-94. Despite Rockfon’s
entry in the Geographic Market, Armstrong continued to raise prices despite decreasing volume,
charging more than 5% in excess of competitive prices. Id. ¶¶ 43, 74. Consequently, Armstrong
has recognized greater than 15% EBITDA margin growth over the past several years. Id. ¶ 45.
Armstrong’s exclusivity agreements create no market efficiency and serve no legitimate
business purpose other than to stifle competition, artificially raise prices of competing Ceiling
Tiles, discourage new market entrants, and increase Armstrong’s monopoly power. Id. ¶ 71.
While Rockfon offers a full-line of high quality Ceiling Tiles and is equipped to challenge
Armstrong in the Ceiling Tile market, with no adequate distribution channel, it has been limited
in its ability to compete and gain market share. Id. ¶ 72.
ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES
Pursuant to Rule 8 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a complaint must contain “a
short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.” Fed. R. Civ.

4
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P. 8(a)(2). A court considering a motion to dismiss need not decide whether a party will
ultimately prevail at trial, but only whether the party is entitled to present evidence in support of
its claim. Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974); Wilkerson v. New Media Techn. Charter
Sch. Inc., 522 F.3d 315, 321 (3d Cir. 2008). A complaint must contain “a short and plain
statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief, in order to give the defendant
fair notice of what the … claim is and the grounds upon which it rests.” Bell Atl. Corp. v.
Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 545 (2007) (internal quotations omitted). The court must accept all
well-pleaded factual allegations as true, and view them in the light most favorable to the
plaintiff. Worldcom, Inc. v. Graphnet, Inc., 343 F.3d 651, 653 (3d Cir. 2003). Dismissal is
appropriate only if a party is unable to articulate “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is
plausible on its face.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570. Taken as true, Rockfon’s Complaint clearly
satisfies the requirements set forth in Rule 8 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The
Complaint appropriately places Armstrong on notice of Rockfon’s claims and the grounds upon
which they rest. As such, this Court must deny Armstrong’s Motion to Dismiss.
I.

ROCKFON’S COMPLAINT ALLEGES SUFFICIENT FACTS TO STATE A
PLAUSIBLE ANTITRUST VIOLATION
The crux of Rockfon’s Complaint is that Armstrong’s use of exclusivity agreements with

key Building Products Distributors has resulted in harm to competition in violation of Sections 1
and 2 of the Sherman Act, and Section 3 of the Clayton Act. Armstrong claims that Rockfon has
failed to plead 1) anticompetitive conduct and 2) anticompetitive injury. In doing so, however,
not only does Armstrong ignore the allegations in Rockfon’s Complaint, but it also overlooks
Third Circuit precedent controlling Rockfon’s pleading obligations.
Anticompetitive Conduct:

“[B]ehavior that otherwise might comply with antitrust law

may be impermissibly exclusionary when practiced by a monopolist.” United States v. Dentsply
5
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Int’l, Inc., 399 F.3d 181, 187 (3d Cir. 2005); LePage’s Inc. v. 3M, 324 F.3d 141, 151-52 (3d Cir.
2003). Whether conduct amounts to anticompetitive conduct requires a fact-intensive inquiry.
LePage’s, 324 F.3d at 152 (“[a]nticompetitive conduct can come in too many different forms,
and is too dependent upon context, for any court or commentator ever to have enumerated all the
varieties.” (quoting Caribbean Broad. Sys., Ltd. v. Cable & Wireless P.L.C., 148 F.3d 1080,
1087 (D.C. Cir. 1998)); see also W. Penn Allegheny Health Sys., Inc. v. UPMC, 627 F.3d 85, 99
(3d Cir. 2010). Accordingly, Armstrong’s invitation to delve into the merits of Rockfon’s
allegations as to monopoly power and substantial foreclosure is inappropriate for a Rule 12(b)(6)
motion.

Instead, at this stage, the Court must simply determine whether Rockfon pleads

sufficient facts to demonstrate anticompetitive conduct. Discussed infra, Rockfon’s Complaint
presents ample facts to meet its pleading standard as to anticompetitive conduct under Rule 8 and
Rule 12(b)(6).
Anticompetitive Injury:

It is undisputed that “[f]ailure to properly plead antitrust

injury will result in plaintiffs lacking the requisite standing to sue.” Avenarius v. Eaton Corp.,
C.A. No. 11-09-SLR, 2012 WL 4903373, at *3 (D. Del. Oct. 16, 2012) (citing Gulfstream III
Assocs. Inc. v. Gulfstream Aerospace Corp., 995 F.2d 425, 429 (3d Cir. 1993)). The analysis of
whether adequate antitrust injury has been pled amounts to little more than an inquiry into
whether a plaintiff has proper standing to bring the lawsuit. As shown infra, Rockfon alleges
facts sufficient to demonstrate that Armstrong’s exclusivity agreements discourage new entrants
in the market, restrict consumer choice, and decrease competition. See e.g., Compl. ¶¶ 71, 8994. At this stage, these facts easily establish the “antitrust injury” required for standing. Nothing
more is required to succeed on a motion to dismiss. Armstrong’s motion should be denied.
A. ROCKFON PLEADS PLAUSIBLE ANTICOMPETITIVE CONDUCT

6
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In an attempt to convince the Court that Rockfon has not pled anticompetitive conduct,
Armstrong improperly concludes that Rockfon has failed to allege any facts establishing: 1)
sufficient monopoly power; 2) substantial foreclosure; or 3) anticompetitive effects.
1. Rockfon Alleges that Armstrong Has Monopoly Power
A. Rockfon Pleads Several Indicators of Armstrong’s Monopoly Power
Recognizing that exclusive dealing agreements may be anticompetitive when employed
by a monopolist, Armstrong argues that “Rockfon fails to plead facts showing that Armstrong is
a monopolist.”

D.I. 10 (“Mot.”) at 7.

Armstrong ignores the alleged facts in Rockfon’s

Complaint demonstrating Armstrong’s monopoly power. See, e.g., Compl. ¶¶ 38-50. Armstrong
simply points to Rockfon’s allegation that Armstrong has a market share of 55%, concluding that
this is insufficient as a matter of law to establish it as a monopolist.
It is well settled in the Third Circuit that 55% market share is sufficient to establish
monopoly power when buttressed by other evidence tending to show market power.1 Fineman v.
Armstrong World Indus., Inc., 980 F.2d 171, 203 (3d Cir. 1992); see also Weiss v. York Hosp.,
745 F.2d 786, 827 n.72 (3d Cir. 1984) (“The courts consider more than just the percentage of the
market share in determining monopoly power.”). In Fineman v. Armstrong World Indus., the
Third Circuit explained that “[a] less than predominant share of the market, combined with other
relevant factors may suffice to demonstrate monopoly power.” 980 F.2d at 203. The Court
pointed to several factors, other than market share, indicative of market power, such as:
Other Circuits have likewise found monopoly power to exist with 55% market share.
See, e.g., Valley Liquors, Inc. v. Renfield Importers, Ltd., 822 F.2d 656, 666 (7th Cir. 1987);
Broadway Delivery Corp. v. United Parcel Serv. of Am., Inc., 651 F.2d 122, 129 (2d Cir. 1981)
(explaining that market share below 50% is rarely evidence of monopoly power, between 5070% may show monopoly power, and greater than 70% is more than adequate evidence of
monopoly power.); Cliff Food Stores, Inc. v. Kroger, Inc., 417 F.2d 203, 207 n.2 (5th Cir. 1969)
(indicating “something more than 50% of the market is a prerequisite to a finding of monopoly
power”).
1

7
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1.

size and strength of competing firms;

2.

freedom of entry into the field;

3.

pricing trends and practices in the industry;

4.

ability of consumers to substitute comparable goods or services from outside the
market; and

5.

consumer demand factors.

Id. at 202. Ultimately, the existence of monopoly power may be inferred “from the structure and
composition of the relevant market.” Broadcom Corp. v. Qualcomm Inc., 501 F.3d 297, 307 (3d
Cir. 2007) (citing Harrison Aire, Inc. v. Aerostar Int'l, Inc., 423 F.3d 374, 381 (3d Cir. 2005)).
Determining monopoly power involves a highly fact-intensive analysis not proper for a motion
to dismiss. See, e.g., Town Sound and Custom Tops, Inc. v. Chrysler Motors Corp., 959 F.2d
468, 481 (3d Cir. 1992) (“The question of market power is certainly dependent on factual
findings ….”); In re Remeron Direct Purchaser Antitrust Litig., 367 F. Supp. 2d 675, 679 (D.
N.J. 2005) (noting the “highly fact-intensive nature of determining monopoly power”).
Rockfon pleads numerous facts, which, when combined with Armstrong’s market share,
clearly set forth a plausible factual basis for a finding of monopoly power. As an initial matter,
Rockfon’s Complaint asserts that Armstrong has “at least 55% market share,” meeting the
threshold market share set by Fineman v. Armstrong World Indus. and Dentsply. Compl. ¶ 39
(emphasis added). While Armstrong’s market share alone sufficiently shows monopoly power
here, Rockfon goes further and alleges facts relevant to support Armstrong’s monopoly power.
First, as to size and strength of competing manufacturers, Rockfon pleads that there are only four
major competitors in the market. Id. ¶ 41. Second, Armstrong’s exclusivity arrangements with
Building Products Distributors, who continue to consolidate, have created significant barriers to
entry for new competitors. Id. ¶¶ 48-49. Third, pricing trends also demonstrate Armstrong’s

8

Case 1:17-cv-01258-MAK Document 11 Filed 12/22/17 Page 15 of 27 PageID #: 89

monopoly power, as Armstrong has consistently raised prices despite selling a lower volume of
Ceiling Tiles in recent years. Id. ¶¶ 42-45. At the same time, Armstrong has recognized
EBITDA margin growth of over 15%. Id. ¶ 45. Fourth, consumers do not substitute comparable
products from outside the relevant product market because Ceiling Tiles are by far the most costeffective material for large-scale projects, for which more expensive specialty ceiling tiles are
not a reasonable alternative. Id. ¶¶ 26-27, 47. Finally, consumers do not purchase Ceiling Tiles
intended for markets outside the Geographic Market because of world-wide regulatory and
product differences. Id. ¶¶ 24-25, 47. These facts, coupled with Armstrong’s significant market
share, sufficiently set forth a plausible factual basis for a finding of monopoly power.
While Rockfon pleads a number of facts demonstrating Armstrong’s monopoly power,
most telling is the fact that Armstrong increased prices despite volume declines. Id. ¶¶ 42-45.
This alone sufficiently establishes monopoly power. See Broadcom, 501 F.3d at 307; Shionogi
Pharma, Inc. v. Mylan, Inc., C.A. No. 10-1077, 2011 WL 2174499, at *5 (D. Del. May 26,
2011). Raising prices in a declining market is the essence of monopoly power and an antitrust
violation; indeed, “[i]f a firm can profitably raise prices without causing competing firms to
expand output and drive down prices, that firm has monopoly power.” Broadcom, 501 F.3d at
307; see also Shionogi, 2011 WL 2174499, at *5 (“A party may establish monopoly power by
presenting direct evidence of supracompetitive prices and restricted output ….” (internal
quotations omitted)). Thus, Rockfon alleges plausible monopoly power, as set forth above.
B. Armstrong’s Attempts to Discredit Rockfon’s Allegations of Monopoly
Power Are Unsuccessful and Improper for a Motion to Dismiss
Nevertheless, Armstrong attempts to discount several monopoly power factors by
pointing to conjecture not relevant to this Court’s analysis of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion. Armstrong
argues that “even assuming that Armstrong can charge 5% higher prices than one or more of its
9
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competitors, that may simply be an indication of quality and of Armstrong’s century-old,
globally recognized brand name.” Mot. at 9 (emphasis added). Armstrong further finds fault
with Rockfon’s Complaint for failing to plead “how the alleged price increases compared to costs
(as volumes decreased), or how Armstrong’s economic margins compare to others in the relevant
market.” Mot. at 8 (emphasis added). And, Armstrong opines that 15% margin growth over
seven years “reveal[s] ‘very little about [defendant’s] market power’” because “rates of return
are more a reflection of various accounting conventions than true economic profit.” Mot. at 8
(citing Bailey v. Allgas, Inc., 284 F.3d 1237, 1252 (11th Cir. 2002)) (emphasis added).2 Each
Armstrong argument raises a question of fact. Alternative explanations, hypotheses, and factual
analyses are immaterial where the Court must “accept as true all material allegations of the
complaint” and “construct the complaint in favor of the plaintiff.” Arthrocare Corp. v. Smith &
Nephew, Inc., C.A. No. 01-504-SLR, 2004 WL 896002, at *2 (D. Del. Mar. 10, 2004) (citing
Trump Hotels & Casino Resorts, Inc. v. Mirage Resorts, Inc., 140 F.3d 478, 483 (3d Cir. 1998)).3
In support of these arguments, Armstrong cites to the Second Circuit opinion of Geneva
Pharm. Tech. Corp. v. Barr Labs. Inc., 386 F.3d 485 (2d Cir. 2004) and the Eleventh Circuit
decision of Bailey v. Allgas, Inc., 284 F.3d 1237 (11th Cir. 2002). In each, the Court engaged in
fact-intensive analyses while facing motions for summary judgment, not motions to dismiss.
2

Nonetheless, in Geneva, the Court remarked: “We recognize plaintiff’s pricing proof
may of course be indicative of monopoly power,” suggesting such an allegation would suffice at
a motion to dismiss proceeding. Geneva Pharm. Tech., 386 F. 3d at 500 (emphasis added). And
in Bailey, the Court noted: “[T]he consistent extraction of supracompetitive profits may be an
indication of anticompetitive market power.” Bailey, 284 F.3d at 1252 (emphasis added).
Further, courts recognize that margins are an indication of market power; thus,
allegations of increasing margins are sufficient to plead market power. See Dentsply, 399 F.3d at
191 (“Dentsply’s profit margins have been growing…. The picture is one of a manufacturer that
sets prices with little concern for its competitors, something a firm without a monopoly would
have been unable to do.” (internal quotations omitted)); see also In re Loestrin 24 Fe Antitrust
Litig., C.A. No. 1:13-MD-2472-S-PAS, 2017 WL 3600938, at *13 (D.R.I. Aug. 8, 2017) (finding
that “at this preliminary [motion to dismiss] stage of the case” plaintiff sufficiently pled market
power when alleging, in part, that defendant “enjoy[ed] high profit margins.”); MacDermid
Printing Solutions, Inc. v. Cortron Corp., C.A. No. 3:08CV1649 MPS, 2014 WL 2615361, at *5
(D. Conn. Jun. 12, 2014) (“high profit margin is suggestive of market power”). And again, while
3
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Simply put, while Armstrong debates that increased prices despite volume declines, margin
increases, and supra competitive prices may not indicate monopoly power, in so doing,
Armstrong concedes that each allegation may suggest that it has monopoly power. Therefore, at
this stage of the proceedings, these allegations sufficiently allege plausible monopoly power.
2. Rockfon Alleges Substantial Foreclosure
A. Rockfon Pleads the Existence of Substantial Foreclosure
Rockfon alleges foreclosure from 65% of the market.4 Additionally, where a complaint
alleges sufficient facts that plausibly suggest exclusivity agreements “significantly limited” “the
opportunities for other [manufacturers] to enter or remain in [the] market,” it alleges substantial
foreclosure. See United States v. Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34, 69 (D.C. Cir. 2001); see also
F.T.C. v. Qualcomm Inc., C.A. No. 17-CV-00220-LHJ, 2017 WL 2774406, at *24 (N.D. Cal.
Jun. 26, 2017). Plaintiffs need not plead more, as the substantial foreclosure analysis requires a
fact-intensive study of the “qualitative conditions of the particular market” inapt for a motion to
margin increases may plausibly result from various explanations, such speculation is
inappropriate for a motion to dismiss. See Arthrocare Corp. 2004 WL 896002, at *2.
4

Armstrong, relying on out-of-circuit Omega Envt’l., Inc. v. Gilbarco, Inc., 127 F.3d
1157 (9th Cir. 1997), attempts to argue that Rockfon’s alleged foreclosure share of 65% is
legally untenable because it exceeds the “maximum” foreclosure of Armstrong’s alleged market
share of 55%. Mot. at 10. Once more, Armstrong’s argument ignores central allegations in
Rockfon’s Complaint and confuses Rockfon’s pleading obligations under Rule 12(b)(6).
Reading the Complaint in full, Rockfon alleges an explanation as to why it is foreclosed from “at
least 65%” of the market. Compl. ¶ 66. Armstrong leverages its market power and exclusive
relationships by threatening to cut off Building Products Distributors should they sell Rockfon
Ceiling Tiles in non-exclusive territories. See id. ¶¶ 58-62. Even in regions where Armstrong
Ceiling Tiles are not available for certain Building Products Distributors, Armstrong coerces
these distributors to refrain from selling Rockfon’s Ceiling Tiles. See id. Thus, Rockfon has
alleged facts that support Armstrong’s ability to foreclose Rockfon from a greater share of the
market than represented by Armstrong’s own market share.
Nevertheless, the specific percentage of foreclosure that Rockfon pleads in its Complaint
is not dispositive. Rockfon has alleged ample facts highlighting the inability of manufacturers to
enter and remain in the market. See id. ¶¶ 80-83, 91; Microsoft, 253 F.3d at 69. Without the
benefit of discovery, Rockfon need not do more.
11
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dismiss. ZF Meritor, LLC v. Eaton Corp., 696 F. 3d 254, 327 (3d Cir. 2012) (Greenberg, J.
dissenting); see also Barr Labs., Inc. v. Abbott Labs., 978 F.2d 98, 111 (3d Cir. 1992). 5
Rockfon’s Complaint alleges facts highlighting the inability of manufacturers to enter
and remain in the Ceiling Tile market due to Armstrong’s exclusivity agreements, indicating
foreclosure. See Microsoft, 253 F.3d at 69; see also ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d at 271 (“[S]uppose an
established manufacturer has long held a dominant position but is starting to lose market share to
a young aggressive rival. A set of strategically planned exclusive dealing contracts may slow a
rival’s expansion by requiring it to develop alternative outlets for its products or rely at least
temporarily on inferior or more expensive outlets. Consumer injury results from the delay that
the dominant firm imposes on the smaller rival’s growth.” (quoting Phillip Areeda & Herbert
Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law ¶ 1802c, at 64 (2d ed. 2002))). Without access to Building Products
Distributors and adequate distribution, new and existing manufacturers cannot successfully
compete in the Relevant Market. Compl. ¶¶ 50, 72, 85-86. New entrants, like Rockfon most
recently, cannot gain sustainable market share in the Geographic Market. Id. ¶¶ 72, 81-82.
Consequently, Armstrong’s exclusivity agreements have significantly limited competition in the
Determining the percentage of substantial foreclosure involves a fact-intensive inquiry,
and plaintiffs need not plead a specific percentage to survive a motion to dismiss. See, e.g., E.I.
du Pont de Nemours & Co. v. Kolon Indus., Inc., 637 F.3d 435, 452 n. 12 (4th Cir. 2011)
(“While Kolon did not allege a specific percentage of market foreclosure in its Counterclaim, it
would be problematic to reject its Counterclaim, with its extensive factual allegations, solely on
the basis at the pre-discovery, motion-to-dismiss stage.”); F.T.C. v. Qualcomm, 2017 WL
2774406, at *24 (“[A]t the motion to dismiss stage, a plaintiff is not necessarily required to
allege a specific percentage of foreclosure.”); Methodist Health Servs. Corp. v. OSF Healthcare
Sys., C.A. No. 1:13-CV-01054-SLD-JEH, 2015 WL 1399229, at *7 (C.D. Ill. Mar. 25, 2015)
(although plaintiff “fail[ed] to allege an exact percentage foreclosure in its pleadings,” plaintiff
“pleaded factual allegations from which this Court can reasonable infer that, with the benefit of
discovery, [plaintiff] will be able to establish the extent to which it is foreclosed from the …
market”); In re Ductile Iron Pipe Fittings (DIPF) Direct Purchaser Antitrust Litig., C.A. No.
12-711, 2013 WL 812143, at *19 (D.N.J. Mar. 5, 2013) (“[W]hether the alleged exclusive
dealing arrangements foreclosed a substantial share … is a merits questions not proper for the
pleading stage.”).
5
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Geographic Market. See, e.g., Compl. ¶¶ 80-83, 85-86, 91. Reading the Complaint in the light
most favorable to Rockfon, Rockfon adequately pleads the substantial foreclosure necessary to
allege anticompetitive conduct. Nothing more is required at this stage of the litigation.
Moreover, even accepting that market foreclosure in this case may prove to be less than
65% (which Rockfon disputes), a much smaller percentage of foreclosure may be considered
“substantial foreclosure.” See Stop & Shop Supermarket Co. v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of R.I.,
373 F.3d 57, 68 (1st Cir. 2004) (30 to 40 percent); LePage’s Inc., 324 F.3d at 159 (less than 4050 percent); Microsoft, 253 F.3d 34 at 58. Courts have repeatedly found antitrust violations even
in the absence of substantial foreclosure altogether. See Microsoft., 253 F.3d 34 (finding liability
despite no foreclosure and access to all consumers through free Internet downloads or CD-ROM
mailings); United States v. Visa USA, Inc., 163 F. Supp. 2d 322 (S.D.N.Y. 2001), aff’d 344 F.3d
229 (2d. Cir. 2003) (finding liability although competitors could reach all potential cardholders
through mailings, but the exclusion from bank issuers raised the price of network services to
banks); Avery Dennison Corp. v. ACCO Brands, Inc., 2000-1 Trade Cas. (CCH) ¶ 72, 882 (C.D.
Cal. 2000) (denying summary disposition as the restraints at issue enhanced and protected the
defendants’ market power, despite minimal foreclosure); R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. Phillip
Morris Inc., 60 F. Supp. 2d 502 (M.D.N.C. 1999) (granting preliminary injunction after finding
defendant used market power to gain a significant competitive advantage despite minimal
foreclosure); see also Jonathan M. Jacobson, Exclusive Dealing, “Foreclosure,” and Consumer
Harm, 70 ANTITRUST L.J. 311, 311 (2002) (arguing against the use of substantial foreclosure
percentage as a proxy for antitrust liability). Thus, even if the Court determined the alleged
foreclosure to be lacking in Rockfon’s Complaint, dismissal would still be inappropriate as such
a finding is not dispositive of the antitrust claims asserted.

13
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B. Alternative Channels of Distribution Do Not Preclude Substantial Foreclosure
Armstrong’s substantial foreclosure argument mistakenly focuses on the proposition that
“Rockfon’s complaint discloses the existence of alternative channels of distribution.” Mot. at 11.
The Third Circuit has repeatedly made clear that the mere existence of alternative channels of
distribution does not negate foreclosure — a manufacturer may be foreclosed from the relevant
market despite the existence of alternative means of distribution where such channels are not
viable or effective. See, e.g., Dentsply, 399 F.3d at 193 (“That some manufacturers resort to
direct sales and are even able to stay in business by selling directly is insufficient proof that
direct selling is an effective means of competition. The proper inquiry is not whether direct sales
enable a competitor to ‘survive’ but rather whether direct selling ‘poses a real threat’ to
defendant's monopoly.” (citing Microsoft, 253 F.3d at 71) (emphasis added)); ZF Meritor, 696
F. 3d at 287 (3d Cir. 2012) (holding that excluding rivals from promotion in dealer’s databook
sufficed to prove anticompetitive effects, even though the rival “remained free to market directly
to truck buyers,” because “buyers were far more likely to select a product listed in the data
book.”); GN Netcom, Inc. v. Plantronics, Inc., C.A. No. 12-1318-LPS, 2017 WL 4416525, at *3
(D. Del. Sept. 29, 2017). Ultimately, “[t]he mere existence of other avenues of distribution is
insufficient without an assessment of their overall significance to the market.”6 Dentsply, 399
F.3d at 196 (emphasis added); see also GN Netcom, Inc. v. Plantronics, Inc., 2017 WL 4416525,
Armstrong’s argument relies heavily on out-of-circuit decisions, particularly Omega,
127 F.3d 1157. However, the Court in Omega delved into the viability of alternative channels of
distribution, as the Court faced a motion for summary judgment rather than a motion to dismiss:
“The record contains undisputed evidence that direct sales to end-users are an alternative channel
of distribution in this market.” Id. at 1163 (emphasis added).
6

Further, Omega does not represent the law of the Third Circuit, and its holding regarding
alternative channels of distribution was specifically rejected by the Third Circuit in Dentsply. See
United States v. Dentsply Int’l, Inc., C.A. No. 99-255-SLR, 2001 WL 624807, at *8-9 (D. Del.
Mar. 30, 2001).
14
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at *3. Whether alternative channels are viable is, therefore, a fact-intensive inquiry not ripe for a
motion to dismiss analysis.
Moreover, Rockfon pleads that potential alternative avenues of distribution are
ineffective options for manufacturers in the Ceiling Tile market.

Only Building Products

Distributors provide vital value-added services to contractors, so “direct sales to job sites or sales
through big-box home improvement supplies retailing companies are insufficient to meet the
needs of most contracting projects, due to their inability to meet the logistical, servicing, and
expertise needs of such projects.” Compl. ¶¶ 35-36. And, while architects do specify the brand
and performance of ceiling tiles, “[w]hen a contractor attempts to fulfill a ROCKFON spec with
a Building Products Distributor that has an exclusivity agreement with the Defendant, (1) the
Building Products Distributor will seek to change the ROCKFON spec and sell Defendant’s
Ceiling Tile instead, or (2) the contractor must seek a less desirable distributor, resulting in
additional cost as well as logistical and customer service issues that negatively affect
ROCKFON’s brand.” Id. ¶ 88. Further, “Building Products Distributors are unable to terminate
the exclusivity agreements with Defendant” because Armstrong has retaliated against those who
attempt to do so. Id. ¶ 59. As the Third Circuit decided, the mere existence of alternative, yet
ineffective, distribution channels cannot lead to dismissal of Rockfon’s Complaint.
3. Rockfon Alleges Anticompetitive Effects
Armstrong utilizes several pages of its motion to discount the anticompetitive effects of
its exclusive dealing agreements as well as proffer pro-competitive, business justifications for the
practice. However, “[e]xclusive agreements are not always pro-competitive, even where they
provide some benefits.” GN Netcom, Inc. v. Plantronics, Inc., 967 F. Supp. 2d 1082, 1086 (D.
Del. 2013) (Stark, J.) (emphasis added) (denying motion to dismiss based on same argument);
see also ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d at 289. Even where Armstrong can point to pro-competitive
15
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justifications for its exclusivity arrangements, the agreements must be no more restrictive than
necessary to achieve Armstrong’s goals. See Aspen Skiing Co. v. Aspen Highlands Skiing Corp.,
472 U.S. 585, 605 (1985); ZF Meritor, 696 F. 3d at 344. Thus, merely offering pro-competitive
explanations for Armstrong’s exclusive agreements does not resolve this issue.

More

importantly, these arguments are ill-fit for a motion to dismiss.7 Application of the rule of reason
and the weighing of pro-competitive versus anti-competitive facts is a fact-intensive inquiry. See
King Drug Co. of Florence, Inc. v. SmithKline Beecham Corp., 791 F.3d 388, 411 (3d Cir. 2015).
Accordingly, “[t]o plausibly state a claim for exclusive dealing subject to the rule of
reason, plaintiffs must plead 1) the relevant product market, 2) the relevant geographic market
and 3) that the contract forecloses a substantial share of the competition in the relevant product
and geographic markets.” Int’l Constr. Prod. LLC v. Caterpillar Inc., C.A. No. 15-108-RGA,
2016 WL 4445232, at *4 (D. Del. Aug. 22, 2016). Here, Armstrong posits no challenge to either
Rockfon’s product or geographic market, and Rockfon’s Complaint provides sufficient detail to
support its proposed market definition. Compl. ¶¶ 6-27.8 Further, as discussed supra, Rockfon
has alleged substantial foreclosure in the Relevant Market. See Part I.A.2. While Armstrong is
correct that “the legality of exclusive dealing is judged under the rule of reason” (Mot. at 6),
Rockfon has met the Third Circuit’s pleading standard at the motion to dismiss stage.9
See GN Netcom, Inc., 967 F. Supp. 2d at 1088 (neglecting to consider defendant’s
anticompetitive conduct motion to dismiss argument, finding it resolved by a determination of
antitrust injury).
7

Rockfon alleges: “The relevant market for this action is the sale of suspended
acoustical ceiling tiles (“Ceiling Tiles”) sold in the United States and Canada (the “Geographic
Market”) (collectively the “Market”). Compl. ¶ 6. A market definition survives a motion to
dismiss unless it makes “no economic sense under any set of facts” and is “inherently
implausible.” GN Netcom, Inc., 967 F. Supp. 2d at 1087 (quoting PepsiCo, Inc. v. Coca-Cola
Co., C.A. No. 98 CIV 3282 LAP, 1998 WL 547088, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 27, 1998)).
8

Even if the Court were to indulge in a rule of reason analysis, Rockfon pleads sufficient
anticompetitive effects to plausibly conclude that Armstrong’s exclusive dealing agreements are
9
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B. ROCKFON ALLEGES PLAUSIBLE ANTITRUST INJURY
As stated by this Court, to properly plead antitrust injury and defeat a motion to dismiss,
"a plaintiff must show: (1) harm of the type the antitrust laws were intended to prevent; and (2)
an injury to the plaintiff that flows from that which makes the defendant's acts unlawful."
Avenarius, 2012 WL 4903373, at *5 (citing Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat, Inc., 429
U.S. 477, 489 (1977); Race Tires Am., Inc. v. Hoosier Racing Tire Corp., 614 F.3d 57, 76 (3d
Cir. 2010)). The Avenarius Court set forth the pleading standard under each of these two prongs:
Prong one of the above test can be satisfied by pleading any one
of several types of harm. A "decrease in competition" is one type
of harm the antitrust laws were intended to prevent. Gulfstream,
995 F.2d at 429. Another is the payment of higher consumer prices
as a result of monopolistic activity or anticompetitive conduct.
Harrison Aire, 423 F.3d 374; In re DDAVP Direct Purchaser
Antitrust Litig., 585 F.3d 677, 688 (2d Cir. 2009).
Prong two is generally satisfied by alleging that plaintiff is a
"competitor or consumer in the relevant market." Gulfstream, 995
F.2d at 429. The second prong can also be satisfied by showing a
"'significant causal connection' such that the harm to the plaintiff
can be said to be 'inextricably intertwined' with the antitrust
conspiracy." Id. (quoting Blue Shield of Virginia v. McCready, 457
U.S. 465, 484 (1982)).
Id. at *4 (emphasis added). Here, Rockfon pleads facts that easily satisfy both prongs.
“anticompetitive or exclusionary.” ZF Meritor, 696 F. 3d 254 at 271. Application of the rule of
reason analysis to an exclusive dealing agreement involves weighing several factors, including,
but not limited to: 1) a showing of significant market power by the defendant, 2) substantial
foreclosure, 3) contracts of sufficient duration to prevent meaningful competition of rivals, and
an 4) analysis of likely or actual anticompetitive effects considered in light of any procompetitive
effects. Courts may also consider whether the dominant firm engaged in 5) coercive behavior,
… 6) the ability of customers to terminate the agreements, and 7) [t]he use of exclusive dealing
by competitors.
For the reasons discussed supra, Rockfon pleads 1) Armstrong’s significant market
power and 2) substantial foreclosure. See Part I.A.1. - I.A.2. Rockfon’s Complaint also alleges
facts addressing several other factors, including 4) anticompetitive effects, see Compl. ¶¶ 90-97;
5) coercive behavior, see id. ¶¶ 58-63, and 6) the ability of distributors to terminate the
agreements, see id. ¶ 59.
17
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The first prong requires Rockfon to allege antitrust harm. Rockfon alleges that in
response to its entry into the United States market, Armstrong adopted and/or amended existing
exclusivity agreements to prevent Building Products Distributors from 1) stocking and selling
competing Ceiling Tiles anywhere in the United States and Canada, and 2) purchasing competing
products directly from competitor manufacturers. Compl. ¶¶ 54, 57, 115. Upon Rockfon’s entry
in the market, Armstrong’s agreements specifically targeted Rockfon. Id. ¶ 55. Rockfon alleges
that these exclusivity agreements, when coupled with Armstrong’s monopoly power, have
destroyed competition by 1) preventing entry of new competitors into the market; 2) preventing
contractors and consumers from having a greater choice of Ceiling Tiles; 3) preventing
contractors and consumers from obtaining information and marketing materials regarding other
Ceiling Tiles; and 4) causing the price of Ceiling Tiles to remain artificially inflated. See id. ¶¶
83, 89, 93, 95. Rockfon’s allegations of decreased competition and inflated consumer prices
alone satisfy the first prong of the antitrust injury inquiry. See Harrison Aire, 423 F.3d at 385
("[P]rohibitively high consumer prices resulting from allegedly monopolistic behavior [] is the
type the antitrust laws are designed to redress.") (citing Town Sound & Custom Tops, 959 F.2d at
486 (explaining antitrust injury)); see also U.S. Gypsum Co. v. Indiana Gas Co., 350 F.3d 623,
626-28 (7th Cir. 2003) (same). Furthermore, Rockfon’s allegations of decreased consumer
choice and information and a decrease in the number of competitors are the types of "decrease in
competition" harms that the Third Circuit finds adequate to meet this prong of the antitrust injury
inquiry. See Gulfstream, 995 F.2d at 429. Accordingly, Rockfon pleads ample facts showing
that Armstrong is causing exactly the type of harm antitrust laws were designed to prevent.
The second prong requires Rockfon to plead facts demonstrating an injury to Rockfon
that flows from Armstrong’s unlawful acts. To satisfy this prong, Rockfon pleads that it is a

18
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competitor of Armstrong in the relevant market. See Compl. ¶ 53. Nothing more is required.
GN Netcom, Inc., 967 F. Supp. 2d at 1087 (quoting Gulfstream, 995 F.2d at 429 ("The second
requirement is generally met if the plaintiff is a competitor ... in the relevant market")).
As shown above, Rockfon pleads ample facts demonstrating that Armstrong responded to
Rockfon’s entry into the United States market by leveraging its monopoly power to implement or
amend exclusivity agreements designed for the sole purpose of stifling market competition.
Because these factual allegations easily satisfy the Court's two-prong analysis of antitrust injury,
Armstrong’s motion to dismiss on these grounds must be denied.
C. THE FOREIGN TRADE ANTITRUST IMPROVEMENTS ACT DOES NOT
APPLY TO THIS CASE
The Foreign Trade Antitrust Improvements Act (“FTAIA”) “provides that the Sherman
Act ‘shall not apply to conduct involving trade or commerce … with foreign nations,’ but creates
exceptions for conduct that significantly harms imports, domestic commerce, or American
exporters.” F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd. v. Empagran S.A., 542 U.S. 155, 155 (2004) (emphasis
added) (internal citations omitted). The FTAIA requires that anticompetitive conduct have a
direct, substantial, and reasonably foreseeable effect on United States commerce before the
conduct falls within the Sherman Act’s umbrella. Id. at 162 (internal citations and quotations
omitted). The FTAIA bars a plaintiff’s claim when the foreign, rather than the domestic, effects
of the anticompetitive conduct independently cause the plaintiff’s injury. Id. at 159.
This case does not involve purely foreign injury. Rockfon has explicitly alleged direct
anticompetitive consequences in the American market, i.e., domestic commerce, necessary to
“bring[] such conduct [] within the Sherman Act’s reach.” F. Hoffman La Roche, 542 U.S. at
162; see contra In re Intel Corp. Microprocessor Antitrust Litig., 452 F. Supp. 2d 555, 561 (D.
Del. 2006) (“Because AMD has not alleged that Intel’s conduct resulted in substantial and direct
19
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domestic effect, AMD cannot demonstrate that any such domestic effect gives rise to its claim.”).
Here, the alleged harm suffered by Rockfon is not exclusive to Canada, but has resulted in
“higher prices, loss of choice, less market information, and lower quality of Ceiling Tiles” in the
United States, as well as Canada. Compl. ¶ 90. As such, the FTAIA has no bearing here.10
D. ROCKFON ALLEGES PLAUSIBLE TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE
While it is true that Rockfon must plead claims that are independently wrongful, see
Acierno v. Preit-Rubin, Inc., 199 F.R.D. 157, 165 (D. Del. 2001), antitrust violations clearly fall
within the realm of improper conduct subject to tortious interference claims. See, e.g., Trebuhs
Realty Co. v. News Syndicate Co., 107 F. Supp. 595, 600 (S.D.N.Y. 1952) (describing antitrust
violations as “wrongful conduct”). As established at length above, Rockfon adequately pleads
antitrust violations, all of which support its tortious interference claim.

Further, Rockfon

specifically pleads: 1) a reasonable probability of a business opportunity, see, e.g., Compl. ¶ 67,
95; 2) that Armstrong has intentionally interfered with this business opportunity, see, e.g., id. ¶
57; and 3) that Armstrong’s conduct has caused certain damages to Rockfon, see, e.g., id. ¶ 90.
Accordingly, Rockfon properly pleads a claim for tortious interference with business relations,
and Armstrong’s motion to dismiss this claim is without merit.
CONCLUSION
For each and all of the foregoing reasons, Roxul USA, Inc. respectfully requests that the
Court deny Armstrong’s motion to dismiss the complaint and for all other relief the Court deems
just and equitable.

Alternatively, should the Court deem any provision of the Complaint

inadequately pled, Roxul USA, Inc. respectfully requests leave to amend its Complaint.

Notwithstanding Rockfon’s argument, should this Court deem it necessary for Rockfon
to allege any facts to bring the Complaint within the FTAIA, Rockfon will plead additional facts.
10
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I.

INTRODUCTION

Under the “rule of reason” legal standard that both parties agree governs this alleged
exclusive dealing case, see D.I. 11 at 16, the Third Circuit generally requires “a showing of
significant market power by the defendant, substantial foreclosure, contracts of sufficient
duration to prevent meaningful competition by rivals, and an analysis of likely or actual
anticompetitive effects considered in light of any procompetitive effects.” ZF Meritor, LLC v.
Eaton Corp., 696 F.3d 254, 271-72 (3d Cir. 2012). When Rockfon’s conclusory assertions are
stripped away, as they must be under Supreme Court precedent, Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550
U.S. 544, 555 (2007), it becomes clear there is insufficient “factual content” to “‘allow[] the
court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.’”
Int’l Constr. Prods. LLC v. Caterpillar Inc., 2016 WL 264909, at *2 (D. Del. Jan. 21, 2016)
(emphasis added) (quoting Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)). In fact, Rockfon’s nonconclusory allegations only underscore the implausibility of its antitrust claims:
• Rockfon concludes that Armstrong is a monopolist. But Rockfon pleads Armstrong
makes only a slim majority (55%) of market sales (D.I. 1 ¶ 39) and pleads there are
three other competitors comprising the other 45% of the market (id. ¶ 41).
• Rockfon concludes that the alleged exclusive distributor agreements create entry
barriers. But Rockfon pleads it was able to enter the market despite such agreements,
which have long been the norm in the industry,1 and pleads it has grown into a
“major” competitor to Armstrong in little over three years. Id. ¶¶ 41, 51.
• Rockfon concludes that Armstrong’s agreements substantially foreclose competition.
But Rockfon pleads it is able to compete through direct sales (id. ¶¶ 30, 36),
specifying architects (id. ¶ 88), and/or distributors outside the “limited number”
allegedly exclusive to Armstrong (id. ¶ 48).
• Rockfon concludes that it has standing to sue as a competitor and has suffered injury
as a result of the challenged agreements. But Rockfon pleads facts illustrating the
1

See Ceiling & Interior Sys. Supply, Inc. v. USG Interiors, Inc., 878 F. Supp. 1389 (W.D. Wash.
1993).
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lack of proximate causation between its alleged inability to gain market share and
Armstrong’s conduct, including that its entry coincided with a period of declining
market output (id. ¶ 43) and consolidation of distributors (id. ¶ 65).
The facial implausibility of Rockfon’s claims distinguishes its complaint from exclusive
dealing cases that have survived motions to dismiss and compels dismissal with prejudice.
II.
A.

ARGUMENT

Rockfon Failed to Plead a Plausible Violation of the Antitrust Laws
1.

Rockfon Does Not Plead Anticompetitive Conduct

Rockfon must allege facts that plausibly establish (1) Armstrong has significant market
power;2 (2) substantial foreclosure of competition; and (3) anticompetitive effects resulting from
the exclusive agreements. ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d at 271-72. Rockfon fails to meet this burden.
a.

Rockfon Cannot Plausibly Allege That Armstrong Is A Monopolist

Rockfon does not, and cannot, dispute that every modern Third Circuit exclusive dealing
case confirming a violation involved defendants whose market share accounted for almost all of
the sales in the alleged market.3 In contrast, here, Rockfon alleges that Armstrong’s sales
comprise little more than half of the market. Third Circuit law is clear: 55% market share alone
is insufficient to establish monopolization. Dentsply, 399 F.3d at 187; Fineman v. Armstrong
World Indus., 980 F.2d 171, 201-02 (3d Cir. 1992). Beyond market share, the allegations
purporting to identify other evidence of monopoly power are conclusory and implausible.
1. Market structure. Rockfon pleads the existence of four “major” competitors in the
market, but is notably silent as to the size and strength of Armstrong’s rivals, which account for
2

Monopoly power (or a dangerous probability of achieving it) is required under Section 2. See
D.I. 10 at 6 n.2.
3

See ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d at 267 (90% market share); United States v. Dentsply Int’l, Inc., 399
F.3d 181, 184 (3d Cir. 2005) (75-80% market share); LePage’s Inc. v. 3M, 324 F.3d 141, 146 (3d
Cir. 2003) (90% market share).

2
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almost half the sales in the market. See Dentsply, 399 F.3d at 187 (“Other germane factors
include the size and strength of competing firms”). Further, Rockfon alleges entry into the
market—not exit—a fact that undermines any inference of monopoly power. See id. (“freedom
of entry” is a germane factor in determining market power); Tops Markets, Inc. v. Quality
Markets, Inc., 142 F.3d 90, 99 (2d Cir. 1998) (no monopoly power despite 72% market share
because “successful entry” “refute[d] any inference of the existence of monopoly power”).
2. Barriers to entry. Rockfon does not identify a single competitor who has been
unable to enter the market as a result of any alleged barriers to entry. Indeed, Rockfon’s own
experience bespeaks ease of entry. Despite the claimed challenges of importing tile and the
alleged obstacles posed by the exclusivity agreements, Rockfon was concededly able to become
one of four “major competitors” since it entered the market in 2013. Again, such successful
entry rebuts any inference of monopoly power. See Tops Markets, 142 F.3d at 99; see also W.
Parcel Express v. United Parcel Serv. of Am., Inc., 190 F.3d 974, 976 (9th Cir. 1999) (no market
power given that exclusive contracts were terminable and new competitors entered market).
3. Pricing. Rockfon asserts that Armstrong increased prices as volume was declining
during the recession. But, as courts have routinely found, such bare allegations about price
changes, untethered from any comparison to costs, do not plausibly plead monopoly power. See
D.I. 10 at 8-9.
Further, Rockfon alleges that price increases date back to 2011 (D.I. 1 ¶ 43)—years
before Rockfon’s entry and the alleged adoption and/or expansion of exclusive dealing contracts.
And in any event, according to Rockfon, such price increases have resulted in Armstrong
charging only nominally (5%) higher prices than the competition today. See id. ¶ 74. Small
price premiums may be consistent with the kind of “market power” held by many firms with

3
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well-known brands, but “a showing of [defendant’s] ‘market power’ is not itself sufficient to
prove that [defendant] possesses ‘monopoly power.’” See Kolon Indus. v. E.I. DuPont de
Nemours & Co., 748 F.3d 160, 174 (4th Cir. 2014); D.I. 10 at 9.
In sum, the facts alleged by Rockfon do not support a plausible inference of monopoly
power—or even a dangerous probability of achieving monopoly power—thus necessitating
dismissal of Rockfon’s actual and attempted monopolization claims. See Barr Labs., Inc. v.
Abbott Labs., 978 F.2d 98, 112-15 (3d. Cir. 1992) (no threat of monopoly power despite 50%
market share and modest price increases, in light of existing competitors and relatively low
barriers to entry). This failure also illustrates the implausibility of Rockfon’s remaining
exclusive dealing claims, given that—in the absence of monopoly—these claims are subject to
an even higher standard of pleading and proof of substantial foreclosure. See D.I. 10 at 10.
b.

Rockfon Confirms It Cannot Allege Substantial Foreclosure

Rockfon’s opposition brief, like its pleading, fails to make any plausible showing of
substantial foreclosure. The pertinent inquiry is whether competition was foreclosed, not a
particular competitor. See Tampa Elec. Co. v. Nashville Coal Co., 365 U.S. 320, 327 (1961).
Yet Rockfon absurdly continues to assert 65% foreclosure even though Armstrong’s alleged
market share is 55%, meaning that Rockfon counts sales made by Armstrong’s competitors as
“foreclosed.” See D.I. 11 at 11, fn. 4.
In fact, foreclosure does not remotely approach 55% (much less 65%). Rockfon does not
dispute that Armstrong has exclusivity agreements with only a “limited number” of building
products distributors (see D.I. 1 ¶ 48) and that there are Armstrong distributors not subject to
exclusivity (id. ¶¶ 63-64). Rockfon admits that non-distributor sales comprise at least 15% of the
market. D.I. 1 ¶ 30. The complaint acknowledges Rockfon’s acquisition of a ceiling grid
systems manufacturer allowed it to become a “significant threat” to Armstrong by granting it
4
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access to a pre-existing ceiling system distribution network. Id. ¶¶ 52-53. Likewise, Rockfon
does not dispute its failure to plead that Armstrong’s agreements are of long duration or are not
terminable. Id. ¶¶ 54, 58. Alternative distribution channels—retailers, direct-buying contractors,
multi-line distributors, and other distributors not exclusive to Armstrong—are not
inconsequential matters and account for almost a half-billion dollars in yearly ceiling tile sales.
D.I. 10 at 10. This is a far cry from the kind of total foreclosure that characterizes cases where
motions to dismiss have been denied or exclusive dealing violations have been found. See ZF
Meritor, 696 F.3d at 281 (monopolist’s “exclusive dealing arrangements with every customer in
the market” held unlawful); GN Netcom, Inc. v. Plantronics, Inc., 967 F. Supp. 2d 1082, 1085
(D. Del. 2013) (denying motion to dismiss where 80% of distributors were subject to exclusive
agreements).
The availability and use of such established alternative distribution channels distinguishes
this case from Dentsply in particular and is clearly relevant to foreclosure analysis under
governing law.4 See Dentsply, 399 F.3d at 196 (acknowledging the need to “assess[]” the
“overall significance to the market” of “other avenues of distribution”). Courts, including in this
Circuit, have granted motions to dismiss based on the availability of such viable alternative
channels of distribution. See Int’l Constr. Prods., 2016 WL 4445232, at *7 (finding that where
4

Omega Environmental, Inc. v. Gilbarco, Inc., 127 F.3d 1157 (9th Cir. 1997), is an influential
decision regarding the importance of alternative distribution channels in analyzing alleged
foreclosure. See, e.g., McWane, Inc. v. FTC, 783 F.3d 814, 839 (11th Cir. 2015); United States
v. Visa USA, Inc., 344 F.3d 229, 242 (2d Cir. 2003). Rockfon is flat wrong when it argues that
the Third Circuit does not follow Omega. In fact, in ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d at 271, the Third
Circuit deemed Omega to be part of the body of “modern antitrust law” pertinent to “evaluating
the legality of an exclusive dealing agreement.” In Dentsply, which Rockfon cites, see D.I. 11 at
14 n. 6, the Third Circuit simply distinguished Omega on factual grounds, holding that there the
defendant sold to both distributors and consumers, whereas Dentsply had abandoned direct sales.
Dentsply, 399 F.3d at 185, 194 n.2. By contrast here, as in Omega, Armstrong sells to
distributors and direct to customers.

5
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plaintiff “failed to adequately plead a lack of alternative channels of distribution” it did not make
a “prima facie showing that the exclusive dealing arrangements ‘foreclose from competition any
part of the relevant market.’”); PNY Techs., Inc. v. SanDisk Corp., 2014 WL 2987322, at *9
(N.D. Cal. July 2, 2014) (dismissing complaint where 19% of sales were made through nonexclusive channels).
Finally, Rockfon fails to explain how it could be foreclosed from any significant portion
of the market when it has unfettered access to architects, who are ultimately responsible for
deciding which ceiling tile to use in 90% of interior construction projects and remain fully
capable of specifying Rockfon products. See D.I. 1 ¶ 88. In its opposition, Rockfon argues that
“even when architects specify Rockfon, or a competing brand, and contractors seek to fulfill
these ‘specs’ from Building Products Distributors, they cannot do so.” D.I. 11 at 4 (citing D.I. 1
¶ 88) (emphasis added). But this unsubstantiated assertion directly contradicts Rockfon’s
complaint, which alleges that when Rockfon products are specified either (1) the contractor
obtains the Rockfon tile (albeit through a supposedly “less desirable” distributor) or (2) the
contractor may be lobbied by an Armstrong distributor to change the specification. D.I. 1 ¶ 88.
Either way, Rockfon is in no position to complain under the antitrust laws. Indeed, the lobbying
of architects by distributors is competition on the merits, not an antitrust violation, as confirmed
by case after case. See Santana Prods., Inc. v. Bobrick Washroom Equip., Inc., 401 F.3d 123,
133 (3d Cir. 2005); Stearns Airport Equip. v. FMC Corp., 170 F.3d 518, 522-23 (5th Cir. 1999);
Richard Hoffman Corp. v. Integrated Bldg. Sys., 610 F. Supp. 19, 23 (N.D. Ill. 1985). And
having allegedly secured the more “desirable” distributors, Armstrong “does not have to share
‘the fruits of its superior acumen and industry’” with Rockfon. Omega, 127 F.3d at 1163; see
also Int’l Constr. Prods., 2016 WL 264909, at *5.

6
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Perhaps recognizing its inability to plead substantial foreclosure, Rockfon asserts that a
failure to do so “is not dispositive of the antitrust claims asserted.” D.I. 11 at 13. This is
incorrect as a matter of law, as well as inconsistent with Rockfon’s alleged theory of harm—that
the alleged exclusive agreements have “stifled” competition. D.I. 1 ¶ 82. As Rockfon later
concedes “[t]o plausibly state a claim for exclusive dealing subject to the rule of reason, [it] must
plead . . . that the contract forecloses a substantial share of the competition in the relevant
product and geographic markets.” D.I. 11 at 16. Rockfon does not, and cannot, cite to a single
case holding that a plaintiff alleging exclusive dealing need not prove substantial foreclosure.5
Rockfon’s failure to allege substantial foreclosure thus dooms all of its antitrust claims.
See Tampa Elec., 265 U.S. at 327; ZF Meritor, 696 F.3d at 327; LePage’s, 324 F.3d at 159.
c.

Foreclosure Of Canadian Sales Is Beyond U.S. Jurisdiction

Rockfon misconstrues both Armstrong’s argument and the relevant law to argue that the
statutory limitations on extraterritorial jurisdiction under the Foreign Trade Antitrust
Improvements Act (FTAIA) do not apply in this case. As explained in Armstrong’s opening
brief, the FTAIA’s prohibition against extending the Sherman Act to foreign commerce clearly
applies to Rockfon’s sales in Canada or any alleged conduct in Canada. See D.I. 10 at 15. While
Rockfon is correct that an exception exists for foreign commerce that has a “direct, substantial,
and reasonably foreseeable effect on United States commerce” (D.I. 11 at 19), neither Rockfon’s
5

In fact, in United States v. Microsoft, the court declared “it is clear that in all cases the plaintiff
must define both the relevant market and prove the degree of foreclosure. This is a prudential
requirement; exclusivity provisions in contracts may serve many useful purposes.” 253 F.3d 34,
69 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (emphasis added). The other cases cited by Rockfon hold the same or are
inapposite. See United States v. Visa USA, Inc., 163 F. Supp. 2d 322, 382, 408-09 (S.D.N.Y.
2001) (finding substantial foreclosure from the relevant markets); Avery Dennison Corp. v. Acco
Brands, Inc., 2000 WL 986995 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 22, 2000) (alleging broader scheme of
anticompetitive conduct beyond exclusivity); R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. v. Philip Morris Inc.,
60 F. Supp. 2d 502 (M.D.N.C. 1999) (non-exclusive dealing case).

7
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complaint nor its opposition explains how any sales of ceiling tile in Canada or exclusivity
arrangements with Canadian distributors had any such effect on U.S. domestic commerce.
d.

Rockfon Fails To Allege Anticompetitive Effects

Rockfon’s opposition suggests that it is not required to plead anticompetitive effects in
order to state a claim for exclusive dealing. D.I. 11 at 16. This is incorrect as a matter of law.
Because Rockfon’s claims are subject to the rule of reason (as it readily concedes), it must show
the “likely or actual anticompetitive effects” of the exclusive agreements “in light of any
procompetitive effects” in order to state a claim. Int’l Constr. Prods., 2016 WL 264909, at *5.
Thus, dismissal of a complaint is appropriate where it provides no factual basis for finding
anticompetitive effects. See id. at *6 (dismissing where plaintiff failed to allege factual basis for
anticompetitive effects). This is especially true in a case such as this one, where the complaint
itself confirms the valid business justifications for exclusivity arrangements: distributors
intensively promote the brands for which they have exclusives. D.I. 1 ¶ 88. See Omega, 127
F.3d at 1162; Roland Mach. Co. v. Dresser Indus., Inc., 749 F.2d 380, 395 (7th Cir. 1984).
2.

Rockfon Fails To Allege Causal Antitrust Injury

Rockfon’s conclusory allegations regarding decreased competition and inflated prices are
inadequate to plead antitrust injury. As explained above, the facts alleged in Rockfon’s
complaint demonstrate that, if anything, competition has increased during the relevant time
period—with the market going from three major competitors to four. And simply calling prices
“supra-competitive” or “artificially inflated” does not make them so, especially where they are
only nominally (purportedly 5%) higher and there are no allegations regarding how such prices
compare to cost or quality. See D.I. 10 at 9, 16. Accordingly, Rockfon’s opposition, like its
complaint, makes clear that the real harm for which it seeks a remedy is its own inability to

8
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quickly attain the market share it holds in its home market in Europe. D.I. 11 at 20 (citing D.I. 1
¶ 90). That is not cognizable injury under the antitrust laws. Race Tires Am. v. Hoosier Racing
Tire Corp., 614 F.3d 57, 83 (3d Cir. 2010).
Moreover, Rockfon completely ignores the causation prong of antitrust injury, instead
arguing that its status as a competitor is sufficient. D.I. 11 at 18-19. But, as the Third Circuit
has made clear, “[a]ntitrust standing requires proximate causation between defendant’s conduct
and the injury to plaintiff.” Gulfstream III Assocs. v. Gulfstream Aerospace Corp., 995 F.2d 425,
430 (3d Cir. 1993). As explained in Armstrong’s opening brief, and not disputed by Rockfon,
the causal connection between Armstrong’s conduct and Rockfon’s alleged inability to compete
is weak to the point of implausibility. Rockfon admits that it entered the U.S. market at a time
when the market volume was declining. D.I. 1 ¶ 43. Rockfon acknowledges that it has lost
distributors “because of the consolidation of ” distributors (id. ¶ 65), which has nothing to do
with Armstrong. Rockfon also admits that Armstrong had some exclusive arrangements in place
before Rockfon entered (id. ¶ 54); therefore, such agreements could not have caused its alleged
injury. And to the extent Rockfon claims that Armstrong terminated distributors and raised
market prices (id. ¶¶ 44, 59), such conduct should have only helped Rockfon to compete for the
business of such distributors and end-users. Rockfon’s failure to allege causal antitrust injury
necessitates dismissal of its antitrust claims.
B.

Rockfon Fails To Plead a Plausible Tortious Interference Claim
Rockfon’s allegations regarding exclusive dealing do not suffice to state a claim for

tortious interference, just as they fail to state a claim for violation of the antitrust laws. See,
supra, at 2-9. In addition, Delaware case law is clear that Rockfon needs to identify with
specificity the contracts and potential business relationships with which Armstrong allegedly

9
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interfered. See D.I. 10 at 19-20. In defense of its ability to do so, Rockfon points only to the
vague allegation that “[u]pon information and belief,” unnamed distributors “would prefer to
carry multiple Ceiling Tile brands.” D.I. 11 at 20 (citing D.I. 1 ¶ 67). This does not suffice to
state a claim for tortious interference with a contract or prospective business relations. See
Overdrive, Inc. v. Baker & Taylor, Inc., 2011 WL 2448209, at *9 (Del. Ch. June 17, 2011)
(dismissing claim because plaintiff “fail[ed] to identify a single contract that has been breached
due to defendant’s alleged conduct”); Organovo Holdings, Inc. v. Dimitrov, 162 A.3d 102, 122
(Del. Ch. June 5, 2017) (plaintiff “must identify a specific party who was prepared to enter[] into
a business relationship” and “cannot rely on generalized allegations of harm”). Accordingly,
even if Rockfon’s antitrust claims survive, its claim for tortious interference must be dismissed.
III.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, Armstrong requests that Rockfon’s complaint be dismissed
with prejudice without leave to amend. Dismissal with prejudice is appropriate where, as here, it
is apparent from the record that amendment would be futile. Lake v. Arnold, 232 F.3d 360, 373
(3d Cir. 2000). Rockfon itself proposes to add no facts on the merits (only merely with respect
to jurisdiction under the FTAIA). See D.I. 11 at 20 n.10. Rockfon’s factual allegations are not
simply insufficient to state a claim for exclusive dealing under the rule of reason—they are
inherently inconsistent with the standard for liability.

10
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

ROXUL USA, INC.

CIVIL ACTION

v.
NO. 17-1258
ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES,
INC.

MEMORANDUM
KEARNEY,J.

February 9, 2018

Competing manufacturers relying upon a limited number of companies qualified to
distribute their product to consumers may seek to induce the distributors' primary allegiance in a
number of ways which we do not consider unlawfully anti-competitive.

One effort which can

invite scrutiny is a manufacturer's exclusivity agreement with a distributor with penalties for
selling other products when the manufacturer enjoys a 55% market share and the market
continues to lose qualified distributors.

In addressing these issues in the suspended acoustical

ceiling tile industry, we today find a manufacturer with a smaller market share adequately pleads
anti-competitive conduct by a manufacturer with a much larger market share through exclusivity
agreements in the relevant market in the United States but not, as yet, in Canada and does not
plead a claim for tortious interference with contractual relationships.

In the accompanying

Order, we grant the larger manufacturer's motion to dismiss claims against it for anti-competitive
conduct in the Canadian market and for tortious interference but deny its motion to dismiss the
remaining claims under the Sherman and Clayton Acts subject to further discovery.
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I.

Alleged facts.

Roxul USA, Inc. and Armstrong World Industries, Inc. manufacture and sell ceiling tiles
and related products in the United States and Canada. I Roxul and Armstrong produce ceiling
tiles comparable in quality and function. 2 Ceiling tiles are used in both residential and nonresidential spaces, but the non-residential market accounts for at least 90% of the demand for
ceiling tiles. 3 Armstrong holds at least a 55% share of the ceiling tile market in the United States
and Canada. 4 In total, three firms, including Roxul, compete against Armstrong in the ceiling
tile market in the United States and Canada. 5
Ceiling tile manufacturers sell approximately 85% of their ceiling tile offerings through
distributors specializing in building project materials. 6

The vast majority of ceiling tile

consumers are building contractors purchasing materials for interior construction projects.
Contractors rely on distributors because they offer a wide-range of building material products in
addition to ceiling tiles and provide multiple offerings for each material type. 7 Distributors also
provide services such as same day delivery, logistical planning, product selection and installation
expertise, storage and stocking services, and a knowledgeable sales force. 8 Contractors rely on
distributors because very few contractors have the resources and network necessary to achieve
the same efficiencies as specialized distributors. 9

Due to market forces, regional and national

distributors have consolidated resulting in limited numbers of distributors capable of servicing
Roxul and Armstrong. Io
Roxul challenges Armstrong's actions with distributors to protect its market share in this
consolidating distributor market, including through exclusivity agreements. 11 Following Roxul' s
entry into this market in 2013, Armstrong expanded its geographic scope of the exclusivity with
some distributors from regional to national exclusivity or exclusivity throughout the United

2
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States and Canada.12 Armstrong's exclusive distributors are not permitted to carry Roxul's or
other competing firms' ceiling tiles. 13 Armstrong polices its exclusivity arrangements by raising
prices to distributors who violate the exclusivity arrangement, enforcing liquidating damages
provisions, or refusing to supply its products to the distributors after the breach. 14 Armstrong
also threatens to retaliate against distributors who sell or attempt to sell Roxul and other
competing products in non-exclusive territories. 15 Armstrong also signed exclusivity contracts
with some direct purchasers. 16 Roxul alleges these steps allow Armstrong to raise its prices and
now charge more than 5% over competitive prices despite an overall decline in sales volume in
the ceiling tile market since 2011. 17
II.

Analysis

Roxul alleges Armstrong's exclusivity arrangements with building material distributors
violates the Sherman Act 18 and Clayton Act. 19 Roxul alleges Armstrong unlawfully obtained and
maintained a monopoly under Section 2 of the Sherman Act. In the alternative, Roxul argues
Armstrong is attempting to monopolize the ceiling tile market in violation of Section 2 of the
Sherman Act. Roxul also alleges Armstrong engaged in concerted action in restraint of trade in
violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act and Section 3 of the Clayton Act. Finally, Roxul
alleges Armstrong tortiously interfered with Roxul' s business relations with building material
distributors.
Armstrong moves to dismiss Roxul's complaint. 20

Armstrong challenges Roxul's

definition of the ceiling tile market and argues we lack subject matter jurisdiction over foreign
commerce in Canada. Armstrong argues Roxul failed to allege it holds monopoly power in the
ceiling tile market. Armstrong argues its exclusivity arrangements with distributors are not anticompetitive because it has valid business justifications for exclusivity and it did not foreclose

3
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Roxul from a substantial portion of the ceiling tile market. Armstrong argues Roxul failed to
plead antitrust injury. Finally, Armstrong argues Roxul failed to plead tortious interference with
business relations because it did not identify a contract Armstrong interfered with or identify a
prospective business relationship with necessary specificity.
A. Roxul fails to state a claim of antitrust violations based on foreign
trade under the Foreign Trade Antitrust Improvements Act.

Armstrong challenges Roxul' s definition of the relevant market as "the sale of suspended
acoustical ceiling tiles ... sold in the United States of America and Canada."21
specifically challenges Roxul including ceiling tile sales in Canada.

Armstrong

Armstrong argues the

Foreign Trade Antitrust Improvements Act ("Act") 22 prohibits our exercise of jurisdiction over
foreign conduct under the Sherman Act. 23 Roxul alleges it sufficiently plead the "domestic
commerce exception" to the Act.
The Sherman Act "shall not apply to conduct involving trade or commerce (other than
important trade or commerce) with foreign nations." 24 But there are exceptions for conduct
creating a "direct, substantial and reasonably foreseeable effect" on domestic trade or commerce,
import trade or import commerce with foreign nations, or export trade or commerce with foreign
nations. 25 The Act requires we determine the "geographical effect" of the alleged conduct. 26
The conduct at issue must also "have an effect of a kind that antitrust law considers harmful."27
Stated differently, conduct involving foreign trade falls within the Sherman Act if the conduct
has a "direct, substantial, and reasonably foreseeable effect" on domestic commerce and such
effect gives rise to a claim under the Sherman Act. When the proffered anti-competitive conduct
affects both customers outside the United States and within the United States but the adverse
foreign effect "is independent of any adverse domestic effect," the domestic commerce exception
does not apply and the Sherman Act does not apply. 28 "The [Act] requires a plaintiff to allege
4
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that its claims were directly caused by the domestic effects of the conduct and not the foreign
effects."

29

"Courts discussing the 'direct effects' requirements of the [Act] have recognized that

'direct effect' means that there must be an 'immediate consequence of the alleged
anticompetitive conduct with no 'intervening developments.' "30 Allegations of conduct resulting
in a "ripple effect" on domestic commerce are insufficient to satisfy the domestic commerce
.

except10n.

31

In In re Intel Corp. Microprocessor Antitrust Litig. v. Intel Grp., 32 the plaintiff argued the
defendant's anti-competitive conduct involving foreign commerce resulted in the plaintiff losing
foreign sales and weakened the plaintiff as a domestic rival to the defendant. 33 The court found
the plaintiffs argument insufficient to satisfy the "direct effects" standard. 34 The court described
the alleged effect as speculative and found the plaintiff failed to identify how the foreign conduct
resulted in a "substantial and direct domestic effect." 35 The court also discounted plaintiffs
reliance on pleading it is an American company engaged in foreign commerce, as courts assess
the geographical effect of foreign conduct as opposed to the location of the parties under the
Act.36
Roxul fails to allege how foreclosure from the Canadian market because of Armstrong's
exclusivity contracts directly, substantially, and foreseeably affects United States commerce.
Foreclosure from the Canadian market certainly impacts Canadian commerce and consumers by
limiting their choice and reducing competition in Canada, but Roxul fails to allege how reduced
competition in Canada directly affects domestic commerce. Roxul argues its claim encompasses
injury to competition in both the United States and Canada. We agree, as discussed below,
Roxul has adequately alleged Armstrong's foreclosure of competition in the United States
market impacted domestic commerce. But under the Act, Roxul must allege how the foreclosure
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from the Canadian market directly and substantially affected domestic commerce.

Even if

Roxul's allegations allowed for an inference the foreclosure from Canada impacted Roxul's
foreign sales thereby impacting its profitability and resulting in lost opportunity to compete
domestically with Armstrong, such effect would be speculative and insufficient to allege a direct
effect on domestic commerce. 37 Based on the present pleading, we can only fairly conclude the
effect from Armstrong foreclosing Roxul and other competing firms from the Canadian market is
separate and independent from the effect Armstrong's conduct created in the United States
market.
B. Roxul pleads monopolization under the Sherman Act.

Roxul alleges Armstrong unlawfully obtained and maintained monopoly power in the
ceiling tile market through its exclusivity arrangements with building material distributors.
Armstrong argues Roxul's allegations of Armstrong controlling at least 55 percent of the ceiling
tile market is insufficient to plead monopoly power.

Armstrong also argues its exclusivity

arrangements are not anti-competitive and offers business justifications for the exclusive
contracts. Armstrong argues Roxul fails to state a plausible antitrust injury because Roxul only
seeks relief for injury to itself, not competition.
To plead monopolization under Section 2 of the Sherman Act, Roxul must allege "(l) the
possession of monopoly power in the relevant market and (2) the willful acquisition of
maintenance of that power as distinguished from growth or development as a consequence of a
superior product, business acumen, or historical accident. " 38 "Monopoly power is the ability to
control prices and exclude competition from the given market." 39 To support an inference of
monopoly power, a plaintiff typically must plead "a firm has a dominant share in a relevant
market, and that significant 'entry barriers' protect that market." 40 Absent other factors, our
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court of appeals has found a market share of 55% is typically insufficient to demonstrate prima
facie monopoly power.

41

Other factors to consider to determine whether a firm holds monopoly

power include, "the size and strength of competing firms, freedom of entry into the field, pricing
trends and practices in the industry, ability of consumers to substitute comparable goods or
services from outside the market, and consumer demand factors. " 42 Whether a firm can charge
"supracompetitive prices" is also relevant to determining monopoly power. 43
Anti-competitive conduct under the second element includes "behavior that not only (1)
tends to impair the opportunities of rivals, but also (2) either does not further competition on the
merits or does so in an unnecessarily restrictive way." 44 We apply the rule ofreason in assessing
whether the use of exclusivity contracts is anticompetitive. 45 An exclusive dealing arrangement
violates the rule of reason when the "'probable effect' of the arrangement is to substantially
lessen competition, rather than merely disadvantage rivals. "' 46 Roxul must allege the exclusivity
arrangement resulted in "substantial foreclosure" to the relevant market. 47 Foreclosure does not
become substantial by pleading a particular fixed percentage and courts look to whether the
exclusivity arrangement "bar[s] a substantial number of rivals or severely restricts the market's
ambit." 48

"Exclusive dealing arrangements are of special concern when imposed by a

monopolist. "49
To plead antitrust injury, Roxul must allege it suffered the type of harm antitrust laws are
intended to prevent and the injury flows "from that which makes the defendants' acts
unlawful." 50
Roxul plausibly pleads monopoly power. Roxul alleges Armstrong holds a market share
"in excess of 55%." 51 Although an allegation of 55% alone may not be sufficient to allege
monopoly power, Roxul alleges a high barrier of entry into the market and Armstrong's history
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of controlling prices despite an overall decrease in sales volume in the market. 52 Only three
companies compete against Armstrong in the ceiling tile market. 53 Armstrong has raised its
prices since 2011, despite an overall decrease in sales volume in the ceiling tile market. 54
Armstrong now charges 5% over competitive market prices. 55

Roxul alleges only a few

distributors are capable of servicing companies the size of Roxul. 56

Regional and local

distributors have consolidated with national distributors expanding the reach of the Armstrong
exclusivity agreements. 57

Roxul alleges Armstrong's exclusivity agreements with key

distributors prevented new competitors from entering the market and remaining competitive. 58
Viewing these facts favorably to Roxul as we must do at this stage, Roxul sufficiently alleges
monopoly power.
Roxul plausibly pleads Armstrong's willful acquisition of monopoly power through
exclusivity agreements resulting in anti-competitive conduct. Armstrong argues Roxul fails to
plead substantial foreclosure in the ceiling tile market. Armstrong argues Roxul's claim the
exclusivity arrangements with distributors resulted in a 65% foreclosure to the ceiling tile market
is unsubstantiated. Armstrong argues under the facts alleged it can only theoretically foreclose at
most its total market share - 55%. Armstrong narrows its argument on the percentage alleged
but ignores the supporting facts. Roxul is not required to allege a specific foreclosure percentage
and we analyze all the facts in the complaint to determine whether substantial foreclosure is
alleged. 59
Specialty building products distributors are a critical channel between manufacturers, like

°

Armstrong and Roxul, and consumers. 6

Ceiling tile manufacturers sell about 85% of their

ceiling tile product through these distributors. 61 Manufacturers rely on distributors because they
are able to efficiently manage the "logistical complexity of distribution services. " 62 Distributors
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also provide a wide range of products to best meet consumer needs such as walling, metal
framing, grid systems necessary to install ceiling tiles, necessary tools for installation, and safety
accessories. 63 Distributors also provide supplemental services such as logistical planning, same
day delivery, product selection and installation expertise, and networking with local
contractors.

64

Consolidation of distributors heightened the importance of ceiling tile

manufacturers' maintaining relationships with the limited number of distributors. 65

Without

access to distributors, manufacturers lack access to a viable distribution channel end-users rely
upon to make ceiling tile purchases. 66
The exclusivity agreements prohibit distributors from selling competitor ceiling tiles
nationally or regionally, depending on the agreement. 67 Roxul also alleges Armstrong retaliates
against distributors who violate the exclusivity provision by charging the distributors higher
prices for its products, enforcing liquidated damages clauses, and choosing to stop supplying
Armstrong ceiling tiles to the distributor. 68 Armstrong's exclusivity with distributors coupled
with fear of retaliation for selling Roxul products forced distributors to stop carrying Roxul
products. 69 Roxul sufficiently alleges Armstrong's exclusivity agreements and its retaliatory
conduct foreclosed competition in the ceiling tile market.
Armstrong argues Roxul failed to allege substantial foreclosure because alternative
channels of distribution allow Roxul to reach consumers. Armstrong cites to Roxul's allegations
identifying direct buy contractors and big-box home improvement retailers as potential
alternative distribution channels. 70 But Roxul alleges very few direct buy contractors exist
because they lack the financial resources and expertise to establish the same value-added
services specialty distributors provide. 71 Roxul alleges big-box retailers are unable to service
most commercial projects because of their limited product selection and inability to provide
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supplemental services. 72 Roxul alleges these distribution channels are not viable options to reach
ceiling tile consumers. 73 Armstrong also cites to Roxul' s allegation architects "spec" or specify
the brand of ceiling tile in 90% of interior construction projects. 74

Armstrong argues this

allegation proves the selection of ceiling tile brand is "in the hands of the consumer." Armstrong
argues Roxul could promote and sell its products to architects at the specification phase. But
Armstrong ignores Roxul's allegation when contractors attempt to fulfill an architect's spec from
exclusive distributors, the distributor attempts to change the Roxul spec to an Armstrong spec or
faces the risk of retaliation from Armstrong. 75 We accept Roxul' s allegations at this preliminary
stage.

Armstrong's factual defense regarding the availability and viability of alternative

distribution channels is best reserved for summary judgment or trial.
Armstrong argues it has a valid business justification for entering into exclusivity
agreements with distributors. Armstrong argues the pro-competitive effects of the exclusivity
arrangements outweigh the anti-competitive effects.

Armstrong argues its exclusivity

arrangements encourage distributors to more aggressively market Armstrong products.
Armstrong asserts exclusivity arrangements prevent "free riding on the substantial investments
that manufacturers (like Armstrong) make with distributors to promote their own products." 76
Roxul alleges sufficient facts outlining the anti-competitive effects the exclusivity arrangements
have on the ceiling tile market. 77 Weighing pro-competitive and anti-competitive effects is best
reserved for summary judgment or trial after the benefit of discovery. 78
Armstrong argues Roxul fails to plead plausible antitrust injury because it does not allege
Armstrong's conduct injured competition and Roxul's alleged harm is not casually connected to
Armstrong's conduct. Contrary to Armstrong's argument, Roxul alleges harm to competition in
the ceiling tile market.

Roxul alleges the exclusivity arrangements between Armstrong and
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distributors foreclosed Roxul and other competitors from the ceiling tile market. 79 Armstrong's
exclusivity arrangements have prevented possible competitors from entering the market and
reduced consumer choice in the ceiling tile market. 80 Viewing the facts alleged favorably to
Roxul, we allow for a reasonable inference the injury to competition is casually connected to
Armstrong's exclusivity arrangements with building material distributors.

Roxul adequately

pleads antitrust injury. Roxul states a claim for monopolization under the Sherman Act.
C. Roxul pleads attempted monopolization under the Sherman Act.

Roxul alleges Armstrong's exclusivity deals are an unlawful attempt to monopolization
under Section 2 of the Sherman Act. Armstrong raises the same arguments it raised to Roxul's
monopolization claim: (1) Roxul has not alleged anticompetitive conduct and (2) Roxul has not
alleged antitrust injury.
To state a claim for attempted monopolization under Section 2 of the Sherman Act,
Roxul must allege "(1) that the defendant has engaged in predatory or anticompetitive conduct
with (2) specific intent to monopolize and (3) a dangerous possibility of achieving monopoly
power." 81

We consider many factors in determining whether a defendant has a dangerous

probability of achieving monopoly power including the size of the defendant's market share,
strength of competition, barriers to entry into the market, the nature of the alleged
anticompetitive market, the elasticity of consumer demand, and the probable development of the
relevant industry. 82

Determining whether there is a dangerous probability of achieving

monopoly power is "a particularly fact intensive inquiry." 83 "Courts typically should not resolve
this question at the pleading stage 'unless it is clear on the face of the complaint that the
'dangerous probability' standard cannot be met as a matter oflaw.'" 84
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As described earlier, Roxul adequately alleges anticompetitive conduct through
exclusivity arrangements with distributors. The exclusivity arrangements foreclose competitors
from accessing a significant portion of the ceiling tile market. 85 Roxul's allegations also allow
for a reasonable inference Armstrong acted with the specific intent to monopolize. Armstrong
pursued exclusivity arrangements with key distributors in the ceiling tile industry and have
actively policed and enforced the exclusivity arrangements to the detriment of competition in the
ceiling tile market. 86 Roxul's sufficiently pleads monopoly power as discussed above, but in the
alternative, Roxul also sufficiently pleads a dangerous probability of achieving monopoly power.
Roxul alleges Armstrong's exclusivity arrangements prevent the entry of new competitors into
the market, foreclose competitors from a significant portion of the market, and allow Armstrong
to raise its prices despite an overall decrease in sales volume. 87 Only three firms compete against
Armstrong in the ceiling tile market. 88 Roxul sufficiently pleads antitrust injury of foreclosure
from a significant portion of the ceiling tile market.

Roxul states a claim of attempted

monopolization under Section 2 of the Sherman Act.
D. Roxul pleads concerted action in restraint of trade under the Sherman
Act and Clayton Act.
Roxul alleges Armstrong engaged in concerted action in restraint of trade with building
material distributors in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act and Section 3 of the Clayton
Act. Section 1 of the Sherman Act prohibits every contract or conspiracy in restraint of trade or
commerce. 89 To state a claim under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, Roxul must allege (1) the
defendant was a party to a contract, combination or conspiracy and (2) the contract, combination
or conspiracy imposed an unreasonable restraint on trade. 90 To plead an unreasonable restraint
on trade, Roxul must allege the concerted action resulted in anticompetitive effects within the
market. 91

Section 3 of the Clayton Act prohibits a firm from entering into exclusivity
12
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arrangements where the effect of such arrangement "may be to substantially lessen competition
or tend to create a monopoly in any line of commerce."92 To determine the legality of an
exclusive dealing arrangement under the Clayton Act, we determine "whether the competition
foreclosed constitutes a substantial share of the relevant market." 93 Roxul relies on the same
theory asserted above: Armstrong's exclusivity arrangements foreclosed Roxul and other
competing firms from a substantial portion of the ceiling tile market.
Armstrong raises the same arguments it raised in defense to Roxul' s Sherman Act claims.
These arguments fail today for the same reasons.
arrangement

between

Armstrong

and

Roxul sufficiently alleges a contractual

distributors

creating

an

exclusive

distribution

relationship. 94 Roxul also sufficiently alleges the contracts created an unreasonable restrain on
trade by foreclosing competitors from entering the market and foreclosing competitors from a
substantial share of the ceiling tile market. 95

Roxul states a claim under Section 1 of the

Sherman Act and Section 3 of the Clayton Act.

E. Roxul fails to plead tortious interference with business relationships
under Delaware law.
Roxul claims Armstrong tortiously interfered with its business relations by entering into
exclusivity arrangements with distributors and by prohibiting non-exclusive distributors from
purchasing Roxul and other competitors ceiling tiles. Roxul claims Armstrong interfered with its
existing and prospective business relationships. To the extent Roxul's claim is based on existing
business relationships, Armstrong argues Roxul failed to allege the existence of a contract
between Roxul and a distributor and failed to allege a breach of the contract. To the extent
Roxul's claims is based on prospective business relations, Armstrong argues Roxul did not
identify a specific party with which it held a prospective business relationship.
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To state a claim for tortious interference with existing contractual relations, Roxul must
allege "(1) a contract, (2) about which defendant knew, and (3) an intentional act that is a
significant factor in causing the breach of such contract, (4) without justification, (5) which
causes injury."96 To state a claim for tortious interference with prospective business relations,
Roxul must allege (1) the reasonable probability of business opportunity, (2) the intentional
interference by the defendant with that opportunity, (3) proximate causation, and (4) damages. 97
To satisfy the first element, Roxul "must identify a specific party who was prepared to entered
[sic] into a business relationship but was dissuaded from doing so by the defendant and cannot
rely on generalized allegations of harm. "' 98 "While the plaintiff does not need to identify a party
by name, the plaintiff must do more than offer 'vague statements about unknown customers. "'99
"A plaintiff cannot plead this element by alleging a 'nebulous, unascertainable class' of business
relationships. " 100
Roxul fails to state a claim for tortious interference with existing contractual relations.
Roxul does not allege a contractual relationship between it and a distributor and does not allege
Armstrong's interference resulted in the distributor breaching an agreement with Roxul. Roxul
also fails to state a claim for tortious interference with prospective business relationships. Roxul
fails to allege a reasonable probability of business opportunity.

Roxul alleges Armstrong

prohibited distributors from selling Roxul ceiling tile products. 101

To the extent these

distributors sold Roxul products, interference with the distributors would not be interference with
prospective relations. It is unclear from Roxul's allegations if distributors sought to sell Roxul
ceiling tile products and Armstrong prevented these sales.

Roxul cites its allegation upon

information and belief "Building Products Distributors would prefer to carry multiple Ceiling
Tile brands." 102 But Roxul does not allege facts supporting an inference of a single distributor
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prepared to enter into a business relationship with Roxul. These types of macro allegations
suffice for our Sherman and Clayton Act analysis, but not under the elements of tortious
interference under Delaware law. We are aware of no exception to tortious interference law in
the anti-competitive context.

Roxul fails to state a claim for tortious interference with

prospective business relations.

III.

Conclusion

Roxul adequately pleads Armstrong's exclusivity arrangements in the United States'
suspended acoustical ceiling tile market violate the Sherman Act and Clayton Act. Armstrong's
fact defenses are best reserved for summary judgment or trial. We dismiss Roxul's claim for
antitrust violations to the extent Roxul bases its claim on foreign trade in Canada and its claim
for tortious interference with business relationships without prejudice should Roxul be able to
plead facts consistent with this Memorandum under Fed. R. Civ. P. 11.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

CIVIL ACTION

ROXUL USA, INC.

v.
NO. 17-1258
ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES,
INC.
ORDER
AND NOW, this

9th

day of February 2018, upon considering Defendant's Motion to

dismiss (ECF Doc. No. 9), Plaintiffs Response (ECF Doc. No. 11), Defendant's Reply (ECF
Doc. No. 12) and for reasons in the accompanying Memorandum, it is ORDERED Defendant's
Motion (ECF Doc. No. 9) is GRANTED in part and DENIED in part:
1.

Defendant's Motion is GRANTED as to Plaintiffs attempts to define the relevant

market as including Canada and for its tortious interference claims under Delaware law without
prejudice; and,
2.

Defendant's Motion is DENIED in all other respects.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

ROXUL USA, INC.

CIVIL ACTION

v.
NO. 17-1258
ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES,
INC.

ORDER
AND NOW, this 26th day of February 2018, following our February 9, 2018 Order (ECF
Doc. No. 16) beginning discovery and our February 23, 2018 Initial Pretrial Conference, it is
ORDERED:
1.

Counsel and parties are required to follow this Court's Policies and Procedures in

effect at the time of the anticipated action ("Policies") and Default Order on Electronic
Discovery found at www.ded.uscourts.gov.
2.

Partially relying upon Plaintiffs representation of not pursuing a claim for

conduct before September 1, 2013, we strike Affirmative Defense Nos. 2, 3, 5, 9 and 12 (ECF
Doc. No. 23).
3.

All fact discovery shall be served, noticed and completed by November 9, 2018. 1
a) The parties may depose up to 20 persons each without leave.
b) The parties shall identify testimonial experts upon retention to testify, along
with a detailed curriculum vitae or background.

1

Should all parties wish to extend the fact or expert discovery deadline without extending any other deadline, the
parties may agree to do so without seeking leave of the Court.
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4.

This matter is referred to Magistrate Judge Heffley for all settlement

purposes. Plaintiffs Counsel will contact Magistrate Judge Heffley within seven (7) days of
this Order to schedule an initial settlement conference to occur on or before September 7, 2018
with a follow-up conference no later than December 20, 2018. Counsel will timely advise
Magistrate Judge Heffley if there is no chance of settlement before either conference; Counsel
shall also then promptly advise in writing and then confer with this Court to discuss the lack of
any settlement opportunity.
5.

Counsel for each party shall serve upon counsel for every other party the

information referred to in Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(a)(2)(B) necessary to meet their
burden of proof by expert report or answer to expert interrogatory no later than November 30,

2018. If the evidence is intended solely to contradict or rebut evidence on the same subject
matter identified by another party, counsel shall serve such rebuttal evidence on counsel for
every other party no later than January 4, 2019. Expert depositions, if any, shall be concluded
no later than January 11, 2019.
6.

Any party expecting to offer opinion testimony from lay witnesses under Fed. R.

Evid. 701, shall, at the time required for submission of information and/or reports for expert
witnesses set forth in the preceding paragraph, serve opposing parties with concise details and/or
documents detailing the lay opinions of the Rule 701 witnesses, including the identity of each
witness, the substance and the basis for each opinion.
7.

Summary judgment and Daubert motions, if any, shall be filed no later than

January 18, 2019. Responses shall be filed in accord with the Local Rules and this Court's
Policies and no later than February 4, 2019. Motions for summary judgment and responses
shall fully comply with this Court's Policies, including:

2
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(a)

A separately filed Statement of Undisputed Material Facts which details,

in numbered paragraphs, the material facts that the moving party contends are undisputed and
entitle the movant to judgment as a matter of law. Only those facts which bear on dispositive
material issues shall be included in the Statement of Undisputed Facts.
(b)

Opposition to a motion for summary judgment shall include a separate

filing of a Statement of Material Facts, responding to the numbered paragraphs in the movant's
Statement of Undisputed Facts, which the respondent contends present genuine issues for trial.
The responding party also shall set forth, in separate numbered paragraphs, any additional facts
which the respondent contends preclude summary judgment.
(c)

Statements of Material Facts in support of or in opposition to a motion for

summary judgment shall include specific and not general references to the record that support
each of the statements. Each stated fact shall cite the source relied upon, including the page of
any document or line and page number of any deposition to which reference is made.
(d)

Memoranda in support of, or opposing, a Rule 56 motion is limited to

twenty-five (25) pages, double-spaced, twelve (12) point font.
(e)

Upon filing, the movant(s) shall also file a separate appendix of all

exhibits or affidavits which may relate to the issues raised in the motion. On all cross-motions
under Rule 56, the cross-movants must consult and file a joint appendix. All pages of the
appendix shall be consecutively "Bates stamped" and referenced by the Bates number assigned
to each page. The appendix shall include a table of contents. The movant shall make every
effort to include all necessary exhibits in the appendix, anticipating the respondent's necessary
citations to the fullest good faith extent possible. Should it become necessary for the nonmoving party to submit affidavits or additional exhibits, it may do so in a respondent's appendix

3
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filed with its Opposition. Any additions to the movant's appendix shall also be consecutively
Bates-stamped, beginning sequentially at the page number where the movant's appendix ended,
and shall include a table of contents. This Court will not consider party documents not included
in the appendix.
(t)

Parties shall provide Chambers with one (1) paper courtesy copy of all

summary judgment submissions by overnight mail or hand delivery within one (1) business day
of filing.
(g)

Failure of the movant to follow this procedure in all respects may result in

denial of the motion without prejudice to be renewed at trial. Respondent's failure to comply in
all respects may result in this Court's considering the motion as uncontested.
8.

Only those exhibits, discovery items and expert witnesses identified in the manner

set forth in this Order shall be considered for admission into evidence at trial, unless stipulated
by all affected parties and approved by the Court.
9.

The unavailability of a witness will not be a ground to delay the commencement

or progress of an ongoing trial. If a witness may be unavailable at the time of trial in the manner
defined in Fed. R. Civ. P. 32(a)(4), testimony must be presented by oral or videotape deposition
at trial.
10.

No later than February 27, 2019, counsel for each party shall exchange a list of

deposition designations for trial and each exhibit the party expects to offer at trial along with a
reference to the Bates number or other identification of the documents used in discovery.
11.

No later than March 4, 2019, each party shall file a pretrial memorandum

compliant with this Court's Policies.

4
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12.

No later than March 5, 2019, each party shall file proposed jury instructions on

substantive issues and proposed verdict forms or special interrogatories, with an electronic copy
e-mailed in Word format to Chambers_of_Judge_Kearney@paed.uscourts.gov.
13.

All motions in limine, proposed voir dire peculiar to your case, objections to

proposed jury instructions and deposition designations (providing the transcript to Chambers)
shall be filed on or before March 8, 2019. Responses, including counter-designations, if any,
shall be filed on or before March 18, 2019.
14.

A final pretrial conference will be held telephonically on March 26, 2019 at 8:30

A.M. EST. Plaintiff shall arrange the conference and call our Philadelphia Chambers when lead
trial counsel are online.
15.

Counsel is attached for jury selection followed by a 6-day trial beginning on

April 5, 2019 at 9:00 A.M. in the United States Courthouse in Wilmington.

~~,J.

-

5
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE
ROXUL USA., INC.,
Plaintiff,
C.A. NO. 17-CV-1258-MAK

v.
ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES, INC.,
Defendant.

DEFENDANT ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES’ LIMITED DISCOVERY
MOTION TO COMPEL PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS FROM
PLAINTIFF ROXUL USA, INC.
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Defendant Armstrong World Industries, Inc. moves to compel Plaintiff Roxul USA, Inc.
(“Rockfon”) to produce relevant documents from the custodial files of the CEO (Birgersson),
former CEO (van Heel), and former Chairman (Jensen) of Rockfon’s Danish parent, Rockwool
International A/S. Evidence from Rockwool is highly relevant in this antitrust case, in which
Plaintiff alleges that “exclusivity agreements have unfairly prevented Rockfon from obtaining a
comparable market share between the parties in the [U.S.] Market that exists in Europe.” Compl.
¶ 81. Armstrong has sought discovery regarding Rockwool’s decision to start selling ceiling tile
in the U.S. at a time of weakness in building markets, its decision to supply the U.S. for almost 5
years solely through imports from its plants in Europe, its acquisition of Chicago Metallic Corp.
(“CMC”), a U.S. ceiling grid manufacturer with a network of building products distributors
(“BPDs”), its experience with distributing Rockwool insulation products through U.S. BPDs, its
management and oversight of Rockfon’s business strategies, and its numerous representations
made to investors regarding the growth and success of Rockfon’s U.S. ceiling tile business. See
Ex. 1 at ¶ 1. Rockfon has not contested the relevance of the discovery but has agreed to search the
files of just two Rockwool custodians, excluding the most important actors and decision-makers.1
Rockfon initially resisted based on (unsubstantiated) translation costs but Armstrong seeks only
documents that respond to English-language search terms. Id. at ¶ 3. Rockfon later claimed that
it had no ability to produce documents from the files of Birgersson, van Heel, and Jensen but this
belated argument rings hollow given its ability to produce other Rockwool documents. Id. Despite
good-faith efforts to resolve the dispute, the parties have reached an impasse. See Ex. 1 at ¶ 5.
The proposed custodians are key decision-makers. Rockfon has not denied that van

1

By contrast, Armstrong agreed to designate all of the 27 custodians sought by Rockfon, including its CEO and many
of its senior executives.

1
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Heel, Birgersson, and Jensen possess relevant information. Mr. Birgersson is both CEO and the
assigned group executive responsible for all of Rockwool’s business activities in North America,
including ceiling systems and insulation. Ex. 2 at 1; Ex. 3 at 6. He has overseen Rockfon’s
expansion in the U.S., including the recent opening of a domestic manufacturing facility,
remarking that “[t]he U.S. market is increasingly important for Rockfon and the ROCKWOOL
Group” amid “growing demand” for Rockfon’s ceiling products. Ex. 4. Mr. van Heel was the
President and CEO of Rockwool from 2004-2015, greenlighting Rockfon’s U.S. entry and the
CMC acquisition. Ex. 5 at 2. Mr. Jensen joined the Rockwool Board in 2009 and served as its
Chair from 2014-2017, playing an active role in Rockfon’s entry and expansion. Ex. 6 at 7; Ex. 7
at 4. Far from claiming Rockfon has been “injured,” “stunted” and “foreclosed” from the market,
Compl. ¶¶ 72, 80, 104, these executives have repeatedly represented to investors that Rockfon’s
U.S. entry was successful and its prospects bright. See Ex. 8; Exs. 12-16. Just months before
filing suit, Birgersson and Jensen issued Rockwool’s annual report stating: “With a new ceiling
tile plant, for our ROCKFON offering, coming on line in the middle of 2017, we are confident that
we are able to serve the growing market for acoustic ceilings in … North America.” Ex. 9 at 44.
Rockfon has the ability to produce Rockwool documents. Where a litigating subsidiary
“can secure documents of the principal-parent to meet its own business needs and documents
helpful for use in the litigation, the courts will not permit the agent-subsidiary to deny control for
purposes of discovery by an opposing party.” Gerling Int’l Ins. Co. v. Comm’r, 839 F.2d 131, 141
(3d Cir. 1988). Rockfon has already demonstrated the ability to secure documents from Rockwool
by designating two Rockwool custodians (and one custodian from a sister company in the
Rockwool Group). Ex. 1 at ¶¶ 2-4. As Rockfon informed the Court in its initial disclosures,
discoverable documents “are located at Rockfon’s offices in Copenhagen, Denmark” and may be

2
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“in the possession of employees and agents of Rockfon located . . . throughout the world.” Ex. 10
at 4. And Rockwool’s pervasive involvement in Rockfon’s activities indicates that Rockfon has
access to Rockwool documents in the ordinary course of business:


“Rockwool began selling Ceiling Tiles in the United States through its Rockfon subsidiary.”
Compl. ¶ 51 (emphases added).



“Rockwool initially hired several employees and began selling Ceilings Tiles in North
America in 2012. In 2013, Rockwool acquired Chicago Metallic Corporation (‘CMC’) in
part to expand its opportunities and develop viable distribution options.” Ex. 11 at 3.



“During 2014, priority was given to merge the ROCKFON and Chicago Metallic businesses,
… [and] sales of ceiling tiles in the US accelerated throughout the year supplied by imports
from [Rockwool’s] European factories.” Ex. 7 at 17.



Rockfon is part of the Rockwool Group, managed by the CEO and his Group Management
team with “standardised information and reporting systems to identify, collect and
communicate relevant information … on an ongoing basis and on all levels.” Ex. 9 at 59, 61.
The discovery is not burdensome. The parties have negotiated search terms and limited

the collection timeframe to no earlier than January 1, 2011 for most requests. Rockfon has raised
translation issues but there is no requirement to translate documents into English. Indeed, the
responsive documents are likely in English given that Rockwool is a multinational using English
to communicate, Ex. 6 at 4, and the proposed custodians speak English. In any event, the search
terms are in English and the requests focus on U.S. activities.2 Moreover, the benefit of and need
for discovery far outweighs any burden.

And Rockfon has resisted searching Rockwool’s

noncustodial files, making discovery from Rockwool custodians essential. Ex. 1 at ¶ 3. If Rockfon
were allowed to shield these documents from discovery, Armstrong would be forced to seek them
through time-consuming and burdensome Hague Convention procedures, which would imperil the
Court’s schedule for completing discovery.

2

For any documents that combine English and Danish, Rockfon can utilize US-qualified foreign-language reviewers.

3
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DATE: May 9, 2018

Respectfully submitted,
/s/ Kevin J. Mangan
Kevin J. Mangan (DE Bar No. 3810)
WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP
222 Delaware Avenue, Suite 1501
Wilmington, DE 19801
(320) 252-4320
kevin.mangan@wbd-us.com
Daniel G. Swanson (pro hac vice)
Shannon E. Mader (pro hac vice)
Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
333 South Grand Avenue
Los Angeles, CA 90071-3197
Telephone:
213.229.7000
dswanson@gibsondunn.com
smader@gibsondunn.com
Cynthia E. Richman (pro hac vice)
Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
1050 Connecticut Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20036-5306
Telephone:
202.955.8500
crichman@gibsondunn.com
Caeli A. Higney (pro hac vice)
Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
555 Mission Street, Suite 3000
San Francisco, CA 94105-2933
Telephone:
415.393.8200
chigney@gibsondunn.com
Attorneys for Defendant Armstrong World
Industries, Inc.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE
CIVIL ACTION

ROXUL USA, INC.

v.

NO. 17-1258

ARMSTRONG WORLD INDUSTRIES,
INC.

ORDER
AND NOW, this 14th day of May 2018, upon considering Defendant's Motion to compel
Plaintiff produce documents (ECF Doc. No. 45) responsive to an agreed search protocol from the
custodial files of three senior executives of the Plaintiffs parent company, Plaintiffs Opposition
(ECF Doc. No. 46), consistent with our Policies, and finding Plaintiff cannot establish good
cause for precluding the production of documents from the three custodians at issue as these
individuals may have records responsive to the agreed search protocol in their custodial files
relating to Defendant's stated defenses, it is ORDERED the Defendant's Motion (ECF Doc. No.
45) is GRANTED and Plaintiff shall produce the responsive documents no later than May 29,
2018 (unless otherwise agreed by the parties) without prejudice for Plaintiff to later move for
an Order to allocate costs if this court-ordered production is shown to be mostly duplicative and
reminding the parties this Order does not authorize deposing the identified custodians until
Defendant can lay a foundation of unique knowledge held by these custodians not otherwise
available in discovery from the domestic Plaintiff and its earlier identified custodians.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE
ROXUL USA, INC.,
Plaintiff,
v.
ARMSTRONG WORLD
INDUSTRIES, INC.,
Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

C.A. No. 17-cv-01258-MAK

CONFIDENTIALITY AGREEMENT AND STIPULATION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER
Plaintiff Roxul USA, Inc. d/b/a Rockfon (hereinafter “Rockfon” or “Plaintiff”) and
Defendant Armstrong World Industries, Inc. (hereinafter “Armstrong” or “Defendant”) consider
certain information to be confidential and proprietary and, therefore, mutually desire that a
protective order limiting use, access to, and disclosure of such information be entered in this case
under Rule 26(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Rockfon and Armstrong have entered
into a stipulation and have jointly requested that this Court enter this Confidentiality Agreement
and Stipulation for Protective Order (“Confidentiality Agreement”). Pursuant to Rule 26(c) of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, it is hereby AGREED and STIPULATED that:
This Confidentiality Agreement governs the handling of any information produced or
disclosed by any party or non-party (the “Producing Party”) to the receiving party in the abovecaptioned civil action (hereinafter “Action”) including documents, depositions, deposition
exhibits, interrogatory responses, responses to requests for admission, and pretrial and trial
testimony, and all copies, extracts, summaries, compilations, designations and portions of any of
the foregoing (such information shall hereinafter be referred to as “Discovery Material”).
1.

Confidential Information.

Any
1

301632259 v2

Producing

Party

may

designate

any
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Discovery Material as “Confidential” under the terms of this Confidentiality Agreement after
review by an attorney who has in good faith determined that such Discovery Material contains
“Confidential Information.”

The term “Confidential Information” shall be interpreted to

mean: documents or information that (1) is used in, or pertains to, the Producing Party’s business;
(2) that the Producing Party believes in good faith is not publicly known and not readily available
from other sources; and (3) that the Producing Party would not reveal to third parties without
requiring such third parties to maintain in confidence.
2.

Highly Confidential Outside Counsel Eyes Only Information.

Any Producing

Party may designate any Discovery Material as “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” under the terms of
this Confidentiality Agreement after review by an attorney who in good faith determined that
such Discovery Material contains “Outside Counsel Eyes Only Information.” The term “Outside
Counsel Eyes Only Information” shall be interpreted to mean: documents or material that
contains highly sensitive business or personal information, the disclosure of which is highly
likely to cause significant harm to an individual or to the business or competitive position of the
designating party.
3.

Use of Confidential and Outside Counsel Eyes Only Discovery Material. Except

with prior written consent of the Producing Party, or as hereinafter provided under this
Confidentiality Agreement, Confidential and Outside Counsel Eyes Only Discovery Material
may not be disclosed to any person other than the person who originally produced it in this
Action. Confidential and Outside Counsel Eyes Only Discovery Material shall be used solely for
purposes of this Action and shall not be used for any other action or purpose, including, without
limitation, any business, proprietary, or commercial purpose.
4.

Manner of Designating Materials.

The designation of Discovery Material as

“Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” for purposes of this Confidentiality Agreement
2
301632259 v2
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shall be made in the following manner by the Producing Party.
(a)

In the case of documents, including any and all memoranda, interrogatory

responses, responses to requests for admission, or other materials (apart from transcripts or
recordings of oral testimony from any deposition, which are subject to paragraph 4(b)-(c) below),
by affixing the legend “Confidential” to those pages of such documents as contain Confidential
Discovery Material and affixing the legend “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” to those pages of such
documents as contain Outside Counsel Eyes Only Discovery Material.

In addition to the

foregoing, the Parties reserve the right to request, from the Court, confidential treatment of any
pretrial or trial proceedings.
(b)

In the case of video tapes, audio tapes, and electronic media such as

computer disks or compact disks (CD), which contain or include Confidential or Outside Counsel
Eyes Only Discovery Material, by providing written notice of such designation, affixing the
required legend on the package thereof and designating the specific sections of the media that
contain Confidential or Outside Counsel Eyes Only Discovery Material. This provision does not
apply to electronic media containing images of documents, where such documents are capable
of being individually labeled.
(c)

For depositions, in one of the following manners:
(i)

At any deposition, upon any inquiry with regard to the content of a

document marked “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only,” or when counsel for a person
(party or nonparty) deems that the answer to a question may result in the disclosure of
Confidential or Outside Counsel Eyes Only Information of his or her client within the
meaning of this Confidentiality Agreement, counsel for the person whose information is
involved, at his or her option, may state on the record before or during the deposition that such
testimony or exhibits shall be treated as “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only”
3
301632259 v2
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Discovery Material, and, in lieu of taking other steps available in such situation, may direct
that the question and answer be transcribed separately from the remainder of the deposition and
be filed in accordance with applicable procedures for the United States District Court for the
District of Delaware. When such a direction has been given, the disclosure of the testimony
shall be limited in the manner specified in ¶¶ 5-7 hereof, and the information contained therein
shall not be used for any purpose other than for purposes of this suit. Counsel for the person
whose information is involved may also request that all persons other than the reporter,
counsel and authorized individuals leave the deposition room during the confidential portion of
the deposition. The failure of such other persons to comply with a request to leave the
deposition, shall constitute substantial justification for counsel to advise the witness that he or she
need not answer the question; or
(ii)

Within ten (10) business days from the receipt of the transcript

or recording of the deposition, counsel of record may designate the appropriate portions of the
transcript, including exhibits, as “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” by giving
written notice to the other parties.
The parties shall treat all depositions as Outside Counsel Eyes Only Discovery
Material until ten (10) business days after receiving a copy of the transcript thereof. After ten
(10) business days, only those portions of any transcript, including exhibits, designated in
writing (or on the record at the deposition or proceeding) as “Confidential” shall be deemed
Confidential Discovery Material, and only those portions of any transcript, including exhibits,
designated in writing (or on the record at the deposition) as “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” shall
be deemed Outside Counsel Eyes Only Discovery Material. Counsel for the party designating
a transcript, recording or portions thereof “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” shall
be responsible for arranging to have appropriate confidentiality legends affixed to the specific
4
301632259 v2
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pages of the original transcript, or affixed as appropriate to any other form of recording, and
copies of the transcript or recording containing Confidential or Outside Counsel Eyes Only
Information.

Any receiving party is, however, upon receipt of the notice discussed herein,

responsible for appropriately marking those copies of the transcript or recording containing
Confidential or Outside Counsel Eyes Only Information that are in the possession of the
receiving party. The parties may modify this procedure for any particular deposition, through
agreement on the record at such deposition or otherwise by written stipulation.
(d)

A third party required to produce documents pursuant to Federal Rule of

Civil Procedure 45, including but not limited to deposition testimony and documents, shall have
the right to designate its documents and testimony as “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes
Only” pursuant to, and in accordance with, the protections of this Confidentiality Agreement.
(e)

Failure to so designate and mark as provided above in paragraphs 4(a)-(d)

shall not preclude the Producing Party, within twenty (20) days of production, from making such
a designation and requesting the Receiving Party to so mark and treat such documents and
things so designated. After such designations, such documents and things shall be fully subject
to this Confidentiality Agreement. The Receiving Party shall incur no liability for disclosures
made prior to notice of such a change in designations. However, the Receiving Party shall
make reasonable efforts to collect or destroy copies of any documents distributed in a manner
that is inconsistent with any new or changed designations.
5.

Who May Access “Confidential” Information.

Discovery Material designated

“Confidential” may be disclosed, summarized, described, or otherwise communicated or made
available in whole or in part only to the following:
(a)

Outside counsel of

record in this case, together with their associates,

secretaries, paralegals, document clerks, vendors, and other support staff, to whom it is necessary
5
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to disclose the information in order to assist counsel with the preparation or trial of this Action;
(b)

Each party’s respective in-house legal staff, as well as their legal

assistants, paralegals, or other support personnel actively involved in supporting this litigation.
Each party hereto represents that such persons have been (or will be prior to receiving
Confidential Information) informed of the terms of this Confidentiality Agreement and that such
persons will sign the Undertaking in compliance with paragraph 8 of this Confidentiality
Agreement;
(c)

Each party may designate three officers or employees, as necessary to aid

trial counsel in the preparation of claims and defenses in this lawsuit.

Each party hereto

represents that such persons have been (or will be prior to receiving Confidential Information)
informed of the terms of this Stipulated Order and that such persons will sign the Undertaking in
compliance with paragraph 8 of this Stipulated Order;
(d)

For each party, consultants or experts specifically retained for this Action,

together with their assistants, to the extent necessary to assist the consultant’s or expert’s work in
this litigation, subject to and conditioned upon compliance with paragraphs 6 and 8 of this
Confidentiality Agreement;
(e)

Any person(s) shown on the face of the document to be its author or

recipient, solely to the extent that they previously had lawful access to the information disclosed
or to be disclosed;
(f)

The Court, its clerks and Court personnel, and those court reporters,

videographers, and necessary support personnel of such court reporters retained in connection
with depositions, hearing, or trial testimony given or taken by any party in this Action, to the
extent necessary to transcribe the testimony and identify exhibits marked in the course of the
testimony subject to paragraph 10 of this Confidentiality Agreement;
6
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(g)

Commercial copy services, translators, data entry and computer support

organizations, and such persons who assist in preparing demonstrative trial exhibits, hired by and
assisting outside counsel for a party, provided such commercial organizations are made aware of
and agree to abide by the provisions of this Confidentiality Agreement;
(h) Members of a jury empaneled in this Action; and
(i)

Such other persons as hereafter may be designated by written agreement of

the parties in this Action or by order of the Court.
6.

Experts and Consultants.
Each expert and consultant to whom Confidential or Outside Counsel Eyes Only

Information is to be given, shown, disclosed, made available or communicated in any way, shall
first execute an undertaking agreeing to be bound by the terms of this Confidentiality
Agreement, a copy of which shall be maintained by the expert or consultant and the Party that
retained said expert or consultant.
7.

Who May Access “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” Information. Discovery

Material designated “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” may be disclosed, summarized, described, or
otherwise communicated or made available in whole or in part only to persons identified in subparagraphs 5(a), 5(d), 5(e)-(i) as well as to a single designated member of the Receiving Party’s
respective in-house legal department. The Receiving Party will not disclose Outside Counsel
Eyes Only Discovery Material to any other individual unless written authorization for further
disclosure is given by the Producing Party or further ordered by the Court.
8.

Execution of Undertaking.

Each person who receives, gains access to, or

otherwise learns of any “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” Information, not
previously known to that person, shall sign the Undertaking attached as Exhibit A hereto,
confirming the recipient’s understanding and agreement to abide by the terms of this
7
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Confidentiality Agreement. Counsel for the Receiving Party shall retain the original of the
Undertaking.
9.

Witness Access to Confidential Information.

Any person may be interviewed,

subpoenaed or examined as a witness at a hearing, trial or a deposition concerning any
“Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” Information which that person had lawfully
received or had personal access to prior to and apart from this lawsuit. In addition, for party
witnesses, they may be shown any “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” designated
documents which were produced by their employer.

During the deposition of a non-party

witness, the witness may be shown “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” Discovery
Material subject to and conditioned upon compliance with the requirements of this
Confidentiality Agreement and upon signing the Undertaking attached as Exhibit A hereto.
10.

No Admission or Prejudice.

receiving “Confidential”

or

Entering into, agreeing to and/or producing or

“Outside Counsel

Eyes

Only”

Information

or

otherwise

acting in accordance with the terms of this Confidentiality Agreement, or failing to object thereto,
shall not:
(a)

operate as an admission by any party that any particular information

comprises or reflects trade secrets, proprietary or commercially sensitive information or any
other type of confidential information;
(b)

operate as an admission by any party that the restrictions and procedures

set forth herein constitute adequate protection for any particular information deemed by any
party to be “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” Information;
(c)

prejudice or waive in any way the rights of the parties to object to the

production of documents they consider not subject to discovery for any reason;
(d)

prejudice or waive in any way the rights of any party to object to the
8
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authenticity or admissibility into evidence of any document, testimony or other evidence subject
to this Confidentiality Agreement;
(e)

prejudice or waive in any way the rights of a party to seek determination

by the Court whether any Discovery Material should or should not be subject to the terms of this
Confidentiality Agreement;
(f)

prejudice or waive in any way the rights of a party to petition the Court for

a further protective order relating to any purportedly confidential information;
(g)

prejudice or waive in any way any claim or defense in this Action; or

(h)

prevent the parties to this Confidentiality Agreement from agreeing in

writing or on the record during a deposition or hearing in this Action to alter or waive the
provisions or protections provided for herein with respect to any particular Discovery Material.
11.

Materials that are “Exempt.” This Confidentiality Agreement has no effect upon,

and shall not apply to, a Producing Party’s use or disclosure of its own “Confidential” or
“Outside Counsel Eyes Only” Information for any purpose. Nothing contained herein shall
impose any restrictions on the use or disclosure by a Receiving Party of documents, materials or
information designated as “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” obtained lawfully by
such party independently of any proceeding in this Action, or which:
(a)

were already known to such Receiving Party by lawful means prior to

acquisition from, or disclosure by, another party in this Action;
(b)

are or become publicly known through no fault or act of the Receiving

(c)

are rightfully obtained by the Receiving Party from a third party which has

Party; or

authority to provide such “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” Information and
without restriction as to disclosure.
9
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12.

Treatment of “Exempt” Materials. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph

11, where the Receiving Party in good faith believes one or more of the exceptions set forth in
paragraph 11 is applicable, Receiving Party shall challenge said designation in accordance with
paragraph 17 and shall treat the disputed “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only”
Discovery Material as designated by the Producing Party until the challenge is resolved.
13.

Joinder of Parties. In the event additional parties join or are joined in this Action,

they shall not have access to “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” Information until
the newly-joined party or its counsel has executed and, at the request of any party, filed with the
Court its agreement to be fully bound by this Confidentiality Agreement or an alternative
protective order which is satisfactory to all parties and the Court.
14.

Governance of Proceeding; Modification. The provisions of this Confidentiality

Agreement shall govern discovery and all pretrial, post-trial and appellate proceedings in this
Action.

Each of the parties hereto is entitled to seek modification of this Confidentiality

Agreement by application to the Court on notice to the other parties hereto for good cause.
15.

Termination. The provisions of this Stipulated Order shall, absent written

permission of the Producing Party or further order of the Court, continue to be binding
throughout and after the conclusion of this Action, including, without limitation, any appeals
therefrom. Within sixty (60) days after receiving notice of the entry of an order, judgment or
decree finally disposing of this Action, including any appeals therefrom, all persons having
received “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” Information shall, at the option of the
Receiving Party, destroy or return to counsel for the Producing Party such information and all
copies thereof (including summaries and excerpts). Counsel shall make reasonable efforts to
ensure that any consultants it has retained abide by this provision. Outside counsel of record for
the Receiving Party shall be entitled to retain court papers, deposition and trial transcripts and
10
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exhibits, and attorney work product (including court papers, transcripts, and attorney work
product that contains Confidential and/or Outside Counsel Eyes Only Discovery Material),
provided that such counsel, and employees of such counsel, shall not disclose any such
Discovery Material contained in such court papers, transcripts, or attorney work product to
any person or entity except pursuant to a written agreement with the Producing Party.

All

material returned to the parties or their counsel by the Court likewise shall be disposed of
in accordance with this paragraph.
16.

Survival and Amendments. The Court retains the right to allow, sua sponte or

upon motion, disclosure of any subject covered by this Confidentiality Agreement or to modify
this Confidentiality Agreement at any time in the interest of justice, upon notice to the parties.
Any party may make a request to the Court for any reasonable amendment to this Confidentiality
Agreement to facilitate the efficient and appropriate handling of Confidential Information. The
Court retains jurisdiction subsequent to settlement or entry of judgment to enforce the terms of
this Confidentiality Agreement.
17.

Disputing a Designation. If the Receiving Party disagrees in good faith with a

“Confidential” and/or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” designation, it may notify the Producing
Party in writing of such disagreement, and both parties within five (5) business days will
thereupon confer in good faith as to the proper status of such. If the parties are unable to reach
agreement, the Producing Party must within ten (10) business days apply to the Court for a ruling
concerning the status of such information and, while such application and ruling are pending,
the Receiving Party shall treat such information in accordance with the Producing Party’s
designation and as required under this Confidentiality Agreement. No party shall be obligated
to challenge the propriety of a designation, and a failure to do so during this Action shall not
preclude a subsequent attack on the propriety of such designation.
11
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18.

Subpoena or Legal Process. If any Receiving Party is (a) subpoenaed in another

action, or (b) served with a demand in another action to which it is a party, or (c) served with any
legal process by one not a party to this Action, seeking Discovery Material which was produced
or designated as “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” by someone other than the
Receiving Party, the Receiving Party, upon determining that such Discovery Materials are called
for, must promptly notify the Producing Party, in writing, and in no event more than five (5)
business days after receiving the subpoena or order. Such notification must include a copy of the
subpoena or court order. The Receiving Party also must promptly inform, in writing, the party
who caused the subpoena or order to issue in the other litigation that some or all the material
covered by the subpoena or order is the subject of this Confidentiality Agreement, and provide
that party with a copy of this Confidentiality Agreement.
The purpose of imposing these duties is to alert the interested parties to the existence of
this Confidentiality Agreement and to afford the Producing Party in this case an opportunity to
try to protect its confidentiality interests in the court from which the subpoena or order issued.
The Producing Party shall bear the burdens and the expenses of seeking such protection.
Nothing herein shall be construed as requiring anyone covered by this Confidentiality Agreement
to contest a subpoena or other process, to appeal any order requiring production of Discovery
Material which was produced or designated as “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only”,
or to subject itself to penalties for non-compliance with any legal process or order.
19.

Disclosure to Government Agency.

In the event that any Receiving Party is

required to (or shall, pursuant to a statute or regulation) disclose Discovery Material which was
produced or designated by another Producing Party as “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes
Only” to a United States government agency, the Receiving Party shall (a) request from the
government agency the highest form of confidentiality treatment for the information allowed by
12
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the agency’s rules and regulations, (b) promptly notify the Producing Party, in writing, and in no
event more than five (5) business days after being informed that or determining that it is required
to disclose such “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only” information to the government
agency, and (c) prior to the submission of the information to the agency, provide to the
Producing Party copies of the Discovery Material or the written matter containing the
information, or, if the information is not in written form, a detailed summary of the substance of
the information.
20

Rendering Legal Advice.

Nothing herein shall bar or otherwise restrict an

attorney who is a qualified recipient of “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel Eyes Only”
Information under the terms of this Confidentiality Agreement from rendering advice to his or
her client with respect to this Action and, in the course thereof, from generally relying upon his
or her examination of such Discovery Material.

In rendering such advice or in otherwise

communicating with the client, the attorney shall not disclose the specific content of any such
Discovery Material of another person or party, whether specifically, generally, inferentially, in
summary or otherwise, where such disclosure would not otherwise be permitted under the terms
of this Confidentiality Agreement.
21.

Inadvertent Production. The inadvertent production of any privileged or

otherwise protected or exempted information, as well as the inadvertent production of
information without an appropriate designation of confidentiality, shall not be deemed a waiver
or impairment of any claim of privilege or protection, including, but not limited to, the attorneyclient privilege, the protection afforded to work-product materials, or the subject matter thereof
or the confidential nature of any such information, as to the inadvertently produced document
and as to any related material. The Producing Party must notify the Receiving Party promptly, in
writing, upon discovery that a document has been inadvertently produced.
13
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Upon receiving written notice from the Producing Party that privileged or confidential
information and/or work-product material has been inadvertently produced, all such information,
and all copies thereof, shall be destroyed or returned to the Producing Party within five (5)
business days of receipt of such notice and the Receiving Party shall not use such information for
any purpose until further Order of the Court. All copies of the documents in electronic format
must also be returned or destroyed.
22.

Adequate Location of Materials. All materials containing Confidential or Outside

Counsel Eyes Only Information shall be maintained in a manner and under circumstances to
ensure that access is limited to those persons entitled to have access under the Confidentiality
Agreement.
Dated: June 6, 2018
WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP

FARNAN LLP

/s/ Kevin J. Mangan
Kevin J. Mangan (Bar No. 3810)
222 Delaware Avenue, Suite 1501
Wilmington, DE 19801
Tel: (302) 252-4361
Fax: (302) 661-7729
kevin.mangan@wbd-us.com

/s/ Michael J. Farnan
Joseph J. Farnan, Jr. (Bar No. 100245)
Brian E. Farnan (Bar No. 4089)
Michael J. Farnan (Bar No. 5165)
919 North Market Street
12th Floor
Wilmington, DE 19801
Tel: (302) 777-0300
Fax: (302) 777-0301
farnan@farnanlaw.com
bfarnan@farnanlaw.com
mfarnan@farnanlaw.com

Daniel G. Swanson (pro hac vice)
Shannon E. Mader (pro hac vice)
Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
333 South Grand Avenue
Los Angeles, CA 90071-3197
Telephone:
213.229.7000
dswanson@gibsondunn.com
smader@gibsondunn.com

Christopher S. Finnerty (admitted pro hac vice)
Jeffrey S. Patterson (admitted pro hac vice)
Michael R. Murphy (admitted pro hac vice)
Morgan T. Nickerson (admitted pro hac vice)
Jack S. Brodsky (admitted pro hac vice)
K&L GATES LLP
State Street Financial Center, One Lincoln Street

Cynthia E. Richman (pro hac vice)
Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
1050 Connecticut Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20036-5306
Telephone:
202.955.8500
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crichman@gibsondunn.com
Caeli A. Higney (pro hac vice)
Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
555 Mission Street, Suite 3000
San Francisco, CA 94105-2933
Telephone:
415.393.8200
chigney@gibsondunn.com

Boston, MA 02111-2950
Tel: (617) 261-3100
chris.finnerty@klgates.com
jeffrey.patterson@klgates.com
michael.r.murphy@klgates.com
morgan.nickerson@klgates.com
jack.brodsky@klgates.com

Counsel for Defendant

Counsel for Plaintiff
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE
ROXUL USA, INC.,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff,
v.
ARMSTRONG WORLD
INDUSTRIES, INC.,
Defendant.

C.A. No. 17-cv-01258-MAK

UNDERTAKING
I,
1.

My address is

2.

My present employer is

, state that:
.
, and the address of

my present employer is

.

3.

My present occupation or job title is

.

4.

I have received a copy of the Confidentiality Agreement and Stipulation for Protective

Order (the “Confidentiality Agreement”) entered in this case.
5.

I have carefully read and understand the provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement.

6.

I will comply with all of the provisions of the Confidentiality Agreement.

7.

I will hold in confidence, and will not disclose to anyone not qualified under the

Confidentiality Agreement, any information designated as “Confidential” or “Outside Counsel
Eyes Only” (“Confidential Discovery Material”) or any words, substances, summaries, abstracts
or indices of Confidential Discovery Material disclosed to me, and I shall use Confidential
Discovery Material only for purposes of this Action and not for any other purpose, including,
without limitation, any business, proprietary, commercial, governmental, or litigation purpose.
17
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8.

I will return all Confidential Discovery Material or any words, substances, summaries,

abstracts and indices thereof, and copies thereof, which come into my possession, and documents
or things which I have prepared relating thereto, to counsel for the party by whom I am
employed or retained.
9.

I further acknowledge that a violation of this Confidentiality Agreement could subject the

parties to irreparable injury for which money damages would be an inadequate remedy and,
therefore, agree that, in addition to any other available remedies, injunctive relief shall be
available to restrain any violations of the Confidentiality Agreement.
10.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed this

day of

,

Signature

18
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

GN NETCOM, INC.,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff,
v.

PLANTRONICS, INC.,
Defendant.

C.A. No. 12-1318-LPS

JURY VERDICT SHEET

We, the jury, unanimously find as follows:
1.

Has GN proven that the relevant market is the sale of traditional CC&O headsets in
the United States and Canada and I or the DVAR submarket in the United States and
Canada?
Yes - - - -

No - - - -

If you answer this question "Yes," please complete Questions 2-5 below. If you
answer this question "No, "please skip to the end.
2.

Has GN proven all of the elements of its Sherman Act Section 1 Unreasonable
Restraint of Trade claim?
Yes - - - -

3.

Has GN proven all of the elements of its Sherman Act Section 2 Monopolization
claim?
Yes - - - -

4.

No - - - -

Has GN proven all of the elements of its Sherman Act Section 2 Attempt to
Monopolize claim?
Yes - - - -

5.

No - - - -

No - - - -

Has GN proven all of the elements of its Clayton Act Section 3 claim?
Yes - - - -

No - - - -

1
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If you answered

"Yes" to any of Questions 2 - 5, please complete Question 6.
answer "No" to all of Questions 2 - 5, please skip to the end

6.

Has GN proven that Plantronics' acts caused GN to suffer antitrust injury and
damages?
Yes - - - - -

No _ _ __

If you

answered "Yes, " please complete Questions 7 below.
question "No, "please skip to the end

7.

If you

If you

answer this

What is the total extent of damages GN is entitled to recover?

Please sign this verdict sheet and inform the court security officer that you have reached a
verdict.
We, the jurors, by signing below, indicate our unanimous verdict.

Jury Foreperson

Juror

Juror

Juror

Juror

Juror

Juror

Dated: October_, 2017
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE
GN NETCOM, INC.,
Plaintiff,
v.

PLANTRONICS, INC.,
Defendant.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

C.A. No. 12-1318-LPS

JURY INSTRUCTIONS

Case 1:12-cv-01318-LPS Document 532 Filed 10/18/17 Page 2 of 62 PageID #: 13458

1.

Introduction

Members of the jury, now it is time for me to instruct you about the law that you must
follow in deciding this. case .. I will start by explaining your d:uties and. the general rules that apply
in every civil case. I will explain some rules that you must use .jn evaluating particular testimony·
and evidence. I will explain the positions of the parties and the law you will apply in this case.
Last, I will explai~ the rules that you must follow during your deliberations in the jury room, and
the possible verdicts that yori may retu1:11.
Please listen very carefully to everything I say. In following my instructions you must
follow all of them and not single out some and ignore others. They are all important.
You will have your written copy of these instructions with you in the jury room for your
reference during your deliberations. You will also have a verdict form, which will list the questions
that you must answer to decide this case.

1
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2.

Jurors' Duties
You have two duties as a jury. The first one is to decide what the facts are from the
evidence that you saw and heard he~e in court. Your second duty is to t~ke the law that I give you,

apply it to the facts, and decide, under the appropriate burden of proof, which party should prevail
on each of the issues presented. It is my job to

ins~ct

you about the law, and you are bound by

the oath that you took at the beginning of the trial to follow the instructions that I give you, even
if you ·personally disagree with them. This includes the instructions that I gave you before and
during the trial, and these instructions. All the instructions are important, and you should consider ·
them together as a whole.
Perform these duties fairly and impartially. Do not let any bias, sympathy, prejudice, fear,
or public opinion influence you. Nothing I say now, and nothing I may do or say during the trial,
is meant to indicate any opinion on my part about what the facts are or about what your verdict
should be.

2
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3.

Burden of Proof
In any legal action, facts must be proven by a.required weight of the evidence, known as
the "burden of proof.'' In this case, the burden of proof is called "preponderance

o~ the

.

.

evidence." This is a civil case in which GN claims that Plantronics violated the antitrust laws of
the United States. GN has the burden of proving its claims by what is called a preponderance of
the evidence. That means GN has to produce evidence which, when considered in light of all of
the facts, leads you to believe that what GN alleges is more likely true than not. To put it
· differently, if you were to put t~e evidence of GN and Plantronics on opposite sides of a scale,
the evidence supporting GN' s claims would have to make the scale tip somewhat on GN' s side.
If the evidence is evenly balanced, the party has not proven the element by a preponderance of

the evidence and you must find against that party. If GN fails to meet this burden, your verdict
must be for Plantronics. If GN tips the scale slightly in its favor and carries its burden, your
verdict must be for GN.

3
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4.

Evidence Defined
You must make your decision based only on the evidence that you saw and heard here in
court. Do not let rumors, suspicions, or anything else that you may have seen or heard outside of
court influence your decision in any way.
The evidence in this case includes only what the witnesses said while they were testifying
under oath either here at trial or at a deposition that has been presented to you, the exhibits that I
allowed into evidence, the stipulations to which the lawyers agreed, and any facts that I have

judicially noticed.
The lawyers' statements and arguments are not evidence. The arguments of the lawyers are
offered solely as an aid to help you in your determination of the facts. Their questions and
objections are not evidence. The notes taken by any juror are not evidence.
During the trial I may not have let you hear the answers to some of the questions the.lawyers
?Sked. I may also have ruled that you could not see some of the exhibits that the lawyers wanted
you t~ see. Further, sometimes I may have ordered you to disregard things that you saw or heard,
or struck things from the record. You must follow my rulings and completely ignore all of these
things. Do not speculate about what a witness might have said or what an exhibit might have c·
shown. These things are not evidence, and you are bound by your oath not to let them influence
your decision in any way.
· During the course of the trial, if I instructed you that I admitted certain testimony and
certain exhibits for a limited purpose, you may consider such evidence only for the specific limited
purposes for which it was admitted. When I give instructions regarding that limited purpo.se, you
must follow it.

4
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You must not seek out or rely upon any materials other than those you receive here in court.
In particular, you must not conduct int_emet searches or otherwise attempt to find information about ·
the case or the parties other than what you are given in court.
Make your decision based only on the evidence, as l have defined it here, and nothing else.

5
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5.

Spoliation
I instruct you that Plantronics failed to preserve evidence after its duty to preserve arose ..
This failure to preserve is known as "spoliation of evidence." In other words, spoliation is the
destruction or material alteration of evidence or the failure to preserve evidence fot another's use
in pending or reasonably foreseeable litigation.
Based on Plantronics' spoliation, you may, but are not required, to presume that the lost
evidence would have been relevant and helpful to GN's case and/or would have been harmful to
Plantronics' case. Alternatively, you may infer that the evidence not produced would merely
have been duplicative of, or similar to, the evidence before you.
In other words, your role is to determine whether Plantronics' spoliation tilted the playing
field against GN. If so, the permission given to you by the Court to infer that the missing
documents would have been relevant and helpful to GN and/or harmful to Plantronics is
designed to allow you to balance that playing field, should you feel it is necessary.
It is up to you to decide the extent to which the lost evidence was relevant and helpful to
GN and/or harmful to Plantronics. Of course, it is impossible to know exactly what evidence
was lost - although the paiiies have tried - so you must make these dete1minations to the best of
your ability based on all of the facts and circumstances of this case. You must then decide how
much weight and effect to give to your belief about spoliation in reaching your verdict.

6
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6.

Consideration of Evidence
You should use your common sense in weighing the evidence. Consider the evidence in
light of.your everyday experience with people and, events, and give it whatever weight you
believe it deserves. If your experience tells you that certain evidence reasonably leads to a
conclusion, you are free to reach that conclusion.

7
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7~

Direct and Circumstantial Evidence
There are two kinds of evidence: direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct
evidence is evidence like the testimony.of an eyewitness which, if you believe it, directly proves
a fact. For example, if a witness testified that she saw it raining outside, and you believed her, that
would be direct evidence that it was raining.
Circumstantial evidence is indirect proof of a fact, i.e., proof of facts from which you may
infer or conclude that other facts exist. For example, if someone walked into the courtroom
wearing a raincoat covered with drops of water and carrying a wet umbrella, that would be
circumstantial evidence from which you could conclude that it was raining.
It is your job to decide how much weight to give the direct and circumstantial evidence.

The law makes no distinction between the weight that you should give to either one, nor does it
say one type· of evidence is any better evidence than the other. You should consider all the
evidence, both direct and circumstantial, and give it whatever weight you believe it deserves.
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8.

Statements of Counsel

A further word about statements and arguments of counsel: the attorneys' statements and
arguments are not evidence. Instead, their statements and arguments are intended to help you
review the evidence presented. If you remember the evidence differently from the attorneys, you·
should rely on your own recollection.
The role of attorneys is to zealously and effectively advance the claims of the parties they
represent within the bounds of the law. An attorney may argue all reasonable conclusions from
evidence in the record. It is not proper, however, for an attorney to state an opinion as to the truth
or falsity of any testimony or evidence. What an attorney personally thinks or believes about the
testimony or evidence in a case is not relevant, and you are instructed to disregard any personal
opinion or belief concerning testimony or evidence that an attorney has offered during opening or
closing statements, or at any other time during the course of the trial.

g
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9.

Credibility of Witnesses
You are the sole judges of each witness's credibility. You may believe everything a witness
says, or part of it, or none of it. You should consider each witness's means of knowledge; strength
of memory; opportunity to observe; how reasonable or unreasonable the testimony is in light of all
the evidence; whether other evidence contradicted the witness's testimony; the witness's biases,
prejudices, or interests; the witness's manner or demeanor on the witness stand; and any other
factors that, according to the evidence, could affect the credibility of the testimony.
If you find the testimony to be contradictory, you must try to reconcile it, if reasonably

possible, so as to make one harmonious story of it all. But if you can't do this, then it is your duty
and privilege to believe the testimony that, in your judgment, is most believable and disregard any
testimony that, in your judgment, is not believable.

In determining the weight to give to the testimony of a witness, you should ask yourself
whether there is evidence tending to prove that the witness testified falsely about some important
fact, or whether there was evidence that at some other time the witness said or did something, or
failed ·to say or do something, that was different from the testimony he or she gave at _trial or during
a deposition. You have the right to distrust such witness's testimony and you may reject all or
some of the testimony of that witness or give it such credibility as you may think it deserves.
You should remember that a simple mistake by a witness does not necessarily mean that
the witness was not telling the truth. People may tend to forget some things or remeinber other
things inaccurately. If a witness has made a misstatement, you must consider whether it was an
innocent lapse of memory or an intentional falsehood, and that may depend upon whether it
concerns an important fact or an unimportant detail. This instruction applies to all witnesses,
including expert witnesses.
10

Case 1:12-cv-01318-LPS Document 532 Filed 10/18/17 Page 12 of 62 PageID #: 13468

10.

Number of Witnesses
One more point about the witnesses. Sometimes jurors wonder if the number of witnesses
who testified makes any difference. Do not make any decisions based only on the number of
witnesses who testified. What is more important is how believable the witnesses were, and how
much weight you think their testimony deserves. Concentrate on that, not the numbers.

11
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11.

Expert Witnesses
When knowledge of technical subject matter may be helpful to the jury, a person who has
special training or experience in that technical field-called an expert witness-is permitted to
state his or her opinion on those technical matters. However; you are not required to accept that
opinion. As with any other witness, it is up to you to decide whether to rely upon it.
.In weighing expert testimony, you may consider the expert's qualifications, the reasons
for the expert's opinions, and the reliability of the information supporting the. expert's opinions,
as well as the factors I have previously mentioned for weighing testimony of any other witness.
The fact that an expert states a fact or an opinion does not mean that the testimony is correct or
supported by the factual evidence. Expert testimony is a guide to interpreting the evidence.
What the facts are is for you to decide.
Expert testimony should .receive whatever weight and credit you think appropriate, given
all the other evidence in the case. You are free to accept or reject the testimony of experts, just
as with any other witness.

12
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12.

Lay Opinion Testimony
Witnesses who were not testifying as experts, may have given their opinions during the
trial. The fact that a witness has stated an opinion does not mean you are required to accept it.
You may give the opinions whatever weight you think appropriate. Consider the extent of the
witness's opportunity to perceive the matters on which his or her opinion is based, the reasons
the witness gave for any opinion, and the facts or information on which the witness relied in

· forming that opinion. You must decide whether information on which the witness relied was
true and accurate. You may disregard all or any part of an opinion that you find unbelievable,
unreasonable, or unsupported by the evidence. You should remember that lay witnesses may not
testify to. hypothetical situations or respond to hypothetical questions and should therefore
disregard any opinions relating to hypothetical.s.

13
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13.

Depositions as Substantive Evidence
During this trial, you have heard testimony from the playing of videotape excerpts or the
reading of written excerpts from depositions. If played by video, the deposition testimony may
have been edited or cut to exclude irrelevant testimony. However, the parties and the Court have
conferred regarding what portions of deposition videos are to be played. You should therefore not
attribute any significance to the fact that deposition videos may appear to have been edited.
A deposition is the sworn testimony of a witness taken before trial. The witness is placed
under oath to tell the truth and lawye~s for each party may ask questions. A court reporter is present
and records the questions and. answers.
Deposition testimony is entitled to the same consideration and is to be judged, as much as
possible, in the same way as if the witness testified in person here in the courtroom.

14
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14.

Rule 30(b)(6) Deposition Testimony
In this trial, there were certain witnesses identified as "Rule 30(b)(6)" witnesses. These
witnesses were designated to speak on certain topics at depositions on behalf of the entities which
designated them as 30(b)(6) witnesses. Rule 30(b)(6) witnesses are required to testify about
information known or reasonably available to the designating entity. For answers within the
designated topics, the entity is bound by the answers of its Rule 30(b)(6) deponents.
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15.

Demonstrative Exhibits
During the course of the trial, you have seen many exhibits. Many of these exhibits were
admitted as evidence.

You will have these admitted exhibits in the jury room for your

deliberations. The other exhibits (including charts and animations presented by attorneys and
witnesses) were offered to help illustrate the testimony of the various witnesses.

These

illustrations, called "demonstrative exhibits," have not been admitted as evidence, are not evidence,
and should not be considered as evidence. Rather, it is the underlying testimony of the witness
that you heard when you saw the demonstrative exhibits that is the evidence in this case.

16
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16.

Use of Notes
You may use notes taken during trial to assist your memory. However, you should use
caution in consulting your notes. There is always a tendency to attach undue importance to matters
that you have written down. Some testimony that is considered unimportant at the time presented;
and thus not written down, takes on greater importance later on in the trial in light of all the .
evidence presented. Therefore, you are instructed that your notes are only a tool to aid your own
individual memory, and you should not compare notes with other jurors in determining the content
of any testimony or in evaluating the importance of any evidence. Your notes are not evidence,
and are by no means a complete outline of the proceedings or a list of the highlights of the trial.
Above all, your memory should be the greatest asset when it comes time to deliberate and
render a decision in this case.

17
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17.

The Parties' Contentions
Plaintiff ON N etcom, Inc. filed this lawsuit against Plantronics, Inc. for alleged antitrust
violations. GN alleges that Plantronics' Plantronics-Only-Distributor Program, coupled with its
dominant market position, violates federal antitrust law. GN claims that the Plantronics-OnlyDistributor Program unfairly harms competition by prohibiting dealers from buying directly from

. a competitor, such as GN, and by forbidding dealers from promoting or advertising competing
products. GN has several claims against Plantronics, including: (1) monopolization in violation
of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2; (2) attempted monopolization in violation of
Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2; and (3) concerted action in restraint of trade in
violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, and Section 3 of the Clayton Act, 15
U.S.C. § 14.
Plantronics denies the allegations. Plantronics contends that it has not restrained trade or
unlawfully maintained a monopoly. Further, Plantronics contends that its POD program did not
substantially foreclose competition or result in harm to competition, did not cause injury to GN
and did not cause any alleged damages. Plantronics contends that its POD agreements promoted
competition and benefitted end user enterprise buyers.

18
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18.

The Purpose of the Antitrust Laws
The primary purpose of the antitrust laws is to preserve and promote our system of free
and open competition and to secure everyone an equal opportunity to engage in business, trade,
and commerce, by preventing unreasonable restraint or monopolization of any business or_ industry
so that the consuming public may receive better goods and services at lower cost. The Sherman
Act, specifically, rests on the central premise that competition produces the best allocation of our
economic resources, the lowest prices, the highest quality, and the greatest material progress.
A desire to increase market share or even to drive a competitor out of business through
vigorous competition on the merits is not unlawful. The antitrust laws do not prohibit, without
more, colorful, vigorous or aggressive language; the law does not require polite or "commercially
correct" speech within corporate memoranda and business plans.

19
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19.

Common Elements - Overview
I will now turn to the portion of my instructions that will guide you in assessing GN' s
claims.and applying the law to the facts you find. Because GN'sclaims have certain overlapping
components, I am going to first instruct you on concepts that may appear as "common elements"
so that you have the information you need in one place.

20
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20.

Common Element - Interstate or Foreign Commerce
Antitrust law applies only to conduct or restraints that affect interstate commerce. In this
case, GN contends that Plantronics' conduct affects interstate commerce. Interstate commerce
refers to transactions in goods or services between one or more persons in one state and one or
more persons in another state.
To affect interstate commerce, it is not necessary that Defendant's conduct itself occur in
multiple states or directly affect transactions that span across multiple states. It is enough if
some activities of Plantronics that were affected by the conduct had some effect on interstate
commerce.

21
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21.

Common Element - Relevant Market in General
You will see that each of GN' s claims requires you to analyze whether the accused conduct

had anticompetitive effects. These effects must occur with respect to a relevant market; GN must
prove the relevant market(s) by a preponderance of the evidence
There are two aspects you must consider in determining whether GN has met its burden to
prove the relevant market(s). The first is the relevant product market. The second is the relevant

geographic market.
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22.

Common Element - Relevant Geographic Market
The relevant geographic market is the area in which Plantronics and GN face competition
from other firms that compete in the relevant product market, and where customers can reasonably
tum for purchases. When analyzing the relevant geographic market, you should consider whether
changes in prices or product offerings in one geographic area have substantial effects on prices or
sales in another geographic area, which would tend to show that both areas are in the same relevant
geographic market. The geographic market may be as large as nationwide or as small as a single
town or neighborhood.
GN has the burden of proving the relevant geographic market by a preponderance of the
evidence. In this case, GN claims that the relevant geographic market is the United States and
Canada. In determining whether GN has met is burden and demonstrated that its proposed
geographic market is proper, you may consider several factors, including, but not limited to:
•
The geographic area in which Plantronics and GN sell and where Plantronics' and
GN' s customers are located;
•
The geographic area to which customers have turned, or have seriously considered
turning to, for supply;
•

The transportation cost differences between the areas;

•

The geographic areas that suppliers view as potential sources of competition; and

•
whether governmental licensing requirements, taxes, or quotas have the effect of
limiting competition in certain areas.
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23.

Common Element - Relevant Product Market
GN must prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, the existence of a relevant product

market. The basic idea of a relevant product market is that the products within it are reasonable
· substitutes for each other from the buyer's point of view~ that is, the products compete with each
other.
In other words, the relevant product market includes the products that a consumer believes

are reasonably interchangeable or reasonable substitutes for each other. This is a practical test with
reference to the actual behavior of buyers and marketing efforts of sellers. Products need not be
identical or precisely interchangeable so long as they are reasonable substitutes. Thus, for example,
if consumers seeking to cover leftover food for storage considered certain types of flexible
wrapping material - such as aluminum foil, cellophane, or even plastic containers - to be
· reasonable alternatives, then all those products would be in the same relevant product market.
To determine whether products are reasonable substitutes for each other, you must consider
whether a small but significant permanent increase in the price of one product would result in a
substantial number of consumers switching from that product to another. In other words, will
customers accept the price increase or will so many switch to alternative products that the price
increase will be withdrawn? Generally speaking, a small but significant permanent increase in
price is approximately a 5% increase in price not due to cost factors, but you may conclude in this
case that some other percentage is more applicable to the product at issue. If you find that
customers would switch and that the price increase would not be profitable, then you must
conclude that the products are in the same product market.
In evaluating whether various products are reasonably interchangeable or are reasonable

substitutes for each other, you may consider: (1) consumers' views on whether the products are
24
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interchangeable; (2) the relationship between the price of one product and the sales of another; (3)
the presence or absence of specialized vendors; (4) the perceptions of either the industry or the
public as to whether the products are in separate markets; (5) the views of GN and Plantronics
regarding which products compete against each other; (6) the existence or absence of different
customer groups or distribution channels; (7) disadvantages to using other products that might
deter customers from substituting to products outside of the market; and (8) differences in prices
for particular products.
In this case, GN contends that the relevant product market is the market for traditional

CC&O headsets. GN contends that there is an alternative market that consists of Direct Value
Added Resellers ("DVARs"); this "submarket" will be discussed in the next section. Plantronics
contends that GN did not correctly define the relevant market. Plantronics contends that the
relevant product market is all contact center and office headsets, including unified communications
headsets.
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24.

Common Element - Relevant Product Market - DVARs

In addition to the alleged product market of traditional CC&O headsets, GN alleges that
there is a smaller price-discrimination market of direct value-added resellers, or DVARs, and
that the accused anticompetitive conduct forecloses GN from that market. Plantronics contends
that GN has not proven by a preponderance of the evidence the existence of GN' s alleged
smaller relevant price-discrimination market ofDVARs. Plantronics contends that the
distributors and resellers included in GN's alleged DVAR market compete with all distributors
and resellers of contact center and office headsets.
The standards set out in the immediately preceding section on relevant product markets
apply in determining whether GN' s DVAR submarket is valid.
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25.

Common Concept -- Market Power
In determining if Plantronics' alleged restraints substantially harmed competition, you
should consider whether Plantronics had market power.
Market power is defined as an ability to profitably raise prices, for a sustained period of
time, above those that would be charged in a competitive market. A firm that possesses market
power generally can charge higher prices for the same goods or services than a firm in· the same

market that does not possess market power. The ability to charge higher prices for better
products or services, however, is not market power.
In determining whether Plantronics has market power, you may consider Plantronics'

share or portion of the relevant market; that is, its percentage of the products or services sold in
the relevant market by all competitors. The mere possession of market power is not
unreasonable or illegal. If you find that Plantronics possesses market power, you must still
consider other elements of GN's claims that I will discuss further below.
Factors you may consider in determining~whether defendant has market power include
whether there are any durable barriers to entry by new firms in the market, and evidence
concerning the intensity of competition within that market. In addition, if you decide that the
buyers are sophisticated businesses themselves which have countervailing power in negotiating
contracts, this may offset any market power defendant might otherwise have. If a plaintiff
cannot show that a defendant had the power to

fore~

buyers to enter into exclusive contracts

they did not want, this would be an indication that the defendant lacks market power. You
should consider whether the process in which th e defendant secured exclusive contracts
itself involved competition. If you determine that the buyers formally or informally put their
exclusive contracts out for bid, and other competitors had an equal opportunity to compete for
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the exclusive contracts against defendant, this is also evidence that defendant does not have
market power.
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26.

Common Concept -- Foreclosure
Foreclosure means that rivals are prevented from competing for an account. Total
foreclosure is not required for the restraints at issue to be unlawful, nor is complete exclusivity

. required with each customer. In determining whether the accused conduct foreclosed
competition on the merits, it is also relevant to consider the percentage of the market foreclosed.
Where the exclusive dealing arrangements foreclosed more than 50 percent of the market, this is
an indicator that the harm from the foreclosure of competition could be substantial. Where the
exclusive dealing arrangements foreclose less than 20 percent of the market, this tends to
indicate that the harm from the foreclosure of competition is not substantial because alternatives
are available.

Foreclosure is considered substantial only when it weakens competitors to such an extent
that the competitors cannot constrain the power of the defendant, here Plantronics, to raise
prices, lessen buying options, restrict output, or lessen quality. If there are sufficient alternative
ways for competing suppliers to effectively reach end users with their products, then a restraint
does not foreclose competitors' access to the market.
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27.

Common Concept - Rule of Reason
In this case, GN claims that two terms in Plantronics' POD agreements are de facto
exclusive dealing agreements that are an urireasonable restraint trade that resulted in an adverse
effect on competition under Section 1 of the Sherman Act and Section 3 of the Clayton Act. It is
your job to determine whether the alleged restraints challenged here are unreasonable under what
is known as the "rule of reason."
A restraint of trade is illegal only if it is found to be unreasonable. You must determine,
therefore, whether the alleged restraints challenged here - the two terms in Plantronics'
Plantronics Only Distributor agreements with distributors and resellers - were unreasonable

· restraints of trade. In making this determination, you must first determine whether GN has.
proven that the challenged restraints resulted in a substantial harm to competition in the relevant
markets. If you find that GN has proven that the challenged restraints resulted in a substantial ·
harm to competition in the relevant market, then you must consider whether the restraint
produced countervailing competitive benefits. If you find that it did, then you must balance the
competitive harm against the competitive benefit. The challenged restraint is illegal only if you
find that the competitive harm substantially outweighs the competitive benefit.
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28.

Common Concept - Rule of Reason - Proof of Competitive Harm
As I mentioned, in order to prove that a challenged restraint is unreasonable, GN first must
demonstrate that the restraint has resulted in a substantial harm to competition. Although it may
be relevant to the inquiry, harm that occurs merely to the individual business of GN is not
sufficient, by itself, to demonstrate harm to competition generally. That is, harm to a single
competitor does not necessarily mean that there has been harm to competition.
A harmful effect on competition, or competitive harm, refers to a reduction in competition
that results in the loss of some of the benefits of competition, such as lower prices, more product
options, increased output, and higher product quality. If the challenged conduct did not or has not
resulted in higher prices, less product choices, decreased output, lower quality, or the loss of some
other competitive benefit, then there has been no competitive harm and you should find that the
challenged conduct was not unreasonable.
In determining whether the challenged restraint produced competitive harm, you may look
at the following factors:
•

the effect of the restraint on prices, output, product quality and service;

•

the purpose and nature of the restraint;

•

the nature and structure of the relevant market, both before and after the restraint was
imposed;

•

the number of competitors in the relevant market and the level of competition among
them,

•

whether new competitors entered the market, both before and after the restraint was
imposed; and

•

whether Plantronics possesses market power.
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To determine whether the accused conduct had a substantial harmful effect on competition,
you should consider, with respect to the relevant markets: the nature and history of the use of
·' exclusive dealing contracts in the relevant market; whether distributors and resellers had
independent reasons for entering into exclusive dealing contracts or were coerced into entering
into them; whether other competing suppliers also offered exclusive contracts; the extent of
competition among competing suppliers for exclusive contracts with buyers; Plantronics' position
in the relevant market; the competitive alternatives to Plantronics' products or services; the reasons
·Plantronics and the distributors and resellers entered into the Plantronics Only Distributor
agreements at issue; the effect of the use of exclusive dealing contracts on the ability of new firms
to enter the relevant market and on price and other competition in the relevant market; as well as
·the Plantronics' market power.
In determining the extent to which the challenged restraint(s) foreclosed competition on

the merits, it is relevant to consider the percentage of the market foreclosed and the length of the
foreclosure. Where the exclusive dealing arrangements foreclose more than 50% of the market,
this is an indicator that the harm from the foreclosure of competition is substantial. Where the
exclusive dealing arrangements foreclose less than 20% of the market, this is an indicator that the
harm from the foreclosure of competition is not substantial because there are alternatives available.
However, these are simply factors for you to consider, they are not dispositive. In the end,
the key question is whether it was practical for the distributors and resellers to terminate the
exclusive dealing arrangement with Plantronics, and if it was not, whether the coercion to
exclusively deal with Plantronics foreclosed a substantial share of the relevant market such that
competition was .harmed. In considering all of these facts, you should determine whether the
exclusive dealing contract adversely affected the price paid by distributor or reseller or end-user,
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the quality of the product offered in the relevant market, or output. Where the restrain adversely
affects price, quality, and output, it is likely a substantial harm to competition.
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29.

Common Concept - Rule of Reason - Evidence of Competitive Benefits

If you find that GN has proved that any of the challenged restraints resulted in substantial

harm to competition in a relevant market, then you next must determine whether the restraint also
benefits competition in other ways. If you find that, Plantronics has proved that the challenged
restraint does result in competitive benefits, then you also must consider whether the restraint was
reasonably necessary to achieve the benefits. If GN proves that the same benefits could have been
readily achieved by other, reasonably available alternative means that create substantially less
harm to competition, then they cannot be used to justify the restraint.
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30.

Common Concept - Rule of Reason - Balancing the Competitive Effects

If you find that the challenged restraint was reasonably necessary to achieve competitive

benefits, then you must balance those competitive benefits against the competitive harm resulting
from the same restraint.
If the competitive harm substantially outweighs the competitive benefits, then the

challenged restraint is unreasonable. If the competitive harm does not substantially outweigh the
competitive benefits, then the challenged restraint is not unreasonable. In conducting this analysis,
you must consider the benefits and harm to competition and consumers, not just to a single
competitor or group of competitors. GN bears the burden of proving that the anticompetitive effect
of the conduct substantially outweighs its benefits.
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31.

Claims - Overview
. Now that we have covered some of the common concepts that apply to GN's claims, I am
going to tum to instructing you on the specific elements of each of GN' s claims. For elements
that are not covered by the common elements instructions above, I will provide you with the
information you need in the following instructions.
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32.

Sherman Act Section 1 - Unreasonable Restraint of Trade - Elements
GN's first claim is that Plantronics' conduct unreasonably restrained trade in violation of
Section 1 of the Sherman Act.
Section 1 of the Sherman Act prohibits contracts, combinations and conspiracies that
unreasonably restrain trade. To establish a violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, GN must
prove the following, by a preponderance of the evidence:

First, the existence of a contract or combination between or among at least two separate
entities;

Second, that the contract or combination unreasonably restrained trade;
Third, that the restraint affected interstate or foreign commerce; and,
Fourth, that the restraint caused GN to suffer an injury to its business and property.
If you find that the evidence is not sufficient to prove any one or more of these elements,

then you must find for Plantronics and against GN on this claim. If you find that GN has proven
each of these elements by a preponderance of the evidence, then you must find for GN and
against Plantronics on this claim.
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33.

Sherman Act Section 2 -- Monopolization - Elements

GN' s second claim is that Plantronics unlawfully monopolized the North American market
for traditional CC&O headsets in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act. Plantronics denies
these allegations.
To prevail on its monopolization claims, GN has the burden of proving each of the
following elements by a preponderance of the evidence:
First, that the alleged market is a valid antitrust market;
Second, that Plantronics possessed monopoly power in that market;
Third, that Plantronics willfully maintained monopoly power in that market by

engaging in anticompetitive conduct;
Fourth, that Plantronics' conduct occurred in or affected interstate and foreign

commerce; and
Fifth, that GN was injured in its business or property because of the ·Plantronics'

anticompetitive conduct.
If you find that the evidence is not sufficient to prove any one or more of these elements,

. then you must find for Plantronics and against GN on this claim. If you find that GN has proven
each of these elements by a preponderance of the evidence, then you must find for GN and
against Plantronics on this claim.
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34. ·
·~

.

•..

Sherman Act Section 2 -- Monopolization - Existence of Monopoly Power
To prevail on its monopolization claims, GN must prove by a preponderance of the

evidence that Plantronics had monopoly power in the relevant market. Monopoly power is the
power to control prices or exclude competition in a relevant antitrust market. More precisely,
Plantronics is a monopolist if it can profitably raise prices substantially above the competitive
level for a significant period of time. However, possession of monopoly power, in and of itself,
is not unlawful.
The evidence presented by the parties includes evidence of Plantronics' market share,
market share trends, entry and exit by other companies, the number and size of other alleged
competitors.
Market Share. The first factor you should consider is Plantronics' share of the relevant
market(s). Based on the evidence you have heard about Plantronics' market share, you should
determine its market share as a percentage of total sales in the relevant market(s). Plantronics
must have a significant share of the market in order to possess monopoly power. Market share
alone is not sufficient to establish monopoly power.
Market Share Trends. The trend in Plantronics' market share in the valid relevant
market also is something you may consider. A market share that increases over time may
strengthen an inference that a company has monopoly power, particularly where that company
has a high market share. A decreasing market share may indicate the absence of monopoly
power.
Barriers to Entry. You may also consider whether there are durable barriers to entry
into the relevant market. Durable barriers to entry make it difficult for new competitors to enter
the valid relevant market in a meaningful and timely way. Barriers to entry might include
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intellectual property rights (such as patents or trade secrets), the large financial investment
required to build a plant, specialized marketing practices, and the reputation of the companies
already participating in the market (or the brand name recognition of their products).
Evidence of high barriers to entry along with high market share may support an inference
that Plantronics had monopoly power. By contrast, evidence oflow or no entry barriers may be
evidence that Plantronics did not have monopoly power, regardless of its market share, because
new competitors could enter easily if Plantronics attempted to raise prices for a substantial period
of time.

Entry and Exit by Other Companies. The history of entry and exit in the valid relevant
market may be helpful to consider. Entry of new competitors or expansion of existing
competitors may be evidence that Plantronics lacked monopoly power. On the other hand,
departures from the market, or the failure of firms to enter the market, may support an inference
that Plantronics has monopoly power.

Number and Size of Competitors. You may consider whether Plantronics' competitors
were capable of effectively competing. In other words, you should evaluate whether the
financial strength, market shares, and number of competitors in the valid relevant market acted as
a check on Plantronics' ability to price its products. If Plantronics' competitors were vigorous or
had large or increasing market shares, this may be evidence that Plantronics lacked monopoly
power. On the other hand, if you determine that Plantronics' competitors were weak or had
small or declining market shares, this may support an inference that Plantronics had monopoly
power.
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35.

Sherman Act Section 2 - Monopolization - Willful Maintenance of Monopoly Power
The next.element GN must prove is that Plantronics willfully maintained monopoly
power through anticompetitive acts or practices. Anticompetitive acts are acts, other than
competitfon on the merits, that have the effect of preventing or excluding competition or
frustrating the efforts of other companies to compete for customers within the relevant market.
Harm to competition is to be distinguished from harm to a single competitor or group of
competitors, which does not necessarily constitute harm to competition. Some examples of harm
to competition include increased prices, decreased production levels, and reduced quality.
Mere possession of monopoly power, if lawfully acquired,. does not violate the antitrust
laws. The maintenance of monopoly power by supplying better products or services, possessing
superior business skills, or because of luck, is not unlawful.
A monopolist may compete aggressively without violating the antitrust laws, and a
monopolist may charge monopoly prices without violating the antitrust laws. A monopolist's
conduct only becomes unlawful where it involves anticompetitive acts.
The difference between anticompetitive conduct and conduct that has a legitimate
business purpose can be difficult to determine. This is because all companies have a desire to
increase their profits and increase their market share. These goals are an essential part of a
competitive marketplace, and the antitrust laws do not make these goals--or the achievement of
these goals--unlawful, as long as a company does not use anticompetitive means to achieve these
goals.
In determining whether Plantronics' conduct was anticompetitive or whether it was
legitimate business conduct, you should determine whether the conduct is consistent with
competition on the merits, whether the conduct provides benefits to consumers, and whether the
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conduct would make business sense apart from any effect it has on excluding competition or
harming competitors.
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36.

Sherman Act Section 2 - Attempted Monopolization Claim - Elements

GN's third claim is that it was injured by Plantronics' alleged unlawful attempt to
monopolize the market for traditional CC&O headsets. Plantronics denies these allegations .. To
prevail on its claim of attempted monopolization, GN has the burden of proving each of the
following elements by a preponderance of the evidence:
First, that Plantronics engaged in anticompetitive conduct;
Second, that Plantronics had a specific intent to achieve monopoly power in a relevant

market;
Third, that there was a dangerous probability that Plantronics would achieve its goal

of monopoly power in the relevant market; and
Fourth, that Plantronics' conduct occurred in or affected interstate and foreign

commerce; and
Fifth, that GN was injured in its business or property by Plantronics' anticompetitive

conduct.
If you find that the evidence is not sufficient to prove any one or more of these elements,

then you must find for Plantronics and against GN on this claim. If you find that GN has proven
each of these elements by a preponderance of the evidence, then you must find for GN and
against Plantronics on this claim.
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37.

Sherman Act Section 2 -- Attempted Monopolization -- Anticompetitive Conduct
It is not sufficient for GN to prove that Plantronics intended to monopolize the relevant

market. GN must also show that .Plantronics engaged in anticompetitive conduct, coupled with·
an intent to monopolize and a dangerous probability that defendant would succeed. Generally, a
firm engages in anticompetitive conduct when it attempts to exclude rivals without an efficiencyenhancing justification for its conduct.
As noted above, Plantronics contends that its challenged-agreements with distributors and
resellers have benefits for the market that serve as procompetitive justifications for the
agreements.
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38.

Sherman Act Section 2 -- Attempted Monopolization - Specific Intent
I have already instructed you as to the· relevant market and anticompetitive conduct, and
you should follow those instructions in analyzing GN' s attempted monopolization claim. I will
now discuss specific intent. In order to prevail on its claim for attempted monopolization, GN must
prove that Plantronics had a specific intent to monopolize a relevant market.
There are several ways in which GN may prove that Plantronics had the specific intent to
monopolize. There may be evidence of direct statements of Plantronics' intent to obtain a
monopoly in the relevant market. Such proof of specific intent may be established by documents
prepared by responsible officers or employees of Plantronics at or about the time of the conduct in
question or by testimony concerning statements made by responsible officers or employees of
Plantronics. You must be careful, however, to distinguish between Plantronics' intent to compete
aggressively (which is lawful), which may be accompanied by aggressive language, and a true
intent to acquire monopoly power by using anticompetitive means.
Even if you decided that the evidence does not prove directly that Plantronics actually
intended to obtain a monopoly, specific intent may be inferred from what Plantronics did. For
example, if the evidence shows that Plantronics lacked a legitimate business justification and the
natural and probable consequence of Plantronics' conduct in the relevant market was to give
Plantronics control over prices and to exclude or destroy competition, and that this was plainly
foreseeable by Plantronics, then you may (but are not required to) infer that Plantronics specifically
intended to acquire monopoly power.
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39.

Sherman Act Section 2 -- Attempted Monopolization - Dangerous Probability of
Success
If you find that Plantronics had the specific intent to achieve a monopoly and engaged in

significant anticompetitive conduct, you also must determine if the evidence shows the next
element of attempt to monopolize: namely, that there was a dangerous probability that Plantronics
would succeed in achieving monopoly power if it continued to engage in the same or similar
conduct.
In determining whether there was a dangerous probability that Plantronics would acquire
the ability to control price in the markets, you should consider such factors as:
1.

Plantronics' market share;

2.

The trend in Plantronics' market share;

3.

Whether the barriers to entry into the market made it difficult for competitors to enter the
market;

4.

The strength of the competition;

5.

The probable development of the industry;

6.

The nature and likely effect of any anticompetitive conduct on Plantronics' share of the
market;
Again, the purpose of looking at these and other factors is to determine whether there was

a dangerous probability that Plantronics would ultimately acquire monopoly power.
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40.

Clayton Act Section 3 Claim - Elements
GN' s fourth claim is under Section 3 of the Clayton Act. GN alleges that Plantronics used
exclusive dealing arrangements with distributors and resellers to foreclose competition in a
substantial portion of the relevant markets, and that GN was injured as a result of these exclusive
dealing arrangements. To succeed on this claim, GN must prove the following four elements by a
preponderance of the evidence:
First, that Plantronics sold traditional CC&O headsets, or entered into contracts for the
sale of traditional CC&O headsets, for use, consumption, or resale in the United States;
Second, that in its sales or contracts for such headsets, Plantronics established an
agreement or understanding that the purchaser would not directly purchase, advertise,
or promote the goods of a competitor or competitors of Plantronics;
Third, the effect of such sales, or contracts for sale or such condition, agreement or
understanding may be to substantially lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly
in a relevant market;
Fourth, GN was injured in its business or property as a proximate result of Plantronics'
conduct.
GN claims that, among other things, Plantronics offered benefits to the distributors and
resellers in return for agreements not to deal with GN and to block GN' s access to headset endusers.
You need not find that the agreement contained a specific, express agreement to use or
purchase only Plantronics' products to conclude that it was an exclusive dealing arrangement
because a condition, agreement or understanding may be either expressly stated or inferred from
the circumstances.
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Plantronics' agreements may be found to be exclusive dealing arrangements if they had the
practical effect of substantially preventing the purchase of GN' s goods. An agreement may be an
exclusive dealing arrangement even if it does not require a 100% commitment to deal only in the
seller's products. You also may find that the dealing arrangement substantially lessened
competition if you find that competition has been foreclosed in a substantial share of the line of
.commerce affected.
If you find that the evidence is not sufficient to prove any one or more of these elements,

then you must find for Plantronics and against GN on this claim. If you find that GN has proven
each of these elements by a preponderance of the evidence, then you must find for GN and against
Plantronics on this claim.

48

Case 1:12-cv-01318-LPS Document 532 Filed 10/18/17 Page 50 of 62 PageID #: 13506

41.

Clayton Act Section 3 Claim - Use, Consumption or Resale in the United States
As to the first element of GN' s Clayton Act Section 3 claim, you must determine whether

. Plantronics sold traditional CC&O headsets, and entered into contracts for the sale of traditional
CC&O headsets, for use, consumption or resale in the United States.
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42.

Injury and Causation
If you find that the accused conduct violated either the Sherman Act or the Clayton Act,

then you must decide if GN has been injured by Plantronics' s conduct and, if so, if it is entitled to
recover damages from Plantronics for that injury.
GN is entitled to recover damages for an injury to its business or property if it can establish
three elements of injury and causation:
First, that GN was in fact injured as a result of the accused violation of the antitrust

laws;

Second, that the alleged illegal conduct was a material cause of GN' s injury; and
Third, that GN' s injuries are injuries of the type that the antitrust laws were intended

to prevent.
The first element is sometimes referred to as "injury in fact" or "fact of damage." For GN
to establish that it is entitled to recover damages, it must prove that it was injured as a result of the
alleged violation of the antitrust laws. Proving causation does not require GN to prove the precise
dollar value of its injury. It requires only that GN prove that it was in fact injured by the alleged
antitrust violation.
If you find that GN has established that it was in fact injured, you may then consider the

amount of GN's damages. It is important to understand, however, that injury and amount of damage
are different concepts and that you cannot consider the amount of damage unless and until you
have concluded that GN has established that it was in fact injured.
GN must also offer evidence that establishes as a matter of fact and with a fair degree of
certainty the alleged illegal conduct was a material cause of GN' s injury. This means that GN must
prove that some damage occurred to it as a result of the alleged antitrust violation and not some
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other cause. GN is not required to prove that the accused ·_conduct was the sole cause of its injury;
. nor need GN eliminate all other possible causes of injury. It is enough if GN has proven that the
alleged antitrust violation materially contributed, or substantially contributed, tO GN' s injury, even
if other factors also contributed.
Finally, GN must establish that its injury is the type of injury that the antitrust laws were
intended to prevent. This is sometimes referred to as "antitrust injury." If GN's injuries were
caused by a reduction in competition, acts that would lead to a reduction in competition, or acts
that would otherwise harm consumers, then GN' s injuries are antitrust injuries. On the other hand,
if GN' s injuries were caused by heightened competition, the competitive process itself, or by acts
that would benefit consumers, then GN' s injuries are not antitrust injuries and GN may not recover
damages for those injuries under the antitrust laws.
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43.

Definition of Business.or Property
GN must establish that the injury it claims to have suffered was an injury to its "business
or property." The term "business" includes any commercial interest or venture, and you are
instructed that GN has been injured in its business if you find that it has suffered injury to any of
its commercial interests or enterprises as a result of Plantronics' alleged antitrust violation. The
term "property" includes anything of value GN owns, possesses, or in which GN has a
protectable legal interest. You are instructed to that GN has been injured in its property if you
find that anything of value that it owns, possesses, or has a legal interest in has been damaged as
a result of Plantronics' alleged antitrust violation. You are further instructed to find that GN has
been injured in its "business or property" if you find it has lost money as a result of Plantronics'
alleged antitrust violation.
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44.

Antitrust Damages - Purpose
If you find that Plantronics violated the antitrust laws and that this violation caused injury

to GN, then you must determine the amount of damages, if any~ that GN is entitled to recover.
The fact that I am giving you instructions concerning the issue of GN' s damages does not
mean that I believe GN should, or should not, prevail in this case. If you reach a verdict for
Plantronics on the issue of liability, you should not consider the issue of damages, and you may
disregard the damages instruction that I am about to give.
The law provides that GN should be fairly compensated for all damages to its business or
property that were a direct result or likely consequence of the conduct that you have found to

qe

unlawful.
Antitrust damages are only compensatory, meaning their purpose is to put an injured
plaintiff as near as possible to the position in which it would have been if the alleged antitrust
violation had not occurred. The law does not permit you to award damages to punish a wrongdoer
- what we sometimes refer to as punitive damages - or to deter a defendant from particular conduct
in the future, or to provide a windfall to someone who has been the victim of an antitrust violation.
You are also not permitted to award GN an amount for attorneys' fees or the cost of maintaining
this lawsuit. Antitrust damages are compensatory only. In other words, they are designed to
compensate GN for the particular injuries it suffered as a result of the alleged violation of the law.
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45.

Antitrust Damages - Calculation
You are permitted to make just and reasonable estimates in calculating damages. You are
not required to calculate damages with mathematical certainty or precision. However, the
amount of damages must have a reasonable basis in the evidence and must be based on
reasonable, non-speculative assumptions and estimates. Damages may not be based on
guesswork or speculation. GN must prove the reasonableness of each of the assumptions upon
which the damages calculation is based. If you find that a damages calculation cannot be based
on evidence and reasonable inference, and instead can only be reached through guesswork or
speculation, then you may not award damages.
You are permitted to make reasonable estimates in calculating damages. So long as there
is a reasonable basis in the evidence for a damages award, GN should not be denied a right to be
fairly compensated just because damages cannot be determined with absolute mathematical
certainty.
If you find that GN has provided a reasonable basis for determining damages, then you

may award damages based on a just and reasonable estimate supported by the evidence. If you
find that GN has failed to carry its burden of providing a reasonable basis for determining
damages, then you may not award damages.

54

Case 1:12-cv-01318-LPS Document 532 Filed 10/18/17 Page 56 of 62 PageID #: 13512

46.

Lost Profits
GN claims that it was harmed because it lost profits as a result of Plantronics' alleged
antitrust violation. If you find that Plantronics committed an antitrust violation and that this
violation caused injury to GN, you now must calculate the profits, if any, that GN lost as a result
of Plantronics' antitrust violation. To calculate lost profits, you must calculate net profit: the
amount by which GN' s gross revenues would have exceeded all of the costs and expenses that
would have been necessary to produce those revenues.
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47.

Causation and Disaggregation

If you find that Plantronics violated the antitrust laws and that GN was injured by that
violation, GN is entitled to recover for such injury that was the direct result or likely
consequence of the illegal acts of Plantronics. GN bears the burden of showing that its injuries
were caused by Plantronics' antitrust violation, as opposed to any other factors. If you find that
GN' s alleged injuries were caused in part by Plantronics' alleged antitrust violation and in part
by other factors, then you may award damages only for that portion of GN' s alleged injuries that
was caused by Plantronics' alleged antitrust violation.
GN claims that it suffered injury because it lost sales and profits as a result of
Plantronics' POD agreements with distributors and resellers. Plantronics contends that any
. profits or sales lost by GN occurred as a result of other factors that have nothing to do with the
two POD terms. GN only may recover for damages caused by the alleged antitrust violation.
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48.

Damages Period
In this case, the antitrust laws do not allow for recovery of damages for any injuries

sustained by GN prior to October 12, 2008. If you find that GN suffered injuries spanning both
before and after October 12, 2008, then you must apportion the damages between the two
periods and you may award damages only for the portion of the injuries suffered after October
12, 2008.
When apportioning the damages between the two.periods, you should be guided by the
same principles I explained to you earlier. That is, you are permitted to make just and reasonable
estimates in apportioning GN' s alleged damages. You are not required to apportion damages
with absolute mathematical certainty or precision. However, the apportionment of damages must
have a reasonable basis in the evidence.
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49.

Mitigation of Damages
GN may not recover damages for any portion of its injuries that it could have avoided
through the exercise of reasonable care and prudence. GN is not entitled to increase any
damages through inaction. The law requires an injured party to take all reasonable steps it can to
avoid further injury and thereby reduce its loss. If GN failed to take reasonable steps available to
it, and the failure to take those steps resulted in greater harm to GN than it would have suffered
had it taken those steps, then GN may not recover any damages for that part of the injury it could
have avoided.
Plantronics has the burden of proof on this issue. Plantronics must prove by a
preponderance of the evidence that:
First, GN acted unreasonably in failing to take'specific steps to minimize or limit its

losses;

Second, that GN' s failure to take those specific steps resulted in its losses being greater
than they would have been had it taken such steps; and
Third, the amount by which GN's loss, if any, would have been reduced had GN taken

those steps.
In determining whether GN failed to take reasonable measures to limit its damages, the

evidence must show that GN failed to take commercially reasonable measures that were open to
it. Commercially reasonable measures mean those measures that a prudent businessperson in
GN' s position would likely have adopted, given the circumstances as they appeared at that time.
GN should be given wide latitude in deciding how to handle the situation, so long as what GN
did was not unreasonable in light of the existing circumstances.
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50.

Deliberation and Verdict
That concludes the part of my instructions explaining the rules for considering some of the
testimony and evidence. Now let me finish up by explaining some things about your deliberations
in the jury room, and your possible verdicts.
Once you start deliberating, do not talk to the jury officer, or to me, or to anyone else except
each other about the case. If you have any questions or messages, you must write them down on a
piece of paper, sign them, and then give them to the jury officer. The officer will give them to me,
and I will respond as soon as I can. I may have to talk to the lawyers about what you have asked,
so it may take some time to get back to you. Any questions or messages normally should be sent
through your foreperson, who by custom of this Court is Juror No. 1.
One more thing about messages. Do not ever write down or tell anyone else how you stand
on your votes. For example, do not write down or tell anyone else that you are split 5-2, or 3-4, or
whatever your vote happens to be. That should stay secret until you are finished.
Your verdict must represent the considered judgment of each juror. In order for you as a

jury to return· a verdict, it is necessary that each juror agree to the verdict. Your verdict must be
unanimous.
It is your duty, as jurors, to consult with one another and to deliberate with a view toward

reaching an agreement, if you can do so without violence to your individual judgment. Each of
you must decide the case for yourself, but do so only after an impartial consideration of the
evidence with your fellow jurors. In the course of your deliberations, do not hesitate to reexamine
your own views and change your opinion, if you become convinced it is erroneous. But do not
surrender your honest conviction as to the weight or effect of evidence solely because of the
opinion of your fellow jurors, or for the purpose of returning a verdict.
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Remember at all times that you are not partisans. You are the judges - judges of the facts.
Your sole interest is to seek the truth from the evidence in this case.
A form of verdict has been prepared for you, and you have been provided a copy. I will
read it to you shortly. You will take this form to the jury room and when you have reached
unanimous agreement as to your verdict, you will have your foreperson fill in, date, and sign the
form. You will then return to the courtroom and your foreperson will give your verdict to my
deputy.
It is proper to add the caution that nothing said in these instructions and nothing in the form

of verdict is meant to suggest or convey in any way or manner any intimation as to what verdict I
think you should find. What the verdict shall be is the sole and exclusive duty and responsibility
of the jury.
Now that all the evidence is in and the arguments are completed, you are free to talk about
the case in the jury room. In fact, it is your duty to talk with each other about the evidence, and to
make every reasonable effort you can to reach unanimous agreement. Talk with each other, listen
carefully and respectfully to each other's views, and keep an open mind as you listen to what your
fellow jurors have to say. Try your best to work out your differences. Do not hesitate to change
your mind if you are convinced that other jurors are right and that your original position was wrong.
But do not ever change your mind just because other jurors see things differently, or just to get the
case over with. In the end, your vote must be exactly that - your own vote. It is important for you
to reach unanimous agreement, but only if you can do so honestly and in good conscience.
No one will be allowed to hear your discussions in the jury room, and no record will be
made of what you say. So you should all feel free to speak your minds.
Listen carefully to what the other jurors have to say, and then decide for yourself.
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During your deliberations, you must not communicate with or provide any information to
anyone by any means about this case. You may not use any electronic device or media, such as the
telephone, a cell phone, smartphone, tablet, or computer, the Internet, any Internet service or tool,
any text or instant messaging service, any Internet chat room, blog, or website such as Facebook,
Linkedln, Y ouTube, Instagram, or Twitter, to communicate to anyone any information about this
case or to conduct any research about this case until I accept your verdict.
In other words, you cannot talk to anyone on the phone, correspond with anyone, or
electronically communicate with anyone about this case. You can only discuss the case in the jury
room with your fellow jurors during deliberations.
Let me finish up by repeating something that I said to you earlier. Nothing that I have said
or don_e during this trial was meant to influence your decision in any way.
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DEFAULT STANDARD FOR DISCOVERY,
INCLUDING DISCOVERY OF ELECTRONICALLY STORED INFORMATION
{"ESI")

1. General Provisions

a. Cooperation. Parties are expected to reach agreements cooperatively on
how to conduct discovery under Fed . R. Civ. P. 26-36. In the event that the parties are
unable to agree on the parameters and/or timing of discovery, the following default
standards shall apply until further order of the Court or the parties reach agreement.
b. Proportionality. Parties are expected to use reasonable , good faith and
proportional efforts to preserve, identify and produce relevant information. 1 This
includes identifying appropriate limits to discovery, including limits on custodians,
identification of relevant subject matter, time periods for discovery and other
parameters to limit and guide preservation and discovery issues.
c. Preservation of Discoverable Information. A party has a common law
obligation to take reasonable and proportional steps to preserve discoverable
information in the party's possession , custody or control.
(i) Absent a showing of good cause by the requesting party, the parties
shall not be required to modify, on a going-forward basis, the procedures used by them
in the ordinary course of business to back up and archive data; provided , however, that
the parties shall preserve the non-duplicative discoverable information currently in their
possession , custody or control.

1

lnformation can originate in any form , including ESI and paper, and is not limited
to information created or stored electronically.

(ii) Absent a showing of good cause by the requesting party, the
categories of ESI identified in Schedule A attached hereto need not be preserved .
d. Privilege.

(i) The parties are to confer on the nature and scope of privilege logs for
the case, including whether categories of information may be excluded from any logging
requirements and whether alternatives to document-by-document logs can be
exchanged .
(ii) With respect to information generated after the filing of the complaint,
parties are not required to include any such information in privilege logs.
(iii) Activities undertaken in compliance with the duty to preserve
information are protected from disclosure and discovery under Fed . R. Civ. P.
26(b)(3)(A) and (B) .
(iv) Parties shall confer on an appropriate non-waiver order under Fed . R.
Evid . 502 . Until a non-waiver order is entered , information that contains privileged
matter or attorney work product shall be immediately returned if such information
appears on its face to have been inadvertently produced or if notice is provided within
30 days of inadvertent production.
2. Initial Discovery Conference.
a. Timing. Consistent with the guidelines that follow, the parties shall discuss
the parameters of their anticipated discovery at the initial discovery conference (the
"Initial Discovery Conference") pursuant to Fed . R. Civ. P. 26(f) , which shall take place
before the Fed. R. Civ. P. 16 scheduling conference ("Rule 16 Conference").

2

b. Content. The parties shall discuss the following :
(i) The issues, claims and defenses asserted in the case that define the
scope of discovery.
(ii) The likely sources of potentially relevant information (i.e ., the
"discoverable information"), including witnesses , custodians and other data sources
(e.g., paper files , email , databases, servers, etc.).
(iii) Technical information , including the exchange of production formats .
(iv) The existence and handling of privileged information .
(v) The categories of ESI that should be preserved.
3. Initial Disclosures. Within 30 days after the Rule 16 Conference, each party shall
disclose:
a. Custodians. The 10 custodians most likely to have discoverable information
in their possession , custody or control , from the most likely to the least likely. The
custodians shall be identified by name, title, role in the instant dispute, and the subject
matter of the information.
b. Non-custodial data sources. 2 A list of the non-custodial data sources that
are most likely to contain non-duplicative discoverable information for preservation and
production consideration , from the most likely to the least likely.
c. Notice. The parties shall identify any issues relating to:
(i) Any ESI (by type, date, custodian, electronic system or other criteria)

2

That is, a system or container that stores ESI , but over which an individual
custodian does not organize, manage or maintain the ESI in the system or container
(e.g ., enterprise system or database) .

3

that a party asserts is not reasonably accessible under Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(2)(C)(i) .
(ii) Third-party discovery under Fed . R. Civ. P. 45 and otherwise ,
including the timing and sequencing of such discovery.
(iii) Production of information subject to privacy protections, including
information that may need to be produced from outside of the United States and subject
to foreign laws.
Lack of proper notice of such issues may result in a party losing the ability to pursue or
to protect such information.
4. Initial Discovery in Patent Litigation.3
a. Within 30 days after the Rule 16 Conference and for each defendant, 4 the
plaintiff shall specifically identify the accused products 5 and the asserted patent(s) they
allegedly infringe , and produce the file history for each asserted patent.
b. Within 30 days after receipt of the above, each defendant shall produce to the
plaintiff the core technical documents related to the accused product(s) , including but
not limited to operation manuals, product literature, schematics, and specifications .
c. Within 30 days after receipt of the above , plaintiff shall produce to each
defendant an initial claim chart relating each accused product to the asserted claims
each product allegedly infringes.

3

As these disclosures are "initial ," each party shall be permitted to supplement.

4

For ease of reference , "defendant" is used to identify the alleged infringer and
"plaintiff' to identify the patentee.
5

For ease of reference , the word "product" encompasses accused methods and
systems as well.

4

d. Within 30 days after receipt of the above, each defendant shall produce to the
plaintiff its initial invalidity contentions for each asserted claim, as well as the related
invalidating references (e.g. , publications, manuals and patents).
e. Absent a showing of good cause, follow-up discovery shall be limited to a
term of 6 years before the filing of the complaint, except that discovery related to
asserted prior art or the conception and reduction to practice of the inventions claimed
in any patent-in-suit shall not be so limited .
5. Specific E-Discovery Issues.

a. On-site inspection of electronic media. Such an inspection shall not be
permitted absent a demonstration by the requesting party of specific need and good
cause.
b. Search methodology. If the producing party elects to use search terms to
locate potentially responsive ESI , it shall disclose the search terms to the requesting
party. Absent a showing of good cause, a requesting party may request no more than
10 additional terms to be used in connection with the electronic search . Focused
terms, rather than over-broad terms (e.g ., product and company names), shall be
employed . The producing party shall search (i) the non-custodial data sources
identified in accordance with paragraph 3(b) ; and (ii) emails and other ESI maintained
by the custodians identified in accordance with paragraph 3(a) .
c. Format. ESI and non-ESI shall be produced to the requesting party as text
searchable image files (e.g., PDF or TIFF) . When a text-searchable image file is
produced , the producing party must preserve the integrity of the underlying ESI , i.e., the
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original formatting , the metadata (as noted below) and , where applicable , the revision
history. The parties shall produce their information in the following format: single page
TIFF images and associated multi-page text files containing extracted text or OCR with
Concordance and Opticon load files containing all requisite information including
relevant metadata.
d. Native files. The only files that should be produced in native format are files
not easily converted to image format, such as Excel and Access files .
e. Metadata fields. The parties are only obligated to provide the following
metadata for all ESI produced , to the extent such metadata exists: Custodian , File
Path , Email Subject, Conversation Index, From , To , CC , BCC , Date Sent, Time Sent,
Date Received , Time Received , Filename, Author, Date Created, Date Modified , MD5
Hash, File Size , File Extension , Control Number Begin , Control Number End,
Attachment Range , Attachment Begin , and Attachment End (or the equivalent thereof) .
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SCHEDULE A

1. Deleted , slack, fragmented , or other data only accessible by forensics .
2. Random access memory (RAM) , temporary files , or other ephemeral data that are
difficult to preserve without disabling the operating system.
3. On-line access data such as temporary internet files , history, cache , cookies , and
the like.
4. Data in metadata fields that are frequently updated automatically, such as lastopened dates.
5. Back-up data that are substantially duplicative of data that are more accessible
elsewhere.
6. Voice messages.
7. Instant messages that are not ordinarily printed or maintained in a server dedicated
to instant messaging .
8. Electronic mail or pin-to-pin messages sent to or from mobile devices (e.g., iPhone
and Blackberry devices), provided that a copy of such mail is routinely saved
elsewhere.
9. Other electronic data stored on a mobile device, such as calendar or contact data or
notes, provided that a copy of such information is routinely saved elsewhere.
10. Logs of calls made from mobile devices.
11 . Server, system or network logs.
12. Electronic data temporarily stored by laboratory equipment or attached electronic
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equipment, provided that such data is not ordinarily preserved as part of a laboratory
report.
13. Data remaining from systems no longer in use that is unintelligible on the systems
in use.
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Agenda
• Legal framework
• Pre-trial procedure

• Example: Roxul USA, Inc. v Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

• The discovery process

• Example: Roxul USA, Inc. v Armstrong World Industries, Inc.

• Witness depositions
• Jury selection and instruction

• Example: GN Netcom, Inc. v. Plantronics, Inc.
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Legal Framework – Three Categories
1.

Restrictive Agreements

2.

Monopolization or abuse by dominant firms

3.

Mergers that lessen or impede competition

• Concerted action
• Sherman Act of 1890, Section 1
• Article 101, TFEU
• Unilateral conduct
• Sherman Act, Section 2
• Article 102, TFEU

• Clayton Act of 1914, Section 7
• EU Merger Regulation, Council Regulation 139/2004.
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Sherman Act, § 1
Sherman Act, Section 1
• “Every contract, combination . . . or
conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce
among the several States, or with foreign
nations, is declared to be illegal;”
• Only “unreasonable” restraints. Standard Oil Co.
of New Jersey v. United States, 221 U.S. 1 (1911);
• Established per se and Rule of Reason offenses.
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Sherman Act, § 1
Per se:
• price fixing; market allocation; group boycott; bid
rigging—always harmful, never justified.

Rule of Reason:
• Vertical price agreements (resale price maint.),
vertical distribution agreements, horizontal nonprice agreements, e.g., joint research, joint
marketing, standard setting organizations, trade
associations, etc.
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Sherman Act, § 1
Infringing agreement
• removes “independent centers of decisionmaking” from the market. Am. Needle v. NFL, 560
U.S. 183 (2010);
• Agreement: “Conscious commitment to a common
scheme to achieve an unlawful objective.”
Monsanto Co. v. Spray-Rite Service Corp, 465 U.S.
752 (1984);
• Competition occurs when firms individually profit
maximize; not jointly profit maximize.
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Sherman Act, § 1
Pleading
• Circumstantial allegations of agreement must be
plausible, Bell Atlantic v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544
(2007) (something beyond ‘conceivable.’)
• Pleading stage standard
• Opens the door to discovery = $$$
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Sherman Act, § 1
Proof
• Evidence must rule out independent conduct:
“conduct as consistent with permissible
competition as with illegal conspiracy does not,
standing alone, support an inference of antitrust
conspiracy.” Matsushita Electric Industrial Co v.
Zenith Radio Corp 475 US 574 (1986).
• Discovery stage standard
• Summary Judgment: Are there material issues of
facts for determination at trial?
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Sherman Act, § 2
Sherman Act, Section 2 (Unilateral conduct)
• Unlawful for any person to “monopolize, or
attempt to monopolize, or combine or conspire
with any other person or persons, to monopolize
any part of the trade or commerce among the
several States, or with foreign nations . . . .;”
• Not a “status” offense;
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Sherman Act, § 2
Elements
1. “[t]he possession of monopoly power in the relevant
market, and
2. the willful acquisition or maintenance of that power as
distinguished from growth or development as a
consequence of a superior product, business acumen, or
historic accident.”
• United States v. Grinnell Corp., 384 U.S. 563, 570-71 (1966);
• Acquire or maintain (but not misuse) monopoly power through
improper means.

12

Clayton Act, § 7
Clayton Act, § 7
• Prohibits mergers and acquisitions where the effect
“may be substantially to lessen competition, or to
tend to create a monopoly.”
• “May be,” asks court to assess the likelihood of
anticompetitive effects;
• “Incipiency” standard: to catch anticompetitive
aggregation of economic power before it occurs.
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Pre-trial procedure—Example:
Roxul USA, Inc. v Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
• Document #1: Complaint:
• Action is commenced with the
filing of the Complaint (Sept.
1, 2017);
• Count I: Sec. 2, Monopoly
maintenance;
• Count II: Sec. 2, Attempted
monopolization;
• Count III: Sec. 1, Unlawful
vertical agreements with
dealers;
• “Pendant” State claim for
tortious interference with
business relationship.

15

Pre-trial procedure—Example:
Roxul USA, Inc. v Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
• Document #9: Motion to
Dismiss
• Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6)
• The motion asks court to:
“dismiss Plaintiff’s
Complaint in its entirety
with prejudice.”
• With prejudice:
• No amendment;
• No re-filing;
• Case over.
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Pre-trial procedure—Example:
Roxul USA, Inc. v Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Motion to Dismiss—Briefing Schedule
• Document #10: Defendant’s Memorandum of Points and Authorities in
Support of Motion to Dismiss
• Due with Motion (Nov. 10, 2017)

• Document # 11: Plaintiff’s Memorandum of Points and Authorities in
Opposition to Motion to Dismiss (entitled “Answering brief”)
• Due 14 days after Motion served (here, Dec. 22, 2017, i.e., extension
negotiated)

• Document # 12: Defendant’s Reply in Support of Motion to Dismiss
• Due 7 days after Opposition served (here, Jan.12, 2018)

17

Pre-trial procedure—Example:
Roxul USA, Inc. v Armstrong World Industries, Inc.
Memorandum Order on Motion to Dismiss
• Documents #14 and #15: Order Granting in part and
Denying in Part Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss
• “We dismiss Roxul's claim for antitrust violations to the extent
Roxul bases its claim on foreign trade in Canada and its claim for
tortious interference with business relationships without
prejudice should Roxul be able to plead facts consistent with this
Memorandum under Fed. R. Civ. P. 11.”
• Entered Feb. 9, 2018 (Sept – Feb, 5 months, relatively fast)
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Discovery
Overcoming MTD is Door to Discovery
• Usually not available until after the Motion to Dismiss is
decided or Answer is filed;
• Court will usually set a Scheduling Conference and issue a
Scheduling Order (see Doc. # 25, Feb. 26, 2018);
• Parties propose a discovery plan for:
•
•
•
•
•

Initial disclosures
Protective order
ESI Protocol
Production of documents and things
Witness depositions
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Discovery
Overcoming
MTD is News:
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Discovery
Protective order (Doc. # 50, June 7, 2018)
• Often several confidentiality designations:
• “Confidential”
• “Outside Counsel Eyes Only”

ESI Protocol (ESI “Default Standard;” D.Del.)
•
•
•
•
•
•

Usually negotiated
Search methodology
Format (PDF, TIFF, searchable)
Native files (Excel, Access)
Metadata – as maintained in the ordinary course
Bates numbering
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Discovery
Scope: Federal Rule Civil Procedure, Rule 26(b)
• Parties may obtain discovery regarding any nonprivileged
matter that is relevant to any party's claim or defense and
proportional to the needs of the case, considering the
importance of the issues at stake in the action, the amount
in controversy, the parties’ relative access to relevant
information, the parties’ resources, the importance of the
discovery in resolving the issues, and whether the burden or
expense of the proposed discovery outweighs its likely
benefit. Information within this scope of discovery need not
be admissible in evidence to be discoverable.
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Discovery
Document Production
• Identify custodians;

• Organization chart/Job descriptions/Initial disclosures
• local hard drives, shared drives and servers, email
accounts, cloud storage, physical documents;

• Collect and Process; drive or server image; OCR and
format (make searchable for reviewers and opponents)
• Search Terms;
• Review (privilege, relevancy) (1st Level, 2nd Level, etc.)
• Produce to opposing party
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Discovery
Motion to Compel Production
• Defendant moved to designate three of Plaintiff’s
corporate executives located in Copenhagen as records
custodians, including the CEO of Rockwool Int’l, and
moved to compel production from them pursuant to
negotiated search protocol (Doc. # 45, April 9, 2018);
• Court granted the motion and ordered production (Doc.
# 47, May 14, 2018);
• Parties got serious about Protective Order! (Doc. #50,
June 7, 2018)
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Discovery
Oral Depositions (video)

• Logically follows document production;
• Ask witnesses to explain documents and data;

• Parties compel attendance of non-parties through
subpoena;
• Multiple purposes:
•
•
•
•

Discovery of admissible evidence;
Perpetuation of testimony;
Authentication of documents;
Assessment of trial witnesses.
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Discovery
Requests for Admissions
• Powerful tool to establish facts;
• Shifts costs to opponent for wrongful failure to admit;
• Crystalizes issues for Motion for Summary Judgment.
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Expert Discovery
Timing and disclosure
• Scheduling Order typically treats expert discovery on a
separate track;
• Expert report; opposing expert report; expert reply;
expert depositions;

• Daubert motions: challenges whether expert’s opinions
are based on scientifically accepted theories and
methods;
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Class Actions
Plaintiff’s Motion for Class Certification
• Motion must be brought after fact discovery, expert
reports and discovery, Daubert motions;
• Motion brought before Motion for Summary Judgment,
with enough time for opposing and reply briefing;
• Not shown on flowchart; additional opportunity to
appeal.

30

Pleading Stage

Discovery Stage
Discovery

File Complaint

Motion
to
Dismiss

Production

Depositions
Leave
to
Amend

Prepare
for trial

Sum.
Jmt.
Granted

Granted

Revise
Complaint

Yes

Denied

Denied

Trial Stage

Win

Jmt

Trial
Admissions

Lose

No

Appeal

31

Trial
Jury trial

• Jury is finder of fact; judge determines law;
• Jury instructions:
• Court instructs lay jury about how to apply the evidence
to the law (see Doc. # 532, Jury Instructions, GT Netcom)
• Jury completes a Verdict Form to report findings (see Doc.
# 531, Jury Verdict Sheet, GT Netcom).

Bench trial

• Judge is both finder of fact and determines the law.
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